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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This annual report on Form 10-K (this “Report”) contains statements that are considered forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of
the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and its rules and regulations (the “Securities Act”), and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, and its rules and regulations (the “Exchange Act”). These forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements about the plans,
objectives, expectations and intentions of Glowpoint, Inc. (“Glowpoint” or “we” or “us” or the “Company”). All statements other than statements of current or
historical fact contained in this Report, including statements regarding Glowpoint’s future financial position, business strategy, budgets, projected costs and plans
and objectives of management for future operations, are forward-looking statements. The words “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,”
“plan,” and similar expressions, as they relate to Glowpoint, are intended to identify forward-looking statements. These statements are based on Glowpoint’s
current plans, and Glowpoint’s actual future activities and results of operations may be materially different from those set forth in the forward-looking statements.
These forward-looking statements are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from the statements made. Any or all of
the forward-looking statements in this Report may turn out to be inaccurate. Glowpoint has based these forward-looking statements largely on its current
expectations and projections about future events and financial trends that it believes may affect its financial condition, results of operations, business strategy and
financial needs. The forward-looking statements can be affected by inaccurate assumptions or by known or unknown risks, uncertainties and assumptions.
There are important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements, including our
plans, objectives, expectations and intentions and other factors that are discussed in “Item 1A. Risk Factors” and/or listed below. Glowpoint undertakes no
obligation to publicly revise these forward-looking statements to reflect events occurring after the date hereof. All subsequent written and oral forward-looking
statements attributable to Glowpoint or persons acting on its behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by the cautionary statements contained in this Report.
Forward-looking statements in this Report include, among other things: our ability to meet commercial commitments; our expectations and estimates relating to
customer attrition, sales cycles, future revenues, expenses, capital expenditures and cash flows; our ability to fund operations; expectations regarding
adjustments to our cost of revenue and other operating expenses; matters related to the proposed Merger with SharedLabs, whether it is consummated and, if
so, any benefits thereof; our ability to raise capital through sales of additional equity or debt securities and/or loans from financial institutions; our ability to
continue as a going concern; our beliefs about employee relations; statements relating to market need, evolution of our solutions and our service platforms; our
beliefs about the service offerings of our competitors and our ability to differentiate Glowpoint’s services; adequacy of our internal controls; statements regarding
our information systems and our ability to protect and prevent security breaches; expectations relating to additional patent protection; and beliefs about the
strength of our intellectual property, including patents. For additional information regarding known material factors that could cause our actual results to differ
materially from our projected results, please see “Item 1A. Risk Factors.” Important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those in the
forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, those summarized below:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

customer acceptance and demand for our video collaboration services and network applications;
the quality and reliability of our services;
the prices for our services;
customer renewal rates;
risks related to the concentration of our customers and the degree to which our sales, now or in the future, depend on certain large client relationships;
customer acquisition costs;
our ability to compete effectively in the video collaboration services and network services businesses;
actions by our competitors, including price reductions for their competitive services;
potential federal and state regulatory actions;
our need for and the availability of adequate working capital;
our ability to innovate technologically;
our ability to satisfy the standards for continued listing of our common stock on the NYSE American stock exchange;
changes in our capital structure and/or stockholder mix;
the costs, disruption, and diversion of management’s attention associated with campaigns commenced by activist investors;
our management’s ability to execute its plans, strategies and objectives for future operations;
whether we and SharedLabs consummate the proposed Merger, on the terms announced or otherwise, and the expenses incurred in the pursuit of such
transaction;
the ability of each of us and SharedLabs to meet the various conditions to the closing of the Merger, including obtaining the (i) effectiveness of a Form S-4
Registration Statement, (ii) NYSE American’s approval of the combined organization’s listing on such stock exchange and (iii) successful completion of
SharedLabs’ equity and debt financings;
the impact of any waiver by either us or SharedLabs of any conditions to the closing of the Merger; and
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•

assuming the proposed Merger is completed, the impact of business decisions made by the combined organization’s management and board of directors,
each of which is expected to be comprised of SharedLabs’ existing management and board personnel, respectively.
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Item 1. Business

PART I

Overview
Glowpoint, Inc. (“Glowpoint” or “we” or “us” or the “Company”) is a managed service provider of video collaboration and network applications. Our services
are designed to provide a comprehensive suite of automated and concierge applications to simplify the user experience and expedite the adoption of video as the
primary means of collaboration. Our customers include Fortune 1000 companies, along with small and medium enterprises in a variety of industries. We market
our services globally through a multi-channel sales approach that includes direct sales and channel partners. The Company was formed as a Delaware
corporation in May 2000. The Company operates in one segment and therefore segment information is not presented.
The Company has experienced declines in revenue in each of the last five fiscal years. From fiscal year 2013 to fiscal year 2018, we experienced a decline
in revenue from $33.5 million in 2013 to $12.6 million in 2018. These revenue declines are primarily due to net attrition of customers and lower demand for our
services given the competitive environment and pressure on pricing that exists in our industry. During the past several years, we had limited resources to invest
in product development and sales and marketing in order to reverse the Company’s revenue trends. We reduced our sales and marketing expenses from
$2,047,000 in 2015 to $664,000 in 2016, $413,000 in 2017 and $319,000 in 2018, in an effort to improve EBITDA and cash flow from operations and maintain
compliance with financial covenants under our previously-existing loan agreements.
On January 25, 2018, the Company closed a registered direct offering of 1,750 shares of 0% Series C Convertible Preferred Stock (the “Series C Preferred
Stock”) for net proceeds of $1,527,000 (the “Series C Offering”). On January 26, 2018, the Company terminated the Business Loan and Security Agreement,
dated July 31, 2017, by and between the Company and Super G Capital LLC (“Super G”), along with the accompanying Warrant to Purchase Shares of Common
Stock, dated July 31, 2017, and paid off all remaining debt obligations with Super G (the “Super G Payoff”). Also, during the year ended December 31, 2018,
the Company paid off all remaining debt with Western Alliance Bank.
As previously disclosed, on July 5, 2018, we received a letter (the “Deficiency Letter”) from the NYSE American stating that we were not in compliance with
the continued listing standards as set forth in Section 1003(f)(v) of the NYSE American Company Guide (the “Company Guide”). Specifically, the Deficiency
Letter informed us that the NYSE American has determined that shares of our common stock have been selling for a low price per share for a substantial period
of time and, pursuant to Section 1003(f)(v) of the Company Guide, the continued listing of our common stock on the NYSE American is predicated on us
effecting a reverse stock split of our common stock or otherwise demonstrating sustained price improvement within a reasonable period of time, which the NYSE
American subsequently determined to be no later than the date of our annual meeting in May 2019. We intend to regain compliance with the listing standards
set forth in the Company Guide on the timeline established by the NYSE American by undertaking a measure or measures that are for the best interests of the
Company and its shareholders. Specifically, given the many conditions to the closing of the Merger discussed below, we are currently working to implement, in
the near future, a reverse stock split of our issued and outstanding shares of Common Stock. See Note 19 to our consolidated financial statements included in
this Report for more information regarding this proposed reverse stock split. While there can be no assurances that a reverse stock split of our issued and
outstanding Common Stock will be implemented in the near future, we expect that either such an interim reverse stock split or the reverse stock split expected
to be implemented in connection with the proposed Merger (as discussed below) will allow the Company to regain compliance with this continued listing
standard. However, there can be no guaranty that any such reverse stock split will be effected on the terms disclosed herein or at all, or that such measures will
be successful or that the NYSE American will deem the company to be in compliance.
On October 24, 2018, we entered into a non-binding letter of intent with SharedLabs, Inc. (“SharedLabs”), a privately held global software and technology
services company located in Jacksonville, Florida, with respect to the proposed acquisition by us of 100% of the issued and outstanding equity securities of
SharedLabs in exchange for shares of our Common Stock, par value $0.0001 per share (“Common Stock”).
On December 20, 2018, we entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger Agreement”) with Glowpoint Merger Sub, Inc., a Delaware
corporation and a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Glowpoint (the “Merger Sub”), and SharedLabs. The Merger Agreement provides that, among other things
and subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the Merger Agreement, (i) Glowpoint will effect a reverse stock split of its shares of Common Stock, at a ratio
to be approved by Glowpoint’s stockholders and board of directors, and which ratio, as set forth in the Merger Agreement, will not be greater than 1-for-30 without
SharedLabs’ approval; (ii) the Merger Sub will merge with and into SharedLabs (the “Merger”), with SharedLabs surviving as a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Glowpoint; and (iii) in connection therewith, each share of capital stock of SharedLabs issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time (as defined
in the Merger Agreement) of the Merger (other than Excluded Shares (as
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defined in the Merger Agreement)) will be converted into the right to receive shares of Glowpoint’s Common Stock (the “Merger Consideration”). Under the
terms of the Merger Agreement, the Merger Consideration will consist of shares of Common Stock, subject to certain adjustments based upon the completion by
SharedLabs of a private placement of equity securities for at least $5 million of net cash proceeds (the “SharedLabs Equity Financing”), the execution of one or
more term sheets by SharedLabs with lending institutions for one or more credit facilities aggregating not less than $16 million in borrowing capacity subject to a
maximum interest rate (the “SharedLabs Term Sheet”), and the working capital of each of Glowpoint and SharedLabs at closing compared to a target working
capital for each of Glowpoint and SharedLabs. Warrants to purchase shares of SharedLabs common stock that remain outstanding as of the Effective Time will
be converted into warrants to purchase shares of Glowpoint Common Stock, and a portion of the Merger Consideration will be reserved for the future exercise of
such warrants. Subject to the adjustments described above, upon consummation of the proposed Merger, the stockholders of Glowpoint existing prior to the
transaction would collectively own an approximately 34% interest in the combined company and the stockholders of SharedLabs existing prior to the transaction
would collectively own an approximately 66% interest in the combined company. These ownership percentages include Glowpoint’s outstanding equity incentive
awards that will vest at or following the Effective Time and Glowpoint’s convertible preferred stock on an as-converted basis, but do not include any Glowpoint
common shares reserved for future issuance under any equity incentive plan adopted in connection with the Merger or the effect of any adjustments to the
Merger consideration.
In this Report, we sometimes refer to Glowpoint during the period subsequent to the completion of the Merger as the “combined organization.”
The completion of the Merger is subject to satisfaction or waiver of certain closing conditions, including (i) the receipt of all required approvals of the
stockholders of Glowpoint and SharedLabs and any required third-party consents and regulatory clearances, including receipt of required approvals from the
NYSE American, (ii) the absence of any governmental order or law that makes consummation of the Merger illegal or otherwise prohibited, (iii) the effectiveness
of a Registration Statement on Form S-4 to be filed by Glowpoint pursuant to which the shares of Common Stock to be issued in connection with the Merger are
registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), (iv) the shares of Glowpoint Common Stock to be issued in the Merger being approved for
listing on the NYSE American stock exchange, (v) the completion of the SharedLabs Equity Financing and the execution by SharedLabs of the SharedLabs
Term Sheet, (vi) the satisfaction and termination prior to closing of all contracts or other agreements to which SharedLabs is a party that provide a counterparty
with redeemable or contingent common stock or a guaranteed return, (vii) the redemption of each share of issued and outstanding redeemable SharedLabs
common stock, (viii) Glowpoint’s redemption, conversion or amendment of the terms of its Series A-2 Convertible Preferred Stock, par value $0.0001 per share
(the “Series A-2 Preferred Stock”), and Series C Preferred Stock, and (ix) the receipt by each party of a customary opinion that the Merger will qualify as a
“reorganization” within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. The obligation of each party to consummate the
Merger is also conditioned upon the other party’s representations and warranties being true and correct (subject to certain materiality exceptions) and the other
party having performed in all material respects its obligations under the Merger Agreement. If SharedLabs fails to meet its obligations under either of its debt or
equity financing closing conditions, Glowpoint may elect to proceed to close the Merger with a reduction in the shares of its Common Stock to be issued to
SharedLabs’ stockholders in the transaction, on terms set forth in the Merger Agreement. Further, Glowpoint and/or SharedLabs could elect to waive certain
conditions to the closing of the Merger in order to effect the transaction and, as a result, there can be no assurance that the combined organization will have the
benefit of the conditions to closing described above or otherwise set forth in the Merger Agreement.
As of the date of this Report, we believe that SharedLabs is working to prepare its 2018 year-end financial statements, and working with its independent
auditors to complete the audit thereof, for inclusion in the Form S-4. When SharedLabs’ 2018 audited financial statements are available, we and SharedLabs will
work to prepare the Form S-4 for filing with the SEC. However, there can be no assurances regarding SharedLabs’ ability to prepare such financial statements
and finalize an audit. As a result, there can be no assurance that the parties will be able to file the Form S-4, including SharedLabs’ audited financial statements,
on a timely basis. In addition, there can be no assurance that the business combination will be completed on the terms set forth in the Merger Agreement or at
all. In the event that the business combination is consummated, there can be no assurance that it will ultimately prove to be beneficial to our stockholders. If the
Merger transaction is not completed for any reason, our business and operations, as well as the market price of our stock, may be adversely affected. For more
information about possible risks of this transaction, see “Part II. Item 1A. Risk Factors--Risks Related to the Proposed Merger with SharedLabs.”
As of December 31, 2018, the Company had $2,007,000 in cash and no debt. In early 2018, the Company began investing in product development, sales
and marketing expenses and capital expenditures in order to develop new service offerings, with the goal of reversing the Company’s negative revenue trends.
However, after the Company signed the letter of intent with SharedLabs, the Company ceased such investments in order to focus its efforts on the completion of
the Merger. As a result, at this time, the Company does not have an expected timeline for the development and release of new services and/or the generation of
additional revenue with new services, and, as a result, the Company will likely continue to experience declines in revenue in the future. In addition, as the
Company continues to transform into a service-led organization, existing revenue attributable to its core and legacy
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product lines and services has declined. The Company has worked to migrate customers from legacy products, such as managed videoconferencing and video
meeting suites, to more automated/software-based solutions. As a result of a growing market trend around cloud consumption preferences, more customers are
exploring cost-effective software-based services for procuring technology. As this trend continues, the Company is focused on investing in future results by
implementing cost savings programs designed to streamline its operations and eliminate overlapping processes and expenses. If the Company fails to make the
necessary investments to develop new service offerings that achieve broad market acceptance on a timely basis, it will not be able to compete effectively and
will likely experience continued declines in revenue and lower gross margins. Further, if we complete the Merger with SharedLabs, the composition of our board
of directors is expected to change in accordance with the Merger Agreement and, as a result, the combined organization may determine to not make such
investments and/or pursue business strategies other than those discussed herein. For more information about this and other possible risks of the proposed
transaction with SharedLabs, see “Part I. Item 1A. Risk Factors--Risks Related to the Proposed Merger with SharedLabs.”
Our Services
Video Collaboration Services
We provide a wide range of video collaboration services, from automated to orchestrated, to address the spectrum of user experience and business
applications, in an effort to drive adoption of video throughout the enterprise. We deliver our services through a hybrid service platform or as a service layer on
top of our customers’ video infrastructure. We provide our customers with the following suite of services to meet their videoconferencing needs:
Managed Videoconferencing is a “high-touch” concierge-based offering where Glowpoint sets up and manages customer videoconferences. We offer
managed videoconferencing both as a cloud-based service, with videoconferences hosted in the Glowpoint Cloud, as described under “--Intellectual Property”
below, and as an on-premise solution leveraging the customer’s existing video infrastructure. Managed videoconferencing is available globally and works
effectively across multiple networks and video devices, including desktop and mobile devices. Despite a trend to move toward “self-service” videoconferencing,
many of our customers remain reliant on our scheduling, event support and conference management services. Our managed videoconferencing services are
offered to our customers on either a usage basis or on a monthly subscription. These services include:
Scheduling: Customers can schedule their videoconference using Microsoft Outlook®, Cisco TelePresence Management Suite®, or through
Glowpoint’s CustomerPoint® web portal.
Call Launching: Once the videoconference is scheduled, it automatically launches at the designated time. Glowpoint will “bridge” the
videoconference by calling the selected video endpoints at the time of the scheduled call and making sure they are properly connected. We believe that
automated launching creates cost efficiencies for both customers and Glowpoint and provides a desired evolution path that aligns with the market trend
toward increasing self-service models.
Conference Monitoring & Support: Glowpoint’s systems will monitor the video meeting to make sure everything remains properly connected and
operable during a conference. If an incident occurs during a meeting, one of our conference producers can reconnect and/or fix issues per standard
practices or as requested by the customer.
Conference Reports: Customer administrators can generate reports through our portal to show videoconference details, statistics and success
rates.
JoinMyVideo™ is an on-demand video meeting room (“VMR”) service that allows users to join from web browsers, desktops, mobile apps, and commonly used
videoconferencing systems. We believe our JoinMyVideo™ service meets customers’ needs to use video communications in a mobile environment, as further
discussed under “--Market Need” below. With JoinMyVideo™, users are able to manage the participants in the video meeting, allowing up to 24 participants to
join the meeting. JoinMyVideo™ is a cloud-based software-as-a-service solution, so the customer has no infrastructure to buy and maintain. JoinMyVideo ™ is
offered to our customers on a monthly subscription basis.
Hybrid Videoconferencing helps enterprises migrate from managed videoconferencing to VMRs by bringing together attributes of both services. Users can
schedule their VMR, add endpoints, and send invitations to participants through an online portal. At the scheduled time, the VMR is launched, connecting the
scheduled endpoints and allowing self-service users to join from video systems and desktop and mobile video apps. We believe our Hybrid Videoconferencing
service merges these connection capabilities and therefore accommodates all types of users and meetings.
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Video Meeting Suites provide remote access to videoconferencing for everyday business meetings and events, allowing our customers to conduct meetings
and events in over 4,000 physical meeting suites across 1,300 cities without investing in video devices or infrastructure. We have partnered with the owners of
these videoconference centers and arrange for our customers to hold videoconferences at convenient locations across the world based on customers’ needs.
Our primary service includes the scheduling and management of a highly orchestrated business-class meeting for a professional meeting experience. As part of
the extended offering beyond the physical office suite, we also enable participants who elect to use a mobile device to join a video conference from anywhere in
the world. These services are largely usage-based. We also offer our customers monthly subscription rates based on a fixed number of concurrent users.
Webcasting events enable our customers to stream live video feeds to up to thousands of viewers through their browsers and mobile devices. Enterprises often
use this service on a quarterly basis for earnings calls and town hall events.
Remote Service Management
Our Remote Service Management provides an overlay to enterprise information technology (“IT”) and channel partner support organizations and provides
24/7 support and management of customer video environments. Our services are designed to align with a globally recognized set of best practices, Information
Technology Infrastructure Library (“ITIL”), to standardize processes and communicate through a consistent set of terms with our customers and partners. We
leverage a best-in-class IT service management (“ITSM”) provider, ServiceNow Inc., to systematically provide Remote Service Management, as well as enable
Glowpoint to integrate with an enterprise’s systems and workflows.
We offer, on a monthly subscription basis, three tiers of Remote Service Management options, ranging from automated monitoring to end-to-end
management to complement the needs of IT support organizations, as described below:
Resolve - Total Support is our most comprehensive management and support service and targets enterprises that want to completely offload day-to-day
operations of their video environment to Glowpoint. We provide:
24x7 Support Desk: Around-the-clock access to our expert staff via phone and email for support inquiries.
Incident Management: Systematic management of incidents from service request to closure. All incidents are tracked and visible from our online ITSM
portal.
Problem Management: Root cause analysis and coordination to prevent and quickly repair incidents.
Change Management: Management of maintenance contracts for infrastructure and endpoints to ensure systems are up to date, operating at peak
performance, and have coverage from the manufacturer.
Site Certifications: Baseline testing of endpoints to make sure they are configured for optimal performance.
Service Level Agreements (“SLA”): Performance guarantees with our SLA backed services.
Helpdesk provides level 1 support and allows enterprise IT to scale and expand the reach of support to end users. We complement the existing staff by taking
the initial service request from the end users and providing incident management. We provide:
24x7 Support Desk: Around-the-clock access to our expert staff via phone and email for support inquiries.
Incident Management: Systematic management of minor incidents, general service inquiries, and an initial assessment for major and critical incidents.
We escalate major incidents to the appropriate and responsible parties.
Proactive Monitoring is a remote and automated monitoring service that detects events and alerts customers’ IT when a service impacting event is discovered.
The service is provided in conjunction with either Resolve - Total Support or Helpdesk. We provide:
Event Management: 24/7 monitoring of our customers’ infrastructure and endpoints with email alerts when events are detected.
Automated Video Room Sweeps (“AVRS”): Our custom developed service accesses our customers’ endpoints every night, measures audio & video
quality, and verifies firmware.
Network Services
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Glowpoint’s network services provide our customers around the world with network solutions that ensure reliable, high-quality and secure traffic of video,
data and internet. Network services are offered to our customers on a monthly subscription basis. Our network services business carries variable costs
associated with the purchasing and reselling of this connectivity. We offer our customers the following networking solutions that can be tailored to each
customer’s needs:
•

Cloud Connect: Video™: Allows our customers to outsource the management of their video traffic to us and provides the customer’s office locations
with a secure, dedicated video network connection to the Glowpoint Cloud for video communications.

•

Cloud Connect: Converge™: Provides customized Multiprotocol Label Switching (“MPLS”) solutions for customers who require a converged
network. A converged network is an efficient network solution that combines the customer’s voice, video, data, and Internet traffic over one or more
common access circuits. Glowpoint fully manages and prioritizes traffic to ensure that video and other business critical applications run smoothly.

•

Cloud Connect: Cross Connect™: Allows the customer to leverage their existing carrier for the extension of a Layer 2 private line to Glowpoint’s
data center.

Professional and Other Services
Our professional services include onsite support, or dispatch, as well as configuration or customization of equipment or software on behalf of a customer. On
a limited basis, we also resell video equipment to our customers.
Sales and Marketing
We currently sell our services through direct sales and indirect sales channels. During the past several years, we had limited resources to invest in sales and
marketing. As of December 31, 2018, we had two employees engaged in sales and marketing. We reduced our sales and marketing expenses from $2,047,000
in 2015 to $664,000 in 2016, $413,000 in 2017 and $319,000 in 2018, in order to improve EBITDA and cash flow from operations. Our sales/account
management team is responsible for developing relationships and expanding opportunities within our existing customer base as well as targeting our services to
other large and medium-sized companies. We partner with agents and wholesale channels to expand the size and reach of these efforts. The customers we
target have a proven need for business communication services in diverse vertical markets, such as professional services, business services, computer software,
manufacturing and financial services. The efforts of our channel sales group focuses on partnering with complementary system integrators and service providers,
to leverage their customer bases and distribution channels. We private label or co-brand our services for these partners depending on their requirements. We
primarily focus our marketing efforts on direct marketing programs aimed at our target buyer personas (e.g., IT decision makers) within our target verticals. We
seek to generate qualified leads for our sales team, educate and retain existing customers, generate brand awareness through public relations including social
media and drive service enhancements using research and customer feedback. We believe that sales cycles associated with selling our services directly to
enterprise IT organizations and through our channel partners typically range from six to eighteen months.
Market Need
As enterprise and mid-market businesses, such as many of our customers, increasingly seek to improve customer experience through the quality of
communication services, they are confronted with several industry trends presenting emerging and varied challenges. We believe the most forceful among these
trends are:
•

increasing mobility of the workforce;

•

shifting priorities of business decision makers, including an increased preference for cloud delivery of applications, software-defined networking, and
management of multiple and varied devices; and

•

the rise of multi-channel customer service involving multiple modes of communications.

As we continue to transform Glowpoint into a service-led organization, revenue attributable to our core and legacy product lines and services has declined.
We have worked to migrate customers from legacy products, such as managed videoconferencing and video meeting suites, to more automated/software-based
solutions. As a result of a growing market trend around cloud consumption preferences, more customers are exploring cost-effective software-based services for
procuring technology. As this trend continues, the Company has remained focused on investing in future results by implementing cost savings programs
designed
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to streamline its operations and eliminate overlapping processes and expenses. These cost savings programs have included: (i) reducing headcount, (ii) closing
office space, (iii) eliminating other real estate costs and infrastructure associated with unused or under-utilized facilities, (iv) relocating certain job functions to
lower cost geographies, including service delivery, customer care, research and development, human resources and finance, and (v) implementing reductions in
cost of revenue associated with external service providers.
Many enterprises have become dependent on video communications for increased productivity and reduced operating costs, thus making video
communications part of their core business practices. With the technology advancements over the past few years, including browser-based and mobile video, the
options for video collaboration solutions and services are greater than ever before. The growing combinations of hardware, software, and networks challenge
enterprise IT organizations with finding the right fit for their business objectives. Enterprises must consider and account for implementation and integration, user
adoption, analytics, management and support, and maintaining a return on investment with the existing technology deployment while preventing technology
obsolescence. As a result, businesses are increasingly seeking an outsourced partner for managed services and hosted, cloud-based infrastructure to mitigate
risk, reduce operational costs, and increase user satisfaction by delivering a higher caliber support level to their business.
We believe that many companies cannot fully support quality video communications on their existing infrastructure and networks. Enterprises have reduced
or curtailed investments in immersive telepresence (“ITP”) videoconferencing systems, now preferring cloud-based solutions and personal or smaller group video
systems. Enabling video on desktops and increased mobility remains a primary enterprise objective. As demand for ITP systems and related services decreases,
and the demand for mobility and personal video services increases, we will seek to evolve our solutions to align with and attempt to satisfy this market demand.
Glowpoint provides enterprises with the ability to simplify the video experience, which increases adoption and user participation. Glowpoint’s unique and
wide range of video collaboration services is intended to provide a service for every user and meeting type within the enterprise. We believe our ITSM platform
delivers the right tools, automation, and analytics to partners to enable a successful video deployment.
Competition
With respect to our video collaboration services, we primarily compete with managed services companies, videoconferencing equipment resellers and
telecommunication providers, including BT Conferencing, AT&T, Verizon, LogMeIn, Yorktel, ConvergeOne, Whitlock and AVI-SPL. We also compete with certain
start-up and venture capital-backed companies that offer hosted videoconference bridging solutions, including Blue Jeans Networks, Vidyo and Zoom. Lastly, the
technology and software providers, including Cisco, LifeSize, Microsoft (Skype for Business and Teams) and Polycom, are delivering competitive cloud-based
videoconferencing and calling services. With respect to our network services, we primarily compete with telecommunications carriers, including British Telecom,
AT&T, Verizon and Telus. Our competitors offer services similar to ours both on a bundled and un-bundled basis, creating a highly competitive environment with
pressure on pricing of such services. Competitor solutions also create opportunities for integration and support services for Glowpoint.
We believe we differentiate ourselves based on our full suite of cloud and managed video collaboration services in combination with the ITSM platform for
support automation. We believe our services are unique based on our intellectual property, user interfaces and capabilities that we have built over the years.
Customers
Our customers include Fortune 1000 companies, along with small and medium enterprises across a wide range of industries including consulting, executive
search, broadcast media, legal, finance, insurance and technology. Major customers are defined as direct customers or channel partners that account for more
than 10% of our total revenue. For the year ended December 31, 2018, two major customers accounted for 25% and 21%, respectively, of our total revenue.
For the year ended December 31, 2017, the same two major customers accounted for 23% and 16%, respectively, of our total revenue. Any reduction in the
use of our services or the business failure by one of our major customers and/or wholesale channel partners could have a material adverse effect on our
business and results of operations.
Intellectual Property
Glowpoint has invested in research and development, engineering and application development in the process of building our managed service and cloud
platforms. Some of this development has led to issued patents, as described below, along with ongoing recognition in the industry as having unique tools and
applications to enable our video applications.
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Glowpoint Cloud Conferencing
The Glowpoint Cloud is based on a Service Oriented Architecture framework that enables us to create unique unified communication service offerings.
Glowpoint’s cloud-based-video services can be delivered as a software and infrastructure service in a hosted environment or can support a hybrid mix of public
and private clouds.
Videoconferencing has traditionally presented challenges for the user by presenting a complex maze of systems and networks that must be navigated and
closely managed. Although most of the business-quality video systems today are “standards-based,” there are inherent interoperability problems between
different vendors’ video equipment, resulting in communication islands. Glowpoint’s suite of cloud and managed video services can be accessed and utilized by
customers regardless of their technology or network. Customers who purchase a Cisco, Polycom, Avaya, or LifeSize (Logitech) system, or use certain other
third-party video communications software such as Microsoft (Skype for Business), WebEx or WebRTC, may all take advantage of the Glowpoint Cloud
regardless of their choice of network. We have built the Glowpoint Cloud to support all standard video signaling protocols, including SIP, H.323 and Integrated
Services Digital Network (“ISDN”) using infrastructure from a variety of manufacturers.
The Glowpoint Cloud combines years of best practices, experience and technology development into a video collaboration platform that provides instant
connectivity, self-serve and managed help desk resources, and the ease of use that makes video collaboration seamless and effortless. Beyond the technology
and applications, the Glowpoint Cloud is built around security protocols to enable enterprises and organizations of any size to communicate with other desired
video users in a secure, high-quality and reliable fashion.
Video Service Platform
Our Video Service Platform provides enterprise customers with a cloud-based system for managing video collaboration. The Video Service Platform, which
leverages technology from an industry leading ITSM provider, ServiceNow Inc., is available to Glowpoint’s channel partners and enterprise customers. The
Video Service Platform’s scalability and multi-tenant design allows Glowpoint and its channel partners to seamlessly activate existing and new enterprise
customers of Glowpoint. It is completely web-based and accessible from any web-enabled device. The Video Service Platform automates and streamlines critical
functions and workflows needed by IT organizations for managing enterprise video collaboration environments, including incident management, change
management, and reporting/analytics for continuous improvement. Other benefits provided to enterprise IT organizations include:
•

Better transparency into the performance of the enterprise collaboration environment via business intelligence metrics, reporting and management
dashboards;
Greater scale with self-service support, giving end users an easy interface for submitting/tracking tickets;
Deeper expertise for managing video collaboration with access to Glowpoint’s Remote Service Management services and knowledge base;
More efficiencies gained by automating manual tasks and workflows including escalations, updates/notifications, and provisioning; and
Access to ITIL.

•
•
•
•

Patents
The development of our “video as a service” applications and network architecture has resulted in a significant amount of proprietary information and
technology, including real-time metering and billing for video calls and intelligent call routing. We believe that our patented proprietary technology provides an
important barrier for competitors’ potential offerings of similar video communications services. We have been awarded six patents:
•

•

U.S. Patent No. 7,200,213 was awarded in April 2007 for our live video operator assistance feature. Our “Live Operator” technology provides
customers with the ability to obtain live, face-to-face assistance and has widespread application, from general video call assistance to “video
concierge” services. This patent is an essential component of providing “expert on demand” and telepresence “white glove” business class support
services. This patent expires November 17, 2024.
U.S. Patent No. 7,664,098 was awarded in February 2010 for our real-time metering and billing for Internet Protocol (“IP”) based calls. Our “Call
Detail Records” patent for IP-based calls provides the ability to meter and bill an end-user on a transactional basis, just as traditional telephone
calls are billed. This unique capability is a vital development as more and more telepresence and videoconferencing calling traffic is distributed
over disparate
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•

•
•

•

IP-based networks – rather than ISDN – as business-to-business calling has become more common for video users. This patent expires August 4,
2026.
U.S. Patent No. 7,916,717 was awarded in March 2011 for our Systems and Method for Automated Routing of Incoming and Outgoing Video Calls
between IP and ISDN networks. This technology ensures the simple and seamless migration from ISDN to IP for the purpose of connecting IP
users with ISDN systems around the world. This automated call routing capability has been leveraged to provide a least cost routing and gateway
method to customers. This patent expires September 16, 2028.
U.S. Patent No. 8,259,152 was awarded in September 2012 for our Video Call Distributor, which includes systems and methods for distributing
high quality real time video calls over an IP Packet-Based Wide Area Network, leveraging existing routing rules and logic of a call management
system. This patent expires July 3, 2031.
U.S. Patent No. 8,576,270 was awarded in November 2013 for our Intelligent Call Management and Redirection systems and methods. These
systems and methods can be used to detect the status of a specified video endpoint. Pre-defined rules can be configured so that a call that is not
completed for any reason can be transferred to another destination such as a video mail service or an automated or live operator service. This
patent expires January 14, 2030.
U.S. Patent No. 8,933,983 was awarded in January 2015 for our Intelligent Call Management and Redirection systems and methods. This new
patent relates to a method for routing packet-based network video calls using an Intelligent Call Policy Management (“ICPM”) system that can
detect the status of a specified video endpoint and refuse to connect a video call based on the video endpoint’s status. This patent expires October
11, 2025.

Research and Development
Glowpoint incurred research and development expenses of $921,000 in 2018 and $1,148,000 in 2017 related to the development of features and
enhancements to our existing services.
Employees
As of December 31, 2018, we had 51 employees (including 50 full-time employees). Of these employees, 36 are involved in customer support and
operations, 9 in corporate functions, 4 in engineering and development, and 2 in sales and marketing. None of our employees are represented by a labor union.
We believe that our employee relations are good.
Available Information
We are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act. The Exchange Act requires us to file periodic reports, proxy statements and other
information with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). Copies of these periodic reports, proxy statements and other information can be read and
copied on official business days during the hours of 10 a.m. to 3 p.m. at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549. You
may obtain information on the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC maintains an Internet site at
http://www.sec.gov that contains reports, proxy and information statements and other information that we file electronically with the SEC.
In addition, we make available, free of charge, on our Internet website, our annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on
Form 8-K, and amendments to these reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act as soon as reasonably practicable after we
electronically file this material with, or furnish it to, the SEC. You may review these documents on our website at www.glowpoint.com. Our website and the
information contained on or connected to our website is not incorporated by reference herein, and our web address is included as an inactive textual reference
only.
Item 1A. Risk Factors
Glowpoint’s business faces numerous risks, including those set forth below or those described elsewhere in this Report or in our other filings with the SEC.
The risks described below are not the only risks that we face, nor are they necessarily listed in order of significance. Other risks and uncertainties may also affect
our business. Any of these risks may have a material adverse effect on Glowpoint’s business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flow. When
making an investment decision with respect to our common stock, you should also refer to the other information contained or incorporated by reference in this
Report, including our consolidated financial statements and the related notes.
Risks Related to Our Business
We have experienced declines in revenue in each of the last five fiscal years and may continue to experience further revenue decline in future
periods.
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From fiscal year 2013 to fiscal year 2018, we experienced a decline in revenue from $33.5 million in 2013 to $12.6 million in 2018. We believe that these
revenue declines are primarily due to net attrition of customers and lower demand for our services given the competitive environment and pressure on pricing
that exists in our industry. During the past several years, we have had limited resources to invest in product development and sales and marketing in order to
reverse the Company’s revenue trends. In addition, after the execution of the letter of intent with SharedLabs, we ceased any investment in new services in
order to focus our efforts and resources on the proposed Merger. If we cannot successfully introduce new product lines, either through rapid innovation or
acquisition of new products or product lines, we may not be able to maintain or increase the market share of our products. In addition, if we are unable to
successfully introduce or acquire new products with higher gross margins, or if we are unable to improve the margins on our existing product lines, our revenue
and overall gross margin will likely continue to decline. We cannot assure you that we will have sufficient funds available to pursue any of these measures, or that
any such measures will be successful. Further, if we complete the Merger with SharedLabs, the composition of our board of directors is expected to change in
accordance with the Merger Agreement and, as a result, the combined organization may determine to not make such investments and/or pursue business
strategies other than those discussed herein. Continued declines in our revenue will likely inhibit the combined organization’s potential for growth after the
closing of the Merger.
We have a history of substantial net operating losses and we may incur future net losses.
We have reported a substantial net loss from operations in fiscal years 2013 through 2018. We may not achieve revenue growth or profitability or
generate positive cash flow on a quarterly or annual basis in the future. If we do not achieve profitability in the future, the value of our common stock may be
adversely impacted, and we could have difficulty obtaining capital to continue our operations.
We may not be able to generate sufficient cash to service all of our ongoing liquidity needs, and we may be forced to take other actions to fund our
operations, which may not be successful.
Our ability to fund our operating expenses, planned capital expenditures, expenses related to the Merger with SharedLabs and other ongoing liquidity
needs depends on our financial condition and operating performance, which is subject to prevailing economic and competitive conditions and to certain financial,
business and other factors, some of which are beyond our control. We believe that, based on our current projection of revenue, expenses, capital expenditures
and cash flows, we have sufficient resources to fund our operations on a stand-alone basis for at least the next twelve months following the filing of this Report.
However, there is no assurance that we will be able to accomplish this during this period and/or in the future following such period. In addition, we cannot predict
the liquidity position of the combined organization at any point following the Merger, which is subject to, among other things, business decisions of the combined
organization’s management and board of directors.
Our business activities may require additional financing that might not be obtainable on acceptable terms, if at all, which could have a material
adverse effect on its financial condition, liquidity and its ability to operate going forward.
Our capital requirements continue to depend on numerous factors, including the timing and amount of revenue, the expense to deliver our services,
expense for sales and marketing, expense for research and development, capital improvements, the cost involved in protecting our intellectual property rights,
capital required to repurchase shares under our share buyback program, and the expenses related to the Merger with SharedLabs. We believe that, based on
our current projection of revenue, expenses, capital expenditures and cash flows, we have sufficient resources to fund our operations on a stand-alone basis for
at least the next twelve months following the filing of this Report. However, there is no assurance that we will be able to accomplish this during this period or in
the future following such period. In addition, we cannot predict the liquidity position of the combined organization at any point following the Merger, which is
subject to, among other things, business decisions of the combined organization’s management and board of directors. We anticipate negative cash flow from
operations in 2019 and we believe additional capital may be required to fund investments in product development and sales and marketing as a means to
reverse our revenue trends. While we expect to continue to adjust our cost of revenue and other operating expenses to partially offset the impact of revenue
declines associated with our legacy services, we believe additional capital may be necessary to fund our operations. In the event we need access to capital to
fund operations or provide growth capital, we would likely need to raise capital in one or more equity offerings. There can be no assurance that we will be
successful in raising necessary capital or that any such offering will be on terms acceptable to the Company. If we are unable to raise additional capital that may
be needed on terms acceptable to us, it could have a material adverse effect on the Company. Failure to obtain financing, or obtaining financing on unfavorable
terms, could result in a decrease in our stock price, would have a material adverse effect on future operating prospects, and could require us to significantly
reduce operations.
Further, in connection with our issuance of the Series B Preferred Stock and the Series C Preferred Stock, we granted to the investors therein certain
consent rights that could inhibit us from taking certain corporate actions while such securities are outstanding, including pursuing certain capital raising activities.
While, as of the filing of this Report, no shares of Series B Preferred Stock remain outstanding, the rights granted to the Series C Preferred Stock may make it
difficult for us to raise capital,

-11-

refinance indebtedness or borrow additional funds while such securities are outstanding. Please see “Holders of Glowpoint’s Series C Preferred Stock have
certain consent rights that could inhibit us from taking certain corporate actions, and as a result may adversely affect our business, operating results and stock
price” below for further information. In addition, the Merger Agreement includes provisions applicable prior to the earlier of the (i) closing of the Merger or (ii)
termination of the Merger Agreement that restrict Glowpoint’s ability to raise capital through equity or debt financings without SharedLabs’ consent.
In order to focus our resources on the proposed Merger with SharedLabs, we are not currently investing material resources in the development of
new service offerings. As a result, we will likely continue to experience declines in revenue in the future.
In early 2018, we began investing in product development, sales and marketing expenses and capital expenditures in order to develop new service
offerings, with the goal of reversing the Company’s negative revenue trends. However, after we signed the letter of intent with SharedLabs, we ceased such
investments in order to focus our efforts and resources on the completion of the Merger. As a result, at this time, we do not have an expected time line for the
development and release of new services and/or the generation of additional revenue with new services, and, as a result, we will likely continue to experience
declines in revenue in the future. In addition, as we continue to transform into a service-led organization, existing revenue attributable to our core and legacy
product lines and services has declined. As a result of a growing market trend around cloud consumption preferences, more customers are exploring costeffective software-based services for procuring technology. As this trend continues, we are focused on investing in future results by implementing cost savings
programs designed to streamline our operations and eliminate overlapping processes and expenses. If we fail to make the necessary investments to develop
new service offerings that achieve broad market acceptance on a timely basis, we will not be able to compete effectively and will likely experience continued
declines in revenue and lower gross margins.
Further, if we complete the Merger with SharedLabs, the composition of our board of directors is expected to change in accordance with the Merger
Agreement and, as a result, the combined organization may determine to not make such investments in the future and/or pursue business strategies other than
those discussed herein. Even if the combined organization elects to invest in the development of new services offerings for Glowpoint’s existing business, there
can be no assurance that such investments will be successful, or that any new product offerings will be timely or achieve market acceptance. If trends shift away
from our products or if we misjudge the market for our product lines, we may be faced with market conditions that could have a material adverse effect on our
financial condition and results of operations. The failure of new product designs or new product lines to gain market acceptance could also adversely affect our
business and the image of our brand. Achieving market acceptance for new products or technology may also require substantial marketing efforts and
expenditures to generate consumer demand. These requirements could strain our management, financial and operational resources. If we do not, in the future,
develop innovative products that provide better design, technology and performance attributes than the products of our competitors and that are accepted by
consumers, or if our future product lines misjudge consumer demands, we may lose consumer loyalty, which could result in a decline in our sales and market
share.
If we fail to introduce or acquire new products that achieve broad market acceptance on a timely basis, we will not be able to compete effectively and
we will likely experience continued declines in revenue and lower gross margins.
We operate in a highly competitive, quickly changing environment, and our future success depends on our ability to develop or acquire, and introduce,
new products that achieve broad market acceptance. Our future success will depend in large part upon our ability to identify demand trends in the markets in
which we operate, and to quickly develop or acquire, and build and sell products that satisfy these demands in a cost-effective manner. In order to differentiate
our products from our competitors’ products, we must increase our focus and capital investment in research and development. If our products do not achieve
widespread market acceptance, or if we are unsuccessful in capitalizing on market opportunities, our future growth may be slowed and our financial results could
be harmed. Also, as the mix of our business increasingly includes new products and services that require additional investment, this shift may adversely impact
our margins, at least in the near-term. Successfully predicting demand trends is difficult, and it is very difficult to predict the effect that introducing a new product
will have on existing product sales. We will also need to respond effectively to new product announcements by our competitors by quickly introducing competitive
products.
In addition, we may not be able to successfully manage integration of any new product lines with our existing products. Selling new product lines in new
markets will require our management to learn different strategies in order to be successful. We may be unsuccessful in launching a new product line in new
markets which requires management of new suppliers, potential new customers and new business models. Our management may not have the experience of
selling in these new markets and we may not be able to grow our business as planned. If we are unable to effectively and successfully further develop these new
product lines, we may not be able to achieve our desired sales targets and our gross margins may be adversely affected.
We may experience delays and quality issues in releasing new products, which could result in lower quarterly revenue than expected. In addition, we
may experience product introductions that fall short of our projected rates of market adoption. Any
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future delays in product development and introduction, or product introductions that do not meet broad market acceptance, or unsuccessful launches of new
product lines could result in:
•

loss of or delay in revenue and loss of market share;

•

negative publicity and damage to our reputation and brand;

•

a decline in the average selling price of our products; and

•

adverse reactions in our sales channels.

If we cannot successfully introduce new product lines, either through rapid innovation or acquisition of new products or product lines, we may not be
able to maintain or increase the market share of our products. In addition, if we are unable to successfully introduce or acquire new products with higher gross
margins, or if we are unable to improve the margins on our existing product lines, our revenue and overall gross margin will likely decline.
We cannot assure you that our present or future products will achieve market acceptance on a sustained basis. In order to achieve market acceptance
and achieve future revenue growth, we must introduce new product lines, incorporate new technologies into our existing product lines and design, and develop
and successfully commercialize higher performance products in a timely manner. We cannot assure you that it will be able to offer new or complementary
products that gain market acceptance quickly enough to avoid decreased revenues during current or future product introductions or transitions. As of the date of
this Report, and as discussed herein, we are focusing our efforts and resources on the proposed Merger with SharedLabs, and are not currently investing
material resources in new service offerings.
The Merger with SharedLabs is expected to result in changes to our board of directors and the combined organization will likely pursue different
strategies than the Company or SharedLabs may have pursued independently.
If the parties to the Merger Agreement complete the Merger, the composition of our board of directors is expected to change in accordance with the
Merger Agreement. Further, because the composition of the board of directors of the combined organization is expected to consist primarily of directors of
SharedLabs, with one director appointed by our board of directors, the combined organization will likely pursue certain business strategies that neither company
would have pursued independently.
Holders of Glowpoint’s Series C Preferred Stock have certain consent rights that could inhibit us from taking certain corporate actions, and as a
result may adversely affect our business, operating results and stock price.
Holders of Glowpoint’s Series C Preferred Stock have certain consent rights with respect to its ability to take certain corporate actions, including the
following:
•

the issuance, authorization or creation of any class or series of capital stock senior to or on parity with the Series C Preferred Stock, or any class or
series of capital stock junior to the Series C Preferred Stock but with a maturity, redemption or repayment date prior to the date on which any Series
C Preferred Stock remains outstanding; and

•

the entry by the Company into certain “fundamental transactions,” including transactions constituting a change of control of the Company, certain
reorganization transactions or a sale of all or substantially all of our assets.

In addition to the foregoing consent rights, holders of our Series C Preferred Stock have the right to participate, pro-rata on the post-conversion basis of
its preferred stock, in (i) any purchase rights issued by us pro-rata to the holders of any class of our common stock and (ii) the distribution of securities or other
assets made by us to the holders of common stock pursuant to certain fundamental corporate transactions. We have also granted a participation right in up to
100% of any future offering of common stock or other securities or equity linked debt obligations to the initial purchasers of the Series C Preferred Stock during
the period such purchasers continue to hold Series C Preferred Stock until January 2020 (the “Participation Right”).
Except as required by law or our Certificate of Incorporation, holders of our Series C Preferred Stock have the same voting rights as holders of common
stock, voting together as one class on an as-converted basis as if converted at a conversion price of $0.33 per share (note that this conversion price for voting
purposes is different than the actual conversion price of $0.30 per share).
The foregoing consent and other rights of the holders of our Series C Preferred Stock could, while such securities are outstanding, inhibit us from
obtaining future financings to withstand a future downturn in our business or the economy in general, or to otherwise conduct necessary corporate activities, and
as a result may adversely affect our business, operating results and stock price. We, as a condition to SharedLabs’ obligation to effect the Merger, have agreed
to, prior to the effective time, either (i) redeem each share of Series C Preferred Stock issued and outstanding as of the effective time, (ii) convert each share of
Series
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C Preferred Stock issued and outstanding as of the effective time into shares of our common stock, or (iii) amend the terms of the Series C Preferred Stock to
remove the Series C Participation Right. However, it is possible that SharedLabs could waive the foregoing condition to closing and the parties could close the
Merger without the Company having redeemed or converted, or amended the terms of, the Series C Preferred Stock, in which event the terms of such securities
would continue to inhibit the combined organization from obtaining future financings to withstand a future downturn in its business or the economy in general, or
to otherwise conduct necessary corporate activities. Such a result may adversely affect the business, operating results and stock price of the combined
organization.
Our success is highly dependent on the evolution of our overall market and on general economic conditions.
The market for video communication services is evolving rapidly. Although certain industry analysts project significant growth for this market, their
projections may not be realized. Our future growth depends on broad acceptance and adoption of video communications in the market for its services. There can
be no assurance that the market for our services will grow, that our services will be adopted or that businesses will purchase our suite of managed video
services. If we are unable to react quickly to changes in the market, if the market fails to develop or develops more slowly than expected, or if our services do
not achieve market acceptance, then we are unlikely to achieve profitability. Additionally, adverse economic conditions may cause a decline in business and
consumer spending which could adversely affect our business and financial performance.
We may be unable to adequately respond to rapid changes in technology.
The market for our video collaboration services is characterized by rapidly changing technology, evolving industry standards and frequent product
introductions. The introduction of products and services embodying new technology and the emergence of new industry standards may render our existing
managed video services obsolete and unmarketable if we are unable to adapt to change. A significant factor in our ability to grow and to remain competitive is our
ability to successfully introduce new products and services that embody new technology, anticipate and incorporate evolving industry standards and achieve
levels of functionality and price acceptable to the market. If our managed video services are unable to meet expectations or unable to keep pace with
technological changes in the video communication industry, our managed video services could eventually become obsolete. We may be unable to allocate the
funds necessary to upgrade our managed video services as improvements in video communication technologies are introduced. In the event that other
companies develop more advanced service offerings, our competitive position relative to such companies would be harmed.
We operate in a highly competitive market and many of our competitors have greater financial resources and established relationships with major
corporate customers.
The video communications industry is highly competitive and includes large, well-financed participants. Many of these organizations have substantially
greater financial and other resources than us, furnish some of the same services provided by us, and have established relationships with major corporate
customers that have policies of purchasing directly from them. Our competitors offer services similar both on a bundled and un-bundled basis, creating a highly
competitive environment with pressure on pricing of such services. We believe that as the demand for video communications systems continues to increase,
additional competitors, many of which may have greater resources than us, will continue to enter the video communications market.
We rely on a limited number of customers for a significant portion of our revenue, and the loss of any one of those customers, or several of our
smaller customers, could materially harm our business.
A significant portion of our revenue is generated from a limited number of customers. For the year ended December 31, 2018, two major customers
accounted for 25% and 21%, respectively, of our total revenue. The composition of our significant customers will vary from period to period and we expect that
most of our revenue will continue, for the foreseeable future, to come from a relatively small number of customers. Consequently, our financial results may
fluctuate significantly from period-to-period based on the actions of one or more significant customers. A customer may take actions that affect the Company for
reasons that we cannot anticipate or control, such as reasons related to the customer’s financial condition, changes in the customer’s business strategy or
operations, changes in technology and the introduction of alternative competing products, or as the result of the perceived quality or cost-effectiveness of our
products. Our agreements with these customers may be canceled if we materially breach the agreement or for other reasons outside of our control such as
insolvency or financial hardship that may result in a customer filing for bankruptcy court protection against unsecured creditors. In addition, our customers may
seek to renegotiate the terms of current agreements or renewals. The loss of or a reduction in sales or anticipated sales to our most significant or several of our
smaller customers could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Any system failures or interruptions may cause loss of customers.
Our success depends, in part, on the seamless, uninterrupted operation of our managed service offerings. As the complexity and volume continue to
increase, we will face increasing demands and challenges in managing them. Any prolonged failure of
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these services or other systems or hardware that cause significant interruptions to our operations could seriously damage our reputation and result in customer
attrition and financial loss.
There is limited market awareness of our services.
Our future success will be dependent in significant part on our ability to generate demand for our video collaboration services. To this end, our direct
marketing and indirect sales operations must increase market awareness of our service offerings to generate increased revenue. We have limited sales and
marketing resources, with two employees in sales and marketing as of December 31, 2018, and we have had limited resources and/or cash flow in the last
several years for spending on advertising, marketing and additional personnel. Our products and services require a sophisticated sales effort targeted at the
senior management of our prospective customers. If we were to hire new employees in sales and marketing, those employees will require training and take time
to achieve full productivity. We cannot be certain that our new hires will become as productive as necessary or that we will be able to hire enough qualified
individuals or retain existing employees in the future. We cannot be certain that we will be successful in our efforts to market and sell our products and services,
and, if we are not successful in building market awareness and generating increased sales, future results of operations will be adversely affected.
We rely on third-party software that may be difficult to replace or may not perform adequately.
We integrate third-party licensed software components into our technology infrastructure (e.g., ServiceNow Inc.) in order to provide our services. This
software may not continue to be available on commercially reasonable terms or pricing or may fail to continue to be updated to remain competitive. The loss of
the right to use this third-party software may increase our expenses or impact the provisioning of our services. The failure of this third-party software could
materially impact the performance of our services and may cause material harm to our business or results of operations.
We depend upon our network providers and facilities infrastructure.
Our success depends upon our ability to implement, expand and adapt our network infrastructure and support services to accommodate an increasing
amount of video traffic and evolving customer requirements at an acceptable cost. This has required and will continue to require that we enter into agreements
with providers of infrastructure capacity, equipment, facilities and support services on an ongoing basis. We cannot ensure that any of these agreements can be
obtained on satisfactory terms and conditions. We also anticipate that future expansions and adaptations of our network infrastructure facilities may be necessary
in order to respond to growth in the number of customers served.
Our network could fail, which could negatively impact our revenues.
Our success depends upon our ability to deliver reliable, high-speed access to our channels’ and customers’ data centers and upon the ability and
willingness of our telecommunications providers to deliver reliable, high-speed telecommunications service through their networks. Our network and facilities, and
other networks and facilities providing services to us, are vulnerable to damage, unauthorized access or cessation of operations from human error and
tampering, breaches of security, fires, earthquakes, severe storms, power losses, telecommunications failures, software defects, intentional acts of vandalism
including computer viruses, and similar events. The occurrence of a natural disaster or other unanticipated problems at the network operations center, key sites
at which we locate routers, switches and other computer equipment that make up the backbone of our service offering and hosted infrastructure, or at one or
more of our partners’ data centers, could substantially and adversely impact our business. We cannot ensure that we will not experience failures or shutdowns
relating to individual facilities or even catastrophic failure of the entire network or hosted infrastructure. Any damage to, or failure of, our systems or service
providers could result in reductions in, or terminations of, services supplied to our customers, which could have a material adverse effect on our business and
results of operations.
Our network depends upon telecommunications carriers who could limit or deny us access to their network or fail to perform, which would have a
material adverse effect on our business.
We rely upon the ability and willingness of certain telecommunications carriers and other corporations to provide us with reliable high-speed
telecommunications service through their networks. If these telecommunications carriers and other corporations decide not to continue to provide service to us
through their networks on substantially the same terms and conditions (including, without limitation, price, early termination liability, and installation interval), if at
all, it would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Additionally, many of our service level objectives are
dependent upon satisfactory performance by our telecommunications carriers. If they fail to so perform, it may have a material adverse effect on our business.
Cybersecurity incidents could disrupt business operations, result in the loss of critical and confidential information, and adversely impact our
reputation and results of operations.
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In the ordinary course of providing video communications services, we transmit sensitive and proprietary information of our customers. We are
dependent on the proper function, availability and security of our information systems, including without limitation those systems utilized in our operations. We
have undertaken measures to protect the safety and security of our information systems and the data maintained within those systems, and on an annual basis,
we test the adequacy of our security measures. As part of our efforts, we may be required to expend significant capital to protect against the threat of security
breaches or to alleviate problems caused by such breaches, including unauthorized access to proprietary customer data stored in our information systems and
the introduction of computer malware to our systems. However, there can be no assurance our safety and security measures will detect and prevent security
breaches in a timely manner or otherwise prevent damage or interruption of our systems and operations. We may be vulnerable to losses associated with the
improper functioning, security breach or unavailability of our information systems. We may be held liable to our affiliates and customers, which could result in
reputational damage, litigation, or negative publicity.
We may experience material disconnections and/or reductions in the prices of our services and may not be able to replace the loss of revenues.
Historically, we have experienced both significant disconnections of services and also reductions in the prices of our services. We endeavor to obtain
long-term commitments from new customers, as well as expand our relationships with current customers. The disconnection of services by our significant
customers or by several of our smaller customers could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Service
contract durations and termination liabilities are defined within the terms and conditions of the Company’s agreements with our customers. Termination of
services in our existing agreements typically require a minimum of 30 days’ notice and are subject to early termination penalties equal to the amount of accrued
and unpaid charges including the remaining term length multiplied by any fixed monthly fees. The standard form of service agreement with us includes an autorenewal clause at the end of each term if the customer does not choose to terminate service at that time. Certain customers and partners negotiate master
agreements with custom termination liabilities that differ from our standard form of service agreement.
Our failure to obtain or maintain the right to use certain intellectual property may negatively affect our business.
Our future success and competitive position depends in part upon our ability to obtain and maintain certain proprietary intellectual property to be used in
connection with our services. While we are not currently engaged in any intellectual property litigation, we could become subject to lawsuits in which it is alleged
that we have infringed the intellectual property rights of others or we could commence lawsuits against others who we believe are infringing upon our rights. Our
involvement in intellectual property litigation could result in significant expense, adversely affecting the development of sales of the challenged product and
diverting the efforts of our technical and management personnel, whether or not such litigation is resolved in our favor.
In the event of an adverse outcome as a defendant in any such litigation, we may, among other things, be required to pay substantial damages; cease
the development, use or sale of services that infringe upon other patented intellectual property; expend significant resources to develop or acquire non-infringing
intellectual property; discontinue the use or incorporation of infringing technology; or obtain licenses to the infringing intellectual property. We cannot ensure that
we would be successful in such development or acquisition or that such licenses would be available upon reasonable terms. Any such development, acquisition
or license could require the expenditure of substantial time and other resources and could have a negative effect on our business and financial results.
An adverse outcome as plaintiff in any such litigation, in addition to the costs involved, may, among other things, result in the loss of the intellectual
property (such as a patent) that was the subject of the lawsuit by a determination of invalidity or unenforceability, significantly increase competition as a result of
such determination, and require the payment of penalties resulting from counterclaims by the defendant.
We may not be able to protect the rights to its intellectual property.
Failure to protect our existing intellectual property rights may result in the loss of our exclusivity or the right to use our technologies. If we do not
adequately ensure our freedom to use certain technology, we may have to pay others for rights to use their intellectual property, pay damages for infringement or
misappropriation and/or be enjoined from using such intellectual property. We rely on patent, trade secret, trademark and copyright law to protect our intellectual
property. Some of our intellectual property is not covered by any patent. As we further develop our services and related intellectual property, we expect to seek
additional patent protection. Our patent position is subject to complex factual and legal issues that may give rise to uncertainty as to the validity, scope and
enforceability of a particular patent. Accordingly, we cannot assure that any of the patents owned by us or other patents that other parties license to us in the
future will not be invalidated, circumvented, challenged, rendered unenforceable or licensed to others; any of our pending or future patent applications will be
issued with the breadth of claim coverage sought by it, if issued at all; or any patents owned by or licensed to us, although valid, will not be dominated by a
patent or patents to others

-16-

having broader claims. Additionally, effective patent, trademark, copyright and trade secret protection may be unavailable, limited or not applied for in certain
foreign countries.
We also seek to protect our proprietary intellectual property, including intellectual property that may not be patented or patentable, in part by
confidentiality agreements. We cannot ensure that these agreements will not be breached, that we will have adequate remedies for any breach or that such
persons will not assert rights to intellectual property arising out of these relationships.
We are exposed to the credit and other counterparty risk of our customers in the ordinary course of our business.
Our customers have varying degrees of creditworthiness, and we may not always be able to fully anticipate or detect deterioration in their
creditworthiness and overall financial condition, which could expose us to an increased risk of nonpayment under our contracts with them. In the event that a
material customer or customers default on their payment obligations to us, discontinue buying services from us or use their buying power with us to reduce its
revenue, this could materially adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.
Our future plans could be adversely affected if we are unable to attract or retain key personnel.
We have attracted a highly skilled management team and specialized workforce. Our future success is dependent in part on attracting and retaining
qualified management and technical personnel. Our inability to hire qualified personnel on a timely basis, or the departure of key employees (including Peter
Holst, Glowpoint’s President and CEO) without a suitable replacement therefor could materially and adversely affect our business development and therefore, our
business, prospects, results of operations and financial condition.
If our actual liability for sales and use taxes and federal regulatory fees is different from our accrued liability, it could have a material impact on our
financial condition.
Each state has different rules and regulations governing sales and use taxes, and these rules and regulations are subject to varying interpretations that
may change over time. We review these rules and regulations periodically and, when we believe our services are subject to sales and use taxes in a particular
state, voluntarily engages state tax authorities in order to determine how to comply with their rules and regulations. Vendors of services, like us, are typically held
responsible by taxing authorities for the collection and payment of any applicable sales taxes and federal fees. If one or more taxing authorities determines that
taxes should have, but have not, been paid with respect to our services, we may be liable for past taxes in addition to taxes going forward. Liability for past taxes
may also include very substantial interest and penalty charges. Our customer contracts provide that our customers must pay all applicable sales taxes and fees.
Nevertheless, customers may be reluctant to pay back taxes and may refuse responsibility for interest or penalties associated with those taxes. If we are
required to collect and pay back taxes and the associated interest and penalties, and if our customers fail or refuse to reimburse us for all or a portion of these
amounts, we will have incurred unplanned expenses that may be substantial. Moreover, imposition of such taxes on our services going forward will effectively
increase the cost of such services to our customers and may adversely affect our ability to retain existing customers or to gain new customers in the areas in
which such taxes are imposed. We may also become subject to tax audits or similar procedures in states where we already pays sales and use taxes. The
assessment of taxes, interest, and penalties as a result of audits, litigation, or otherwise could be materially adverse to our current and future results of operations
and financial condition.
We depend upon suppliers and have limited sources for some services.
We rely on other companies to supply some components of our network infrastructure and the means to access our network. Certain products and
services that we resell and certain components that we require for our network are available only from limited sources. We could be adversely affected if such
sources were to become unavailable to us on commercially reasonable terms. We cannot ensure that, on an ongoing basis, we will be able to obtain third-party
services cost-effectively and on the scale and within the time frames that we require, if at all. Failure to obtain or to continue to make use of such third-party
services would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Our failure to properly manage the distribution of our services could result in a loss of revenues.
We currently sell our services both directly to customers and through channel partners. Successfully managing the interaction of our direct and indirect
sales channels to reach various potential customers for our services is a complex process. Each sales channel has distinct risks and costs, and therefore, our
failure to implement the most advantageous balance in the sales model for our services could adversely affect our revenue and profitability.
We incur significant accounting and administrative costs as a publicly traded corporation that impact our financial condition.
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As a publicly traded corporation, we incur certain costs to comply with regulatory requirements. If regulatory requirements were to become more stringent
or if controls thought to be effective later fail, we may be forced to make additional expenditures, the amounts of which could be material. Some of our
competitors are privately owned so their comparatively lower accounting and administrative costs can be a competitive disadvantage for us. Should our sales
continue to decline or if we are unsuccessful at increasing prices to cover higher expenditures for internal controls and audits, ours costs associated with
regulatory compliance will rise as a percentage of sales.
If we fail to maintain an effective system of internal controls, we may not be able to accurately report our financial results or prevent fraud. As a
result, current and potential stockholders may not be confident in our financial reporting, which could adversely affect the price of our stock and
harm our business.
Pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, we are required to include in our annual report on Form 10-K its assessment of the
effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting. Although we believe that we currently have adequate internal control procedures in place, we
cannot be certain that our internal controls over financial reporting will remain effective. If we cannot adequately maintain the effectiveness of our internal controls
over financial reporting, we may be subject to liability and/or sanctions or investigation by regulatory authorities, such as the SEC. Any such action could
adversely affect our financial results and the market price of our common stock.
Risks Related to the Proposed Merger with SharedLabs
There can be no assurance that a transaction will be consummated.
All of the conditions to the closing of the Merger would have to be satisfied or, if permissible, waived, in order for the Merger to be completed. The
conditions to the closing of the Merger require, among other things, Glowpoint and SharedLabs to (i) complete, file with the SEC and obtain from the SEC the
effectiveness of a Registration Statement on Form S-4 pursuant to which the shares of Common Stock to be issued in connection with the Merger are to be
registered with the SEC; and (ii) satisfy the initial listing standards of the NYSE American, including but not limited to standards with respect to market value of
public float, stockholders’ equity and minimum price per listed share, all of which may be difficult or impossible for the combined organization to satisfy. In
addition, the conditions to the closing of the Merger also include, among other things, the receipt of all required approvals of our stockholders and the
stockholders of SharedLabs and any required third-party consents and regulatory clearances, including from the NYSE American, the completion by SharedLabs
of an equity financing on terms set forth in the Merger Agreement, the execution of one or more term sheets by SharedLabs with lending institutions for one or
more credit facilities aggregating not less than $16 million in borrowing capacity, the satisfaction and termination prior to closing of all contracts or other
agreements to which SharedLabs is a party that provide a counterparty with redeemable or contingent common stock or a guaranteed return, and other
customary closing conditions. To our knowledge, many of these conditions to closing remain uncompleted. In addition, many of these conditions to closing are
outside of our control, and conditions to closing constituting obligations of SharedLabs may be outside of their sole control. The satisfaction of these conditions to
the closing of the Merger will require the dedication of large amounts of financial resources and management attention from each of Glowpoint and SharedLabs,
and there can be no assurance that all conditions to the closing of the Merger will be satisfied or, if permissible, waived.
The exchange ratio is not adjustable based on the market price of our common stock, so the Merger Consideration at the closing may have a greater
or lesser value than at the time the Merger Agreement was signed.
Subject to certain exchange ratio adjustment mechanisms, the Merger Agreement has set the exchange ratio for our common stock, and the exchange
ratio is based on the outstanding capital stock of SharedLabs and the outstanding common stock of the Company, in each case immediately prior to the closing
of the Merger. Any changes in the market price of our common stock before the completion of the Merger will not affect the number of shares of our common
stock issuable to SharedLabs’ stockholders pursuant to the Merger Agreement. Therefore, if before the completion of the Merger the market price of our common
stock declines from the market price on the date of the Merger Agreement, then SharedLabs’ stockholders could receive Merger Consideration with substantially
lower value than the value of such Merger Consideration on the date of the Merger Agreement. Similarly, if before the completion of the Merger the market price
of our common stock increases from the market price of our common stock on the date of the Merger Agreement, then SharedLabs’ stockholders could receive
Merger Consideration with substantially greater value than the value of such Merger Consideration on the date of the Merger Agreement. The Merger Agreement
does not include a price-based termination right. Because the exchange ratio does not adjust as a result of changes in the market price of our common stock, for
each one percentage point change in the market price of our common stock, there is a corresponding one percentage point rise or decline, respectively, in the
value of the total Merger Consideration payable to SharedLabs’ stockholders pursuant to the Merger Agreement.
Required regulatory clearances and approvals may impose conditions to the closing of the Merger that are not presently anticipated or that cannot
be met.
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Completion of the Merger is conditioned upon the receipt of all required regulatory clearances and approvals, including filing and obtaining the
effectiveness of the Form S-4 Registration Statement with the SEC, and approval from the NYSE American for the listing of the shares of common stock to be
issued to the stockholders of SharedLabs in the Merger. Further, we will be required by the NYSE American to file an initial listing application for the combined
organization and to satisfy the initial listing requirements of such exchange in order to remain listed on the NYSE American following completion of the Merger.
Receipt of the NYSE American’s approval of such initial listing application is a condition to closing under the Merger Agreement and will require the combined
organization to meet the NYSE American’s initial listing standards, including but not limited to standards with respect to such entity’s market value of public float,
stockholders’ equity and minimum price per listed share, that may be difficult or impossible for such entity to satisfy. These initial listing standards are generally
more strict than the NYSE American’s continued listing standards, and meeting them will constitute a significant challenge for the combined organization. In
addition to the foregoing, there may be other regulatory clearances and approvals that the Company and SharedLabs will be required to receive in order to
complete the Merger, any of which may be outside of our control. There can be no assurance that the Company and SharedLabs will be able to meet these or
other conditions to the closing of the Merger.
Failure to complete the Merger may result in us or SharedLabs paying a termination fee or expenses to the other party and could significantly harm
the market price of our common stock and negatively affect the future business and operations of each company.
If the Merger is not completed and the Merger Agreement is terminated under certain circumstances, we or SharedLabs may be required to pay the
other party a termination fee of $250,000 or reimburse the transaction expenses of the other party, up to a maximum of $1,000,000. Even if a termination fee is
not payable or transaction expenses are not reimbursable in connection with a termination of the Merger Agreement, each of us and SharedLabs will have
incurred significant fees and expenses, such as legal and accounting fees, which must be paid whether or not the Merger is completed. Further, if the Merger is
not completed, it could significantly harm the market price of our common stock.
In addition, if the Merger Agreement is terminated and the board of directors of the Company or SharedLabs determines to seek another business
combination, there can be no assurance that either we or SharedLabs will be able to find a partner and close an alternative transaction on terms that are as
favorable or more favorable than the terms set forth in the Merger Agreement.
The Merger may be completed even though certain events occur prior to the closing that materially and adversely affect us or SharedLabs.
The Merger Agreement provides that either us or SharedLabs can refuse to complete the Merger if there is a material adverse change affecting the
other party between December 20, 2018, the date of the Merger Agreement, and the closing of the Merger. However, certain types of changes do not permit
either party to refuse to complete the Merger, even if such change could be said to have a material adverse effect on us or SharedLabs, including changes
relating to or arising in connection with:
•

the public announcement or the pendency of the Merger Agreement or the transactions contemplated thereby, or any actions required to be taken
(or refrained from being taken) in compliance with the Merger Agreement, including any action taken (or omitted to be taken) with the written consent
of or at the written request of us (in the case of SharedLabs) or SharedLabs (in the case of Glowpoint);

•

any change in federal, state, non-U.S. or local law, regulations, policies or procedures, or interpretations thereof, GAAP or regulatory accounting
requirements applicable or potentially applicable to the industries in which we or SharedLabs operate;

•

changes generally affecting the industries in which we or SharedLabs or any of their subsidiaries operate that are not specifically related to us or
SharedLabs or any of their subsidiaries and that do not have a materially disproportionate adverse effect on us and its subsidiaries taken as a whole
or SharedLabs and its subsidiaries taken as a whole;

•

changes in general economic conditions or political conditions, or in the financial, credit or securities markets in general (including changes in the
prevailing interest rates, exchange rates or stock, bond and/or debt prices) in the United States, in any region thereof, or in any non-U.S. or global
economy that do not have a materially disproportionate adverse effect on us and our subsidiaries taken as a whole or SharedLabs and its
subsidiaries taken as a whole;

•

any attack on, or by, outbreak or escalation of hostilities or acts of terrorism (including cyberterrorism) involving, the United States, or any
declaration of war by the United States Congress or any hurricane or other natural disaster;

•

in the case of the Company, changes in the market price or trading volume of its common stock on the NYSE American; and
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•

in the case of the Company, changes relating to or arising in connection with, but not materially worse than, our historical negative financial results
and historical negative trends reflected in our past filings with the SEC.

If adverse changes occur and we and SharedLabs still complete the Merger, the market price of the combined organization’s common stock may suffer.
This in turn may reduce the value of the Merger to the stockholders of the Company, SharedLabs or both.
Even if the Merger is completed, the combined organization will need to raise additional capital by issuing securities or debt, which may cause
significant dilution to the combined organization’s stockholders and restrict the combined organization’s operations.
While the completion of the Merger is contingent upon the completion by SharedLabs of certain debt and equity financings described in the Merger
Agreement, we may, under the terms of the Merger Agreement, elect to waive such conditions to closing and proceed to close the Merger with a reduction in the
shares of common stock to be issued to SharedLabs’ stockholders. As a result of such waiver or otherwise, following the completion of the Merger, we expect
the combined organization will need to raise additional capital to fund its near and long-term operations. Additional financing may not be available to the
combined organization when it needs it or may not be available on favorable terms. To the extent that the combined organization raises additional capital by
issuing equity securities, the terms of such an issuance may cause more significant dilution to the combined organization’s stockholders’ ownership, and the
terms of any new equity securities may have preferences over the combined organization’s common stock. Any debt financing the combined organization enters
into may involve covenants that restrict its operations. These restrictive covenants may include limitations on additional borrowing and specific restrictions on the
use of the combined organization’s assets, as well as prohibitions on its ability to create liens, pay dividends, redeem its stock or make investments.
The market price of our common stock following the Merger may decline as a result of the Merger.
The market price of our common stock may decline as a result of the Merger for a number of reasons, including if:
•

investors react negatively to the prospects of the combined organization’s product line, business and financial condition following the Merger;

•

the effect of the Merger on the combined organization’s business and prospects is not consistent with the expectations of financial or industry
analysts; or

•

the combined organization does not achieve the perceived benefits of the Merger as rapidly or to the extent anticipated by financial or industry
analysts. The Company and SharedLabs stockholders may not realize a benefit from the Merger commensurate with the ownership dilution they will
experience in connection with the Merger.

If the combined organization is unable to realize the strategic and financial benefits currently anticipated from the Merger, the Company and SharedLabs
stockholders will have experienced substantial dilution of their ownership interests in their respective companies without receiving the expected commensurate
benefit, or only receiving part of the commensurate benefit to the extent the combined organization is able to realize only part of the expected strategic and
financial benefits currently anticipated from the Merger.
During the pendency of the Merger, we and SharedLabs may not be able to enter into a business combination with another party at a favorable price
because of restrictions in the Merger Agreement, and such parties may experience other restrictions on its business, which could, in each case,
adversely affect their respective businesses.
Covenants in the Merger Agreement impede the ability of us and SharedLabs to make acquisitions, subject to certain exceptions relating to fiduciary
duties, as set forth below, or to complete other transactions that are not in the ordinary course of business pending completion of the Merger. As a result, if the
Merger is not completed, the parties may be at a disadvantage to their competitors during such period. In addition, while the Merger Agreement is in effect, each
party is generally prohibited from soliciting, initiating, encouraging or entering into certain extraordinary transactions, such as a merger, sale of assets, or other
business combination outside the ordinary course of business with any third party, subject to certain exceptions relating to fiduciary duties, as set forth below.
Any such transactions could be favorable to such party’s stockholders.
Furthermore, uncertainty about the effect of the Merger on our employees and customers or those of SharedLabs may have an adverse effect on both
parties on a pre-transaction and post-transaction basis. These uncertainties may impair our ability and the ability of SharedLabs to attract, retain and motivate
key personnel until the Merger is consummated, and could cause customers and others that deal with us or SharedLabs to seek to change existing business
relationships. Retention of certain employees may be challenging while the transaction is pending, as certain employees may experience uncertainty about their
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future roles. If key employees depart because of issues relating to the uncertainty and difficulty of integration or a desire not to remain following the transaction,
the combined organization’s business following the transaction could be harmed.
Failure to complete or a delay in completing the Merger may have an adverse effect on both companies’ businesses due to uncertainty or operating
restrictions while the Merger is pending or cause the market price of our stock to drop.
Neither party can predict what the effect on the market price of its shares would be if the Merger is not completed, but depending on market conditions
at the time, it could result in a decline in market price. A substantial delay in completing the transaction due to the need to file and obtain the effectiveness of the
Form S-4 Registration Statement, satisfy conditions to closing, or the imposition of any unfavorable terms, conditions, or restrictions in obtaining a waiver to
such conditions or otherwise, could have a material adverse effect on the anticipated benefits of, or increase the costs associated with or delay the cost savings
anticipated from, the transaction, thereby impacting our or SharedLabs’ business, prospects, results of operation and financial condition or results of operations
after the Merger. In addition, the parties may be subject to restrictions on the operation of their business while the Merger is pending, which could impair their
ability to operate their business and prevent them from pursuing attractive business opportunities that may arise prior to the completion of the transaction. Any of
these situations could also result in a decline in the market price of our Common Stock.
Certain provisions of the Merger Agreement may discourage third parties from submitting alternative takeover proposals, including proposals that
may be superior to the arrangements contemplated by the Merger Agreement.
The terms of the Merger Agreement prohibit each of us and SharedLabs, from soliciting alternative takeover proposals or cooperating with persons
making unsolicited acquisition proposals, except in limited circumstances when such party’s board of directors determines in good faith that an unsolicited
acquisition proposal is or is reasonably likely to lead to a superior proposal and that failure to cooperate with the proponent of the proposal would be reasonably
likely to be inconsistent with the board of directors’ fiduciary duties and in certain other limited circumstances.
Because the lack of a public market for SharedLabs’ capital stock makes it difficult to evaluate the value of SharedLabs’ capital stock, the
stockholders of SharedLabs may receive shares of our common stock in the Merger that have a value that is less than, or greater than, the fair
market value of SharedLabs’ capital stock.
The outstanding capital stock of SharedLabs is privately held and is not traded in any public market. The lack of a public market makes it extremely
difficult to determine the fair market value of SharedLabs. Because the percentage of our common stock to be issued to SharedLabs stockholders was
determined based on negotiations between the parties, it is possible that the value of our common stock to be received by SharedLabs stockholders will be less
than the fair market value of SharedLabs, or we may pay more than the aggregate fair market value for SharedLabs.
The issuance of our common stock to SharedLabs security holders in connection with the transaction will substantially dilute the voting power of
our stockholders.
If the Merger is completed, we will issue a significant percentage of our outstanding shares of capital stock to SharedLabs’ security holders as
consideration for the acquisition of SharedLabs, such that, upon consummation of the Merger, our stockholders existing prior to the transaction would collectively
own an approximately 34% interest in the combined organization, based on the number of shares of our and SharedLabs common stock outstanding on
February 28, 2019, and not including any of our common shares reserved for future issuance under the Glowpoint 2019 Equity Incentive Plan to be approved in
connection with the Merger. The issuance of our securities to SharedLabs security holders in connection with the transaction will significantly reduce the relative
voting power of each share of our common stock held by its current stockholders.
Cash costs associated with the proposed Merger will negatively impact the financial condition, operating results and cash flow for each of the
Company and SharedLabs.
The Company and SharedLabs have each incurred and expect to continue to incur a number of non-recurring costs associated with the proposed
Merger. These costs and expenses include fees paid to financial, legal and accounting advisors, filing fees, printing expenses and other related charges, and, if a
Merger is consummated, facilities and systems consolidation costs, potential employment-related costs and other expenses related to the integration of
processes, policies, procedures, operations, technologies and systems between us and SharedLabs. There are many factors beyond the parties’ control that
could affect the total amount or the timing of such expenses. These transaction expenses, coupled with the parties’ ongoing costs and expenses of conducting
their businesses, will negatively impact each party’s financial condition, operating results and cash flow over the course of the transaction.
In addition, there may also be additional unanticipated significant costs in connection with the business combination that the combined organization may
not recoup. These costs and expenses could reduce the realization of efficiencies, strategic benefits
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and additional income we expect to achieve from the business combination. Although we expect that these benefits will offset the transaction expenses and
implementation costs over time, this net benefit may not be achieved in the near term or at all.
The failure to successfully operate and integrate our business and the business of SharedLabs in the expected timeframe could adversely affect the
combined organization’s future results following the completion of the transaction.
The success of the transaction will depend, in large part, on the ability of the combined organization following the completion of the transaction to realize
the anticipated benefits from combining our and SharedLabs’ respective businesses. The failure to operate and integrate successfully and to manage
successfully the challenges presented by the integration process may result in the combined organization’s failure to achieve some or all of the anticipated
benefits of the transaction. Potential difficulties that may be encountered in the integration process include the following:
•

using the combined organization’s cash and other assets efficiently to develop the business of the combined organization;

•

appropriately managing the liabilities of the combined organization;

•

limited experience of management in performing acquisitions and managing growth;

•

potential unknown and unforeseen expenses, delays or regulatory conditions associated with the transaction; and

•

performance shortfalls at one or both of the companies as a result of the diversion of management’s attention caused by completing the transaction
and integrating the companies’ operations.

Risks to Owning Glowpoint Common Stock
Throughout much of our history, our common stock has been thinly traded and subject to volatile price fluctuations.
Throughout much of our corporate history, our common stock has been thinly traded, and has therefore been susceptible to wide price swings. Our
common stock is currently traded on the NYSE American under the symbol “GLOW.” While our common stock has recently experienced increased trading
volume, we cannot ensure that this level of trading volume will continue, or that the increased trading volumes will lessen the historic volatility in the price for our
common stock. Thinly traded stocks are more susceptible to significant and sudden price changes and the liquidity of our common stock depends upon the
presence in the marketplace of willing buyers and sellers. At any time, the liquidity of our common stock may decrease to the thinly traded levels it has
experienced in the past, and we cannot ensure that any holder of our securities will be able to find a buyer for its shares. Further, we cannot ensure that an
organized public market for our securities will continue or that there will be any private demand for our common stock.
We could fail to satisfy the standards to maintain our listing on a stock exchange.
We could fail to satisfy the standards for continued exchange listing on the NYSE American, such as standards having to do with a minimum share
price, the minimum number of public shareholders, a minimum amount of stockholders’ equity or the aggregate market value of publicly held shares. As
previously disclosed, on July 5, 2018, we received a letter (the “Deficiency Letter”) from the NYSE American stating that we were not in compliance with the
continued listing standards as set forth in Section 1003(f)(v) of the NYSE American Company Guide (the “Company Guide”). Specifically, the Deficiency Letter
informed us that the NYSE American had determined that shares of our common stock had been selling for a low price per share for a substantial period of time
and, pursuant to Section 1003(f)(v) of the Company Guide, the continued listing of our common stock on the NYSE American was predicated on our effecting a
reverse stock split of our common stock or otherwise demonstrating sustained price improvement within a reasonable period of time, which the NYSE American
determined to be no later than January 5, 2019. As disclosed in our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on January 7, 2019, the NYSE American
subsequently granted us an additional time period to the date of our annual meeting in May 2019 to regain compliance with the continued listing standards as
set forth in Section 1003(f)(v) of the Company Guide. Given the many conditions to the closing of the Merger discussed in this Report, we are currently working
to implement, in the near future, a reverse stock split of our issued and outstanding shares of Common Stock. See Note 19 to our consolidated financial
statements included in this Report for more information regarding this proposed reverse stock split. While there can be no assurances that a reverse stock split
of our issued and outstanding Common Stock will be implemented in the near future, we expect that either such an interim reverse stock split or the reverse
stock split expected to be effected in connection with the proposed Merger will allow the company to regain compliance with this continued listing standard.
However, there can be no guaranty that any such reverse stock split will be effected on the terms disclosed herein or at all, or that any such measures will be
successful or that the NYSE American will deem the company to be in compliance.
Further, we will be required by the NYSE American to file an initial listing application for the combined organization and to satisfy the initial listing
requirements of such exchange in order to remain listed on the NYSE American following completion
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of the Merger with SharedLabs. Receipt of the NYSE American’s approval of such initial listing application is a condition to closing under the Merger Agreement
and will require the combined organization to meet the NYSE American’s initial listing standards, including but not limited to standards with respect to such
entity’s market value of public float, stockholders’ equity and minimum price per listed share, each of which may be difficult or impossible for the combined
organization to satisfy.
As a result of each of the foregoing, we may be unable to maintain our listing on the NYSE American, which would negatively affect, among other things
(i) our ability to complete the Merger, (ii) our ability to raise capital on terms we deem advisable, or at all, and (iii) the liquidity of our common stock. Failure to
obtain financing, or obtaining financing on unfavorable terms, could result in a decrease in our stock price, would have a material adverse effect on future
operating prospects, and could require us to significantly reduce operations.
Any holder of our securities should regard them as a long-term investment and should be prepared to bear the economic risk of an investment in such
securities for an indefinite period.
Penny stock regulations may impose certain restrictions on the marketability of our securities.
The SEC has adopted regulations which generally define a “penny stock” to be any equity security that has a market price less than $5.00 per share,
subject to certain exceptions. Our common stock is presently subject to these regulations, which impose additional sales practice requirements on broker-dealers
who sell such securities to persons other than established customers and accredited investors (generally those with a net worth in excess of $1,000,000 or
annual income exceeding $200,000, or $300,000 together with their spouse). For transactions covered by these rules, the broker-dealer must make a special
suitability determination for the purchase of such securities and have received the purchaser’s written consent to the transaction prior to the purchase.
Additionally, for any transaction involving a “penny stock,” unless exempt, the rules require the delivery, prior to the transaction, of a risk disclosure document
mandated by the SEC relating to the “penny stock” market. The broker-dealer must also disclose the commission payable to both the broker-dealer and the
registered representative, current quotations for the securities and, if the broker-dealer is the sole market maker, the broker-dealer must disclose this fact and the
broker-dealer’s presumed control over the market. Finally, monthly statements must be sent disclosing recent price information for the “penny stock” held in the
account and information on the limited market in “penny stocks.” Consequently, the “penny stock” rules may restrict the ability of broker-dealers to sell our
securities and may negatively affect the ability of purchasers of our shares of common stock to sell such securities.
Future operating results may vary from quarter to quarter, and we may fail to meet the expectations of securities analysts and investors at any given
time.
We have experienced, and may continue to experience, significant quarterly fluctuations in operating results. Factors that cause fluctuation in our results
of operations include lack of growth, declines in revenue and our ability to control expenses relative to our revenue. Accordingly, it is possible that in one or more
future quarters our operating results will be adversely affected and fall below the expectations of securities analysts and investors. If this happens, the trading
price of our common stock may decline.
Sales of substantial amounts of common stock in the public market, or the perception that such sales may occur, could reduce the market price of
our common stock and make it more difficult for us and our stockholders to sell our equity securities in the future.
The sale into the public market of a significant number of shares issued in the Merger or in future financings, or the resale into the public market of
shares issued in prior financings, could depress the trading price of our common stock and make it more difficult for us or our stockholders to sell equity
securities in the future. Such transactions may include, but are not limited to (i) any future issuances by us of additional shares of our common stock or of other
securities that are convertible or exchangeable for shares of common stock; (ii) the resale of any previously issued but restricted shares of our common stock
that become freely available for re-sale, whether through an effective registration statement or under Rule 144 of the Securities Act; and (iii) future conversions of
some or all of our outstanding Series C Convertible Preferred Stock into shares of our common stock, which may dilute the ownership interests of our common
stockholders upon conversion, and any sales in the public market of any shares of our common stock issued upon such conversion, which could adversely affect
prevailing market prices of our common stock.
While the sale of shares to the public might increase the trading volume of our common stock and thus the liquidity of our stockholders’ investments, the
resulting increase in the number of shares available for public sale could drive the price of our common stock down, thus reducing the value of our stockholders’
investment and perhaps hindering our ability to raise additional funds in the future.
Our common stock ranks junior to our outstanding shares of Series A-2 Convertible Preferred Stock and Series C Convertible Preferred Stock with
respect to any dividends and upon liquidation.
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The rights of the holders of our common stock rank junior to the rights of the holders of our outstanding shares of preferred stock with respect to any
dividends and payments upon the Company’s liquidation, dissolution or winding up. Further, our certificate of incorporation permits our board of directors to
authorize the issuance of additional series of preferred stock that would rank senior to our common stock with respect to any dividends and payments upon the
Company’s liquidation, dissolution or winding up. As of the filing of this Report, no shares of Series B Preferred Stock remain outstanding.
Our charter documents and Delaware law could discourage takeover attempts and lead to management entrenchment.
The Company’s certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws contain provisions that could delay or prevent a change in control of the
company. These provisions could also make it difficult for stockholders to elect directors that are not nominated by the current members of the board of directors
or take other corporate actions, including effecting changes in the Company’s management. These provisions include:
•

no cumulative voting in the election of directors, which limits the ability of minority stockholders to elect director candidates;

•

the ability of our board of directors to issue shares of preferred stock and to determine the price and other terms of those shares, including
preferences and voting rights, without stockholder approval, which could be used to significantly dilute the ownership of a hostile acquirer;

•

the exclusive right of our board of directors to elect a director to fill a vacancy created by the expansion of our board of directors or the resignation,
death or removal of a director, which prevents stockholders from being able to fill vacancies on its board of directors;

•

the requirement that a special meeting of stockholders may be called only by the chairman of our board of directors or a majority of our board of
directors, which could delay the ability of our stockholders to force consideration of a proposal or to take action, including the removal of directors;

•

the ability of our board of directors, by majority vote, to amend the Company’s amended and restated bylaws, which may allow our board of directors
to take additional actions to prevent an unsolicited takeover and inhibit the ability of an acquirer to amend the amended and restated bylaws to
facilitate an unsolicited takeover attempt; and

•

advance notice procedures with which stockholders must comply to nominate candidates to our board of directors or to propose matters to be acted
upon at a stockholders’ meeting, which may discourage or deter a potential acquirer from conducting a solicitation of proxies to elect the acquirer’s
own slate of directors or otherwise attempting to obtain control of the Company.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
Item 2. Properties
Our headquarters is located at 999 18th Street, Suite 1350S, Denver, Colorado 80202. These premises consist of 3,456 square feet of leased office space
for which base rent is $81,000 per year. This lease expires on December 31, 2019. We also lease office space in Oxnard, California that houses our bridging
services group, help desk and technical personnel in 3,400 square feet, the base rent of which is $85,000 per year. This lease expires on April 30, 2020.
Item 3. Legal Proceedings
From time to time, we are subject to various legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business, including proceedings for which we have insurance
coverage. As of the date hereof, we are not party to any legal proceedings that we currently believe will have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
position, results of operations or liquidity.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not Applicable.
PART II

-24-

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.
Glowpoint’s securities trade on the NYSE American under the symbol “GLOW.”
The following table sets forth high and low sale prices per share for our common stock for each quarter of 2017 and 2018, based upon information obtained
from the NYSE American. All reported sales prices reflect inter-dealer prices, without retail mark-up, mark-down or commissions and may not necessarily
represent actual transactions.

High

Low

Year Ended December 31, 2017
First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter

$

Fourth Quarter
Year Ended December 31, 2018

0.39
0.61
0.40

$

0.65

First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter

$

Fourth Quarter

0.46
0.25
0.22
0.23

0.22
0.23
0.19
0.21

$

0.21
0.15
0.12
0.11

O n March 4, 2019, the closing sale price of our common stock was $0.16 per share as reported on the NYSE American, and 50,405,832 shares of our
common stock were issued and outstanding. As of March 4, 2019, there were 99 holders of record of our common stock. American Stock Transfer & Trust
Company, LLC is the transfer agent and registrar of our common stock.
Dividends
Our board of directors has never declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock and does not expect to do so for the foreseeable future. We
currently intend to retain any earnings to finance the growth and development of our business. Our board of directors will make any future determination of the
payment of dividends based upon conditions then existing, including our earnings, financial condition and capital requirements, as well as such economic and
other conditions as our board of directors may deem relevant. In addition, our ability to pay cash dividends is limited by the Certificates of Designations governing
our Series A-2 Preferred Stock and Series C Preferred Stock, respectively.
Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans
The following table sets forth as of December 31, 2018 information regarding our common stock that may be issued under the Company’s equity
compensation plans:

Plan Category

Number of Securities
to be Issued Upon
Exercise of
Outstanding Stock
Options
(a)

Weighted Average
Exercise Price of
Outstanding
Stock Options
(b)

Number of Securities to
be Issued Upon Vesting of
Outstanding Restricted
Stock Units (*)
(c)

Number of Securities
Remaining Available
for Future Issuance
Under Equity
Compensation Plans
(excluding Securities
Reflected in Columns (**)
(a) & (c))

Equity compensation plans
approved by security
holders
1,180,000 $
1.99
6,022,678
530,813
(*) As of December 31, 2018, 988,000 vested restricted stock units (“RSUs”) remain outstanding as shares of common stock have not yet been delivered for
these units in accordance with the terms of the RSUs.
(**) On January 28, 2019, the Company issued 530,000 RSUs which reduced the remaining available shares under the Glowpoint, Inc. 2014 Equity Incentive
Plan.
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Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
None.
Purchases of Equity Securities by Glowpoint and Affiliated Purchasers
Stock Repurchase Program
On July 21, 2018, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized a stock repurchase program (the “ Stock Repurchase Program”) granting the Company
authority to repurchase up to $750,000 of the Company’s Common Stock, par value $0.0001 per share (“Common Stock” ) . All shares of Common Stock
repurchased under the Stock Repurchase Program are recorded as treasury stock. The Stock Repurchase Program does not have an expiration date. During
the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company repurchased 422,402 shares of Common Stock at an aggregate cost of $77,000, including commissions and
fees. During the quarter ended December 31, 2018, the Company repurchased 1,100 shares of Common Stock at an aggregate cost of $139, including
commissions and fees. The table below shows the monthly activity related to our Stock Repurchase Program for the quarter ended December 31, 2018.
Vesting of Stock Awards
There were no purchases of any of the Company’s equity securities by Glowpoint or any affiliated purchaser during the fourth quarter of 2018 relating to the
vesting of stock awards.

Total Number of
Shares Purchased (1)

Average Price Paid Per
Share (2)

Total Number of Shares
Purchased as Part of
Publicly Announced Plans
or Programs

October 1 - 31, 2018
November 1 - 30, 2018

—
—

$—
$—

—
—

$673,000
$673,000

December 1 - 31, 2018

1,100

$0.13

1,100

$673,000

Total

1,100

$0.13

1,100

$673,000

Period

Approximate Dollar Value
of Shares that May Yet Be
Purchased Under the
Plans or Programs

(1)
As of December 31, 2018, the maximum number of shares that may yet be purchased by the Company would not exceed the employees’ portion of taxes withheld on the vesting of the
following outstanding unvested equity awards: 113,000 shares of restricted stock, 1,180,000 stock options, and 5,035,000 restricted stock units, plus 531,000 shares yet to be granted under the
2014 Equity Incentive Plan as of December 31, 2018.
(2)

Price per share includes commissions and fees.

As of December 31, 2018, the Company had $673,000 remaining for future repurchases of Common Stock under the Stock Repurchase Program.
Item 6. Selected Financial Data
Not applicable.
Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 and the related
consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 and the related notes attached
thereto. All statements contained herein that are not historical facts, including, but not limited to, statements regarding anticipated future capital requirements,
our future development plans, our ability to obtain debt, equity or other financing, and our ability to generate cash from operations, are based on current
expectations. The discussion of results, causes and trends should not be construed to imply any conclusion that such results or trends will necessarily continue
in the future.
Business
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Glowpoint, Inc. (“Glowpoint” or “we” or “us” or the “Company”) is a managed service provider of video collaboration and network applications. Our services
are designed to provide a comprehensive suite of automated and concierge applications to simplify the user experience and expedite the adoption of video as the
primary means of collaboration. Our customers include Fortune 1000 companies, along with small and medium enterprises in a variety of industries. We market
our services globally through a multi-channel sales approach that includes direct sales and channel partners. The Company was formed as a Delaware
corporation in May 2000. The Company operates in one segment and therefore segment information is not presented.
The Company has experienced declines in revenue in each of the last five fiscal years. From fiscal year 2013 to fiscal year 2018, we experienced a decline
in revenue from $33.5 million in 2013 to $12.6 million in 2018. These revenue declines are primarily due to net attrition of customers and lower demand for our
services given the competitive environment and pressure on pricing that exists in our industry. During the past several years, we had limited resources to invest
in product development and sales and marketing in order to reverse the Company’s revenue trends. We reduced our sales and marketing expenses from
$2,047,000 in 2015 to $664,000 in 2016, $413,000 in 2017 and $319,000 in 2018, in an effort to improve EBITDA and cash flow from operations and maintain
compliance with financial covenants under our previously-existing loan agreements.
On January 25, 2018, the Company closed a registered direct offering of 1,750 shares of 0% Series C Convertible Preferred Stock (the “Series C Preferred
Stock”) for net proceeds of $1,527,000 (the “Series C Offering”). On January 26, 2018, the Company terminated the Business Loan and Security Agreement,
dated July 31, 2017, by and between the Company and Super G Capital LLC (“Super G”), along with the accompanying Warrant to Purchase Shares of Common
Stock, dated July 31, 2017, and paid off all remaining debt obligations with Super G (the “Super G Payoff”). Also, during the year ended December 31, 2018,
the Company paid off all remaining debt with Western Alliance Bank.
As previously disclosed, on July 5, 2018, we received a letter (the “Deficiency Letter”) from the NYSE American stating that we were not in compliance with
the continued listing standards as set forth in Section 1003(f)(v) of the NYSE American Company Guide (the “Company Guide”). Specifically, the Deficiency
Letter informed us that the NYSE American has determined that shares of our common stock have been selling for a low price per share for a substantial period
of time and, pursuant to Section 1003(f)(v) of the Company Guide, the continued listing of our common stock on the NYSE American is predicated on us
effecting a reverse stock split of our common stock or otherwise demonstrating sustained price improvement within a reasonable period of time, which the NYSE
American subsequently determined to be no later than the date of our annual meeting in May 2019. We intend to regain compliance with the listing standards
set forth in the Company Guide on the timeline established by the NYSE American by undertaking a measure or measures that are for the best interests of the
Company and its shareholders. Specifically, given the many conditions to the closing of the Merger discussed below, we are currently working to implement, in
the near future, a reverse stock split of our issued and outstanding shares of Common Stock. See Note 19 to our consolidated financial statements included in
this Report for more information regarding this proposed reverse stock split. While there can be no assurances that a reverse stock split of our issued and
outstanding Common Stock will be implemented in the near future, we expect that either such an interim reverse stock split or the reverse stock split expected
to be implemented in connection with the proposed Merger (as discussed below) will allow the Company to regain compliance with this continued listing
standard. However, there can be no guaranty that any such reverse stock split will be effected on the terms disclosed herein or at all, or that such measures will
be successful or that the NYSE American will deem the company to be in compliance.
On October 24, 2018, we entered into a non-binding letter of intent with SharedLabs, Inc. (“SharedLabs”), a privately held global software and technology
services company located in Jacksonville, Florida, with respect to the proposed acquisition by us of 100% of the issued and outstanding equity securities of
SharedLabs in exchange for shares of our Common Stock, par value $0.0001 per share (“Common Stock”). On December 20, 2018, we entered into an
Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger Agreement”) with Glowpoint Merger Sub, Inc., a Delaware corporation and a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of
Glowpoint (the “Merger Sub”), and SharedLabs. The Merger Agreement provides that, among other things and subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the
Merger Agreement, (i) Glowpoint will effect a reverse stock split of its shares of Common Stock, at a ratio to be approved by Glowpoint’s stockholders and board
of directors, and which ratio, as set forth in the Merger Agreement, will not be greater than 1-for-30 without SharedLabs’ approval; (ii) the Merger Sub will merge
with and into SharedLabs (the “Merger”), with SharedLabs surviving as a wholly-owned subsidiary of Glowpoint; and (iii) in connection therewith, each share of
capital stock of SharedLabs issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time (as defined in the Merger Agreement) of the Merger (other than
Excluded Shares (as defined in the Merger Agreement)) will be converted into the right to receive shares of Glowpoint’s Common Stock (the “Merger
Consideration”).
The completion of the Merger is subject to satisfaction or waiver of certain closing conditions. As of the date of this Report, we believe that SharedLabs is
working to prepare its 2018 year-end financial statements, and working with is independent auditors to complete the audit thereof, for inclusion in the Form S-4.
When SharedLabs’ 2018 audited financial statements are available, we and SharedLabs will work to prepare the Form S-4 for filing with the SEC. However,
there can be no assurances regarding SharedLabs’ ability to prepare such financial statements and finalize an audit. As a result, there can be no assurance that
the parties
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will be able to file the Form S-4, including SharedLabs’ audited financial statements, on a timely basis. In addition, there can be no assurance that the business
combination will be completed on the terms set forth in the Merger Agreement or at all. In the event that the business combination is consummated, there can
be no assurance that it will ultimately prove to be beneficial to our stockholders. If the Merger transaction is not completed for any reason, our business and
operations, as well as the market price of our stock, may be adversely affected. For more information about possible risks of this transaction, see “Part II. Item
1A. Risk Factors--Risks Related to the Proposed Merger with SharedLabs.” For more information regarding the terms of the proposed Merger, see “Part I. Item 1.
Business.”
As of December 31, 2018, the Company had $2,007,000 in cash and no debt. In early 2018, the Company began investing in product development, sales
and marketing expenses and capital expenditures in order to develop new service offerings, with the goal of reversing the Company’s negative revenue trends.
However, after the Company signed the letter of intent with SharedLabs, the Company ceased such investments in order to focus our efforts and resources on
the completion of the Merger. As a result, the Company does not have an expected time line for the development and release of new services and/or the
generation of additional revenue with new services, and, as a result, the Company will likely continue to experience declines in revenue in the future. In addition,
as the Company continues to transform into a service-led organization, existing revenue attributable to its core and legacy product lines and services has
declined. The Company has worked to migrate customers from legacy products, such as managed videoconferencing and video meeting suites, to more
automated/software-based solutions. As a result of a growing market trend around cloud consumption preferences, more customers are exploring cost-effective
software-based services for procuring technology. As this trend continues, the Company is focused on investing in future results by implementing cost savings
programs designed to streamline its operations and eliminate overlapping processes and expenses. If the Company fails to make the necessary investments to
develop new service offerings that achieve broad market acceptance on a timely basis, it will not be able to compete effectively and will likely experience
continued declines in revenue and lower gross margins. Further, if we complete the Merger with SharedLabs, the composition of our management and board of
directors is expected to change in accordance with the Merger Agreement and, as a result, the combined organization may determine to not make such
investments and/or pursue business strategies other than those discussed herein. For more information about this and other possible risks of the proposed
transaction with SharedLabs, see “Part I. Item 1A. Risk Factors--Risks Related to the Proposed Merger with SharedLabs.”
Results of Operations
Year Ended December 31, 2018 (“2018”) versus Year Ended December 31, 2017 (“2017”)
Revenue. Total revenue decreased $2,242,000 (or 15%) in 2018 to $12,557,000 from $14,799,000 in 2017. The following table summarizes the changes in
components of our revenue, and the significant changes in revenue are discussed in more detail below.
Year Ended December 31,
($ in thousands)
2018

2017

% of Revenue

% of Revenue

Revenue
Video collaboration services
Network services
Professional and other services
Total revenue

$

7,589
4,351
617

60%
35%
5%

$

8,958
5,562
279

60%
38%
2%

$

12,557

100%

$

14,799

100%

•

Revenue for video collaboration services decreased $1,369,000 (or 15%) to $7,589,000 in 2018, from $8,958,000 in 2017. This decrease is mainly
attributable to lower revenue from existing customers (either from reductions in price or level of services) and loss of customers to competition.

•

Revenue for network services decreased $1,211,000 (or 22%) to $4,351,000 in 2018 from $5,562,000 in 2017. This decrease is mainly attributable to
net attrition of customers and lower demand for our services given the competitive environment and pressure on pricing that exists in the network
services business.

•

Revenue for professional and other services increased $338,000 (or 121%) to $617,000 in 2018 from $279,000 in 2017. This increase is mainly
attributable to resale of video equipment.
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We expect our negative revenue trends from 2017 to 2018 will continue for the foreseeable future given the dynamic and competitive environment for our
services. We believe sales cycles associated with selling our services directly to enterprise IT organizations and through our channel partners typically range
from six to eighteen months. These factors create uncertainty as to when, and if, we will be able to stabilize and ultimately grow our revenue.
Cost of revenue (exclusive of depreciation and amortization) . Cost of revenue, exclusive of depreciation and amortization, includes all internal and external
costs related to the delivery of revenue. Cost of revenue also includes the cost for taxes which have been billed to customers. Cost of revenue decreased to
$7,598,000 in 2018 from $8,606,000 in 2017. The $1,008,000 decrease in cost of revenue from 2017 to 2018 is mainly attributable to lower costs associated
with the $2,242,000 decrease in revenue during the same period. We reduced costs related to revenue in the following areas in 2018: personnel costs, network
costs, taxes and external costs associated with video meeting suites. Cost of revenue, as a percentage of total revenue, increased to 61% for 2018 from 58% for
2017. The increase in cost of revenue as a percentage of total revenue for 2018 is mainly attributable to higher personnel costs as a percentage of total
revenue.
Research and Development . Research and development expenses include internal and external costs related to developing features and enhancements to
our existing services. Research and development expenses decreased $227,000 to $921,000 in 2018 from $1,148,000 in 2017. This decrease is primarily
attributable to lower headcount and a corresponding decrease of $280,000 in personnel costs.
Sales and Marketing . Sales and marketing expenses decreased $94,000 to $319,000 in 2018 from $413,000 in 2017. This decrease is primarily attributable
to a decrease in third party marketing costs of $67,000.
General and Administrative . General and administrative expenses include direct corporate expenses related to costs of personnel in the various corporate
support categories, including executive, legal, finance and accounting, human resources and information technology. General and administrative expenses
increased $946,000 to $4,611,000 in 2018 from $3,665,000 in 2017. This increase is mainly attributable to (i) $714,000 of professional fees incurred during
2018 related to the proposed Merger with SharedLabs and the evaluation of other M&A opportunities, (ii) an increase of $92,000 in personnel costs, and (iii) an
increase in administrative and overhead costs of $69,000.
Impairment Charges. Impairment charges increased $3,380,000 to $5,093,000 in 2018 from $1,713,000 in 2017. The impairment charges for 2018 are
primarily attributable to $4,955,000 on goodwill and $138,000 on capitalized software no longer in service. For 2017, the impairment charges are primarily
attributable to $1,475,000 on goodwill and $232,000 on capitalized software no longer in service. The continued future decline of our revenue, cash flows and/or
stock price may give rise to a triggering event that may require the Company to record impairment charges in the future related to our goodwill, intangible assets
and other long-lived assets.
Depreciation and Amortization. Depreciation and amortization expenses decreased $866,000 to $755,000 in 2018 from $1,621,000 in 2017. This decrease
is mainly attributable to lower amortization expense of $556,000 as certain intangible assets became fully amortized in the third quarter of 2017 and lower
depreciation expense of $310,000 due to an increase in assets which became fully depreciated in 2018.
Loss from Operations. Loss from operations increased to $6,740,000 in 2018 from $2,367,000 in 2017. The increase in our loss from operations is mainly
attributable to a decrease in our revenue and an increase in impairment charges on goodwill, partially offset by decreases in our cost of revenue and
depreciation and amortization as discussed above.
Interest and Other (Income) Expense, Net . Interest and other expense, net in 2018 was $415,000, comprised of (i) $311,000 of interest expense on the
Company’s then-existing debt obligations during 2018, and (ii) $269,000 of amortization of debt discount costs related to our then-existing debt obligations,
partially offset by a $165,000 gain on extinguishment of debt. Interest and other income, net in 2017 was $7,922,000, comprised of (i) a $9,045,000 gain on
extinguishment of debt relating to the Main Street Payoff and SRS Note Exchange Agreement, partially offset by (i) $1,017,000 of interest expense on the
Company’s outstanding debt during 2017 and (ii) $106,000 of amortization of debt discount costs related to our debt obligations. The decrease in interest
expense from 2017 to 2018 was attributable to the reduction in our debt during 2018 as discussed further below.
Income Tax Benefit. Income tax expense was $13,000 in 2018 as compared to income tax benefit of $230,000 in 2017 (see Note 16 to our consolidated
financial statements).
Liquidity and Capital Resources
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As of December 31, 2018, we had $2,007,000 of cash and working capital of $2,793,000. For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, we incurred a
net loss of $7,168,000 and generated net income of $5,785,000, respectively, and net cash used in operating activities of $1,155,000 and net cash provided by
operating activities of $1,609,000, respectively. A significant portion of our cash flow from operations during 2018 and 2017 was dedicated to the payment of
interest on our then-existing indebtedness, thereby reducing our ability to use our cash flow to fund our operations, capital expenditures and investments in sales
and marketing. During the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, our cash flow from operations was reduced by $318,000 and $878,000, respectively, for
interest payments on our then-existing indebtedness. During the year ended December 31, 2018, we reduced the outstanding principal on our debt obligations
from $1,832,000 as of December 31, 2017 to $0 as of December 31, 2018.
Net cash used in investing activities for 2018 and 2017 was $335,000 and $133,000, respectively, primarily related to purchases of property and equipment,
including capitalized internal-use software costs.
Net cash used in financing activities for 2018 was $449,000, primarily attributable to (i) $1,832,000 of aggregate principal payments on the Western Alliance
Bank Loan Agreement and Super G Loan Agreement, and (ii) other payments of $154,000 relating to the purchase of treasury stock and debt issuance costs,
partially offset by (i) $1,527,000 of net proceeds from the Series C Offering.
Net cash provided by financing activities for 2017 was $1,330,000, primarily attributable to (i) $2,280,000 of net proceeds from a registered direct offering of
2,800 shares of our 0% Series B Convertible Preferred Stock (the “Series B Preferred Stock”) in October 2017 (the “Series B Offering”), and (ii) $2,025,000 of
proceeds (net of debt issuance costs) from new loans in July 2017 with Western Alliance Bank and Super G Capital, LLC (“Super G”) (described further below),
partially offset by (a) the $2,550,000 Main Street Payoff , (b) $372,000 of aggregate principal payments on the Western Alliance Bank Loan Agreement and
Super G Loan Agreement, and (c) other payments of $57,000 relating to purchase of treasury stock and equity issuance costs.
Western Alliance Bank Business Financing Agreement
On July 31, 2017, the Company and its subsidiary entered into a Business Financing Agreement with Western Alliance Bank, as lender (the “Western
Alliance Bank Loan Agreement”). The Western Alliance Bank Loan Agreement provided the Company with up to a total of $1,500,000 of revolving loans (the
“A/R Revolver”). The maximum amount available under the A/R Revolver was limited to the lesser of (x) $1,500,000 and (y) an amount equal to the borrowing
base. The borrowing base included 85% of the Company’s eligible accounts receivable plus a non-formula amount (which was $400,000 at December 31, 2017,
and which stepped down to $200,000 on January 1, 2018, and to $0 on April 1, 2018) (“the Non-Formula Amount”). The Western Alliance Bank Loan Agreement
provided that all borrowings would bear interest at the prime rate (4.75% as of March 31, 2018) plus 2.25% (or a total of 7.00% as of March 31, 2018) per year.
The prime rate was subject to a floor of 4.00%. Interest payments on the outstanding borrowings were due monthly. On July 31, 2017, the Company received a
loan in an amount equal to $1,100,000 under the Western Alliance Bank Loan Agreement, consisting of $500,000 based on 85% of eligible accounts receivable
and $600,000 of Non-Formula Amount. During the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company made total principal payments of $800,000 and
$300,000 on the A/R Revolver. On May 8, 2018, the Company terminated the Western Alliance Bank Loan Agreement and there are no remaining obligations
as of December 31, 2018.
Super G Loan Agreement and Warrant
On July 31, 2017, the Company and its subsidiary entered into a Business Loan and Security Agreement with Super G, as lender (the “Super G Loan
Agreement”), and received a term loan from Super G in an amount equal to $1,100,000, the proceeds of which were used to fund the Main Street Payoff (the
“Super G Loan”). Borrowings under the Super G Loan Agreement were to be repaid in installments (including interest) of $33,000 per month in the first 3 months
following closing and $68,600 per month in months four through twenty-four following closing, for total payments of $1,540,000. During the year ended
December 31, 2018, the Company made total principal and interest payments of $1,032,000 and $306,000, respectively, on the Super G Loan. On January 26,
2018, the Company and Super G entered into a payoff letter that terminated the Super G Agreement and the Warrant to Purchase Shares of Common Stock,
dated July 31, 2017, by and between the Company and the Lender, in exchange for total cash payments from the Company of $1,269,000 (the “Super G
Payoff”) in full satisfaction of the outstanding facility. The Company funded the Super G Payoff with the net proceeds of its Series C Offering (defined below).
Series B Offering
In October 2017, pursuant to the Series B Offering, the Company closed a registered direct offering of 2,800 shares of its Series B Preferred Stock for total
gross proceeds to the Company of $2,800,000. The shares of Series B Preferred Stock were sold at a price equal to their stated value of $1,000 per share and
are convertible into shares of the Company’s common stock at a
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conversion price of $0.28 per share. The net proceeds to us from the sale of our securities in the Series B Offering were $2,280,000 after deducting offering
expenses paid by us.
Series C Offering
On January 25, 2018, the Company closed a registered direct offering of 1,750 shares of its 0% Series C Convertible Preferred Stock (the “Series C
Preferred Stock”) for total gross proceeds to the Company of $1,750,000. The shares of Series C Preferred Stock were sold at a price equal to their stated value
of $1,000 per share and are convertible into shares of the Company’s common stock at a conversion price of $0.30 per share. The net proceeds to us from the
sale of our securities in this offering were $1,527,000 after deducting offering expenses paid by us (the “Series C Offering”).
Future Capital Requirements
Our capital requirements continue to depend on numerous factors, including the timing and amount of revenue, the expense to deliver our services, expense
for sales and marketing, expense for research and development, capital improvements, the amount of shares repurchased under the Company’s Stock
Repurchase Program, the cost involved in protecting our intellectual property rights, and expenses related to the Merger with SharedLabs. The Company
believes that, based on our current projection of revenue, expenses, capital expenditures and cash flows, it has sufficient resources to fund its operations on a
stand-alone basis for at least the next twelve months following the filing of this Report. However, there is no assurance the Company will be able to accomplish
this during this period or in the future following such period. In addition, we cannot predict the liquidity position of the combined organization at any point
following the Merger, which is subject to, among other things, business decisions of the combined organization’s management and board of directors. We
anticipate negative cash flow from operations in 2019 and we believe additional capital may be required to fund investments in product development and sales
and marketing as a means to reverse our negative revenue trends. While we expect to continue to adjust our cost of revenue and other operating expenses to
partially offset the impact of revenue declines associated with our legacy services, we believe additional capital may be necessary to fund our obligations over
the longer term. In the event we need access to capital to fund operations or provide growth capital, we would likely need to raise capital in one or more equity
offerings. There can be no assurance that we will be successful in raising necessary capital or that any such offering will be on terms acceptable to the
Company. If we are unable to raise additional capital that may be needed on terms acceptable to us, it could have a material adverse effect on the Company. In
addition, the Merger Agreement includes provisions applicable prior to the earlier of the (i) closing of the Merger or (ii) termination of the Merger Agreement that
restrict Glowpoint’s ability to raise capital through equity or debt financings without SharedLabs’ consent.
In addition, as previously disclosed, on July 5, 2018, we received the Deficiency Letter from the NYSE American stating that we were not in compliance with
the continued listing standards as set forth in Section 1003(f)(v) of the Company Guide. Specifically, the Deficiency Letter informed us that the NYSE American
has determined that shares of our common stock have been selling for a low price per share for a substantial period of time and, pursuant to Section 1003(f)(v) of
the Company Guide, the continued listing of our common stock on the NYSE American is predicated on us effecting a reverse stock split of our common stock or
otherwise demonstrating sustained price improvement within a reasonable period of time, which the NYSE American subsequently determined to be no later than
the date of our annual meeting in May 2019. We intend to regain compliance with the listing standards set forth in the Company Guide on the timeline
established by the NYSE American by undertaking a measure or measures that are for the best interests of the Company and its shareholders. Specifically,
given the many conditions to the closing of the Merger discussed in this Report, we are currently working to implement, in the near future, a reverse stock split of
our issued and outstanding shares of Common Stock. See Note 19 to our consolidated financial statements included in this Report for more information
regarding this proposed reverse stock split. There is, however, no assurance that any such measures will be successful or that the NYSE American will deem us
to be in compliance, any of which may affect our ability to raise capital, refinance indebtedness or borrow additional funds on terms we deem advisable, or at all.
Failure to obtain financing, or obtaining financing on unfavorable terms, could result in a decrease in our stock price, would have a material adverse effect on
future operating prospects, and could require us to significantly reduce operations.
We have expended significant effort and management attention on the proposed Merger transaction with SharedLabs, and each of us and SharedLabs have
and are continuing to incur significant fees and expenses, such as legal and accounting fees, which must be paid whether or not the Merger is completed. There
is no assurance that the transaction contemplated by the Merger Agreement will be completed, and if it is not completed for any reason, our business and
operations, as well as the market price of our stock, may be adversely affected. Further, if the Merger is not completed and the Merger Agreement is terminated
under certain circumstances, we or SharedLabs may be required to pay the other party a termination fee of $250,000 or reimburse the transaction expenses of
the other party, up to a maximum of $1,000,000.
Critical Accounting Policies
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We prepare our consolidated financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Our significant accounting policies are described in Note 1 to our
consolidated financial statements attached hereto. We believe the following critical accounting policies involve the most significant judgments and estimates used
in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements.
Revenue Recognition. Revenue billed in advance for video collaboration services is deferred until the revenue has been earned, which is when the related
services have been performed. Other service revenue, including amounts passed through based on surcharges from our telecom carriers, related to the network
services and collaboration services are recognized as service is provided. As the non-refundable, upfront installation and activation fees charged to our
customers do not meet the criteria as a separate unit of accounting, they are deferred and recognized over the 12 to 24-month period estimated life of the
customer relationship. Revenue related to professional services is recognized at the time the services are performed. Revenues derived from other sources are
recognized when services are provided or events occur. In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standard Update
(ASU) 2014-09 (Topic 606) "Revenue from Contracts with Customers ." Topic 606 supersedes the revenue recognition requirements in Accounting Standards
Codification Topic 605 “Revenue Recognition” (Topic 605) and required entities to recognize revenue when control of promised goods or services is transferred
to customers at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled to in exchange for those goods or services. On January 1,
2018, we adopted Topic 606 using the modified retrospective method applied to those contracts which were not completed as of January 1, 2018. Results for
reporting periods beginning after January 1, 2018 are presented under Topic 606, while prior period amounts are not adjusted and continue to be reported in
accordance with our historic accounting under Accounting Standards Codification Topic 605. We did not record an adjustment to opening accumulated deficit as
of January 1, 2018 as the cumulative impact of adopting Topic 606 was not material. The costs associated with obtaining a customer contract were previously
expensed in the period they were incurred. Under Topic 606, these payments are deferred on our consolidated balance sheet and amortized over the expected
life of the customer contract. The impact to sales and marketing expense for the year ended December 31, 2018 was not material as a result of applying Topic
606. Deferred revenue as of December 31, 2018 totaled $43,000 as certain performance obligations were not satisfied as of this date. During the year ended
December 31, 2018, the Company recorded $350,000 of revenue that was included in deferred revenue as of December 31, 2017. The Company disaggregates
its revenue by geographic region. See Note 15 for more information.
Long-Lived Assets. We evaluate impairment losses on long-lived assets used in operations, primarily fixed assets, when events and circumstances indicate
that the carrying value of the assets might not be recoverable as required by ASC Topic 360 “Property, Plant and Equipment.” For purposes of evaluating the
recoverability of long-lived assets, the undiscounted cash flows estimated to be generated by those assets are compared to the carrying amounts of those
assets. If and when the carrying values of the assets exceed their fair values, then the related assets will be written down to fair value. During 2018 and 2017,
the Company recorded impairment charges of $0 and $6,000, respectively, primarily consisting of furniture, computer equipment, and network equipment no
longer being utilized in the Company’s business. These charges are recognized as “Impairment Charges” on our Consolidated Statements of Operations.
Capitalized Software Costs. The Company capitalizes certain costs incurred in connection with developing or obtaining internal-use software. All software
development costs have been appropriately accounted for as required by ASC Topic 350.40 “Intangible – Goodwill and Other – Internal-Use Software.”
Capitalized software costs are included in “Property and Equipment” on our consolidated balance sheets and are amortized over three to four years. Software
costs that do not meet capitalization criteria are expensed as incurred. For the year ended December 31, 2018, we capitalized internal-use software costs of
$265,000 and we amortized $372,000 of these costs. For the year ended December 31, 2017, we capitalized internal-use software costs of $126,000 and we
amortized $625,000 of these costs. During the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, we recorded impairment losses of $138,000 and $232,000,
respectively, for certain discrete projects that were abandoned. These charges are recognized as “Impairment Charges” on our Consolidated Statements of
Operations.
Goodwill. Goodwill is not amortized but is subject to periodic testing for impairment in accordance with ASC Topic 350 “Intangibles - Goodwill and Other Testing Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets for Impairment” (“ASC Topic 350”). We test goodwill for impairment on an annual basis on September 30 of each year
or more frequently if events occur or circumstances change indicating that the fair value of the goodwill may be below its carrying amount. In addition, as of each
March 31, 2018, June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2018, the Company considered the declines in our revenue and stock price to be triggering events for interim
goodwill impairment tests. The Company operates as a single reporting unit and used its market capitalization to determine the fair value of the reporting unit as
of each test date. In order to determine the market capitalization, the Company used the trailing 20-day volume weighted average price (“VWAP”) of its stock as
of each period end. As of each period end, the carrying amount of our reporting unit exceeded its fair value; therefore, the Company recorded total goodwill
impairment charges of $4,955,000 during the year ended December 31, 2018. These charges are recognized as “Impairment Charges” on our Consolidated
Statements of Operations. The remaining goodwill balance as of December 31, 2018 was $2,795,000. The continued future decline of our revenue, cash flows
and/or stock price may give rise to a triggering event that may require the Company to record additional impairment charges on goodwill in the future.
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Intangible Assets. Intangible assets total $499,000 as December 31, 2018 and include the affiliate network and trademarks recorded in connection with the
acquisition of Affinity in October 2012. Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized using the straight-line method over the estimated economic lives of the
assets, which range from eight years to twelve years in accordance with ASC Topic 350 “Intangibles - Goodwill and Other - Testing Indefinite-Lived Intangible
Assets for Impairment.” The Company assesses the impairment of purchased intangible assets subject to amortization when events and circumstances indicate
that the carrying value of the assets might not be recoverable. Fair value of our intangible assets is determined using the relief from royalty methodology. This
approach involves two steps: (a) estimating reasonable royalty rates for each intangible asset and (b) applying these royalty rates to a net revenue stream and
discounting the resulting cash flows to determine fair value. This fair value is then compared with the carrying value of each intangible asset. If the carrying
amount of the intangible asset is greater than its implied fair value, an impairment in the amount of the excess is recognized and charged to operations. The
determination of related estimated useful lives and whether or not these assets are impaired involves significant judgments, related primarily to the future
profitability and/or future value of the assets. Changes in the Company’s strategic plan and/or other-than-temporary changes in market conditions could
significantly impact these judgments and could require adjustments to recorded asset balances. Long-lived assets are evaluated for impairment at least
annually, as well as whenever an event or change in circumstances has occurred that could have a significant adverse effect on the fair value of long-lived
assets. The Company performed its evaluations of intangible assets as of each quarter end during 2018 and determined that the fair value of the long-lived
assets exceeded the carrying value, therefore no impairment charges were required for the year ended December 31, 2018.
Inflation
Management does not believe inflation had a significant effect on the consolidated financial statements for the periods presented.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
As of December 31, 2018 and 2017 we had no off-balance sheet arrangements.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In February 2016 the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, “Leases (Topic 842),” as amended. The guidance introduces a lessee model that results in most leases
impacting the balance sheet. The ASU addresses other concerns related to the current leases model. Under Topic 842, lessees will be required to recognize for
all leases with terms longer than 12 months, at the commencement date of the lease, a lease liability, which is a lessee’s obligation to make lease payments
arising from a lease measured on a discounted basis, and a right-to-use asset, which is an asset that represents the lessee’s right to use or control the use of a
specified asset for the lease term. Leases will be classified as either finance or operating, with classification affecting the pattern of expense recognition. The
update is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, including interim periods within those fiscal years. Our operating leases for our office
space in California, as disclosed in Note 13, will be recognized as a right-of-use asset and operating lease liability on our balance sheet upon adoption in
January 2019, which will increase our total assets and liabilities by approximately $100,000, respectively.
In June 2016 the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, “Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326).” The amendments introduce an impairment model that is
based on expected credit losses, rather than incurred losses, to estimate credit losses on certain types of financial instruments (e.g., loans and held-to-maturity
securities), including certain off-balance sheet financial instruments (e.g., loan commitments). The expected credit losses should consider historical information,
current information, and reasonable and supportable forecasts, including estimates of prepayments, over the contractual term. Financial instruments with similar
risk characteristics may be grouped together when estimating expected credit losses. In addition, the amendments provide for a simplified accounting model for
purchased financial assets with a more-than-insignificant amount of credit deterioration since their origination. The update is effective for fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2019, including interim periods within those fiscal years. We believe the effect of adopting this guidance on our consolidated financial
statements and related disclosures will not be material.
In June 2018 the FASB issued ASU 2018-07, “ Compensation - Stock Compensation (Topic 718).” The guidance simplifies the accounting for share-based
payments to nonemployees by aligning it with the accounting for share-based payments to employees, with certain exceptions. The new guidance expands the
scope to include share-based payments granted to nonemployees in exchange for goods or services used or consumed in an entity’s own operations and
supersedes the guidance in ASC 505-50. The update is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, including interim periods within those fiscal
years, and should apply to all new awards granted after the date of adoption. We believe the effect of adopting this guidance on our consolidated financial
statements and related disclosures will not be material.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
Not applicable.
Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
The information required by this Item 8 is incorporated by reference herein from Item 15, Part IV, of this Report.
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Disclosure Controls and Procedures
The Company’s management, with the participation of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of
the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of December 31, 2018.
Based on such evaluation, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that, as of December 31, 2018, the Company’s
disclosure controls and procedures are effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports we file or submit under the
Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified by the SEC’s rules and forms and are designed to ensure that
information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports we file or submit under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the
Company’s management, including the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding
required disclosure.
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
The Company’s management, with the participation of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated changes in internal
control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) that occurred during the quarter ended
December 31, 2018 and have concluded that no change has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting.
Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining an adequate system of internal control over financial reporting, as such term is
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f). Our internal control system was designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of consolidated financial statements for external purposes, in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Because of inherent
limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods
are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with policies and procedures
may deteriorate.
The Company’s management, including the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness
of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018 based on the 2013 framework in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”). The COSO framework summarizes each of the components of a company’s
internal control system, including (i) the control environment, (ii) risk assessment, (iii) control activities, (iv) information and communication, and
(v) monitoring. Based on this evaluation, the Company’s management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of
December 31, 2018.
Item 9B. Other Information
None.
PART III
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
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Board of Directors
Our Board of Directors currently consists of five directors. The current Board members include four independent directors and our chief executive officer.
The core responsibility of our Board of Directors is to exercise its business judgment to act in what it reasonably believes to be in the best interests of the
Company and its stockholders. Further, members of the Board fulfill their responsibilities consistent with their fiduciary duty to the stockholders, and in
compliance with all applicable laws and regulations. The primary responsibilities of the Board include:
•

Oversight of management performance and assurance that stockholder interests are served;

•

Oversight of the Company’s business affairs and long-term strategy; and

•

Monitoring adherence to the Company’s standards and policies, including, among other things, policies governing internal controls over financial
reporting.

Our Board of Directors met nine times during the year ended December 31, 2018. During this period, each director attended 75% or more of the
aggregate of (i) the total number of meetings of the Board of Directors held during the period for which he was a director and (ii) the total number of meetings of
committees of the Board of Directors on which he served, held during the period for which he served. The Company does not have a policy with regard to
directors’ attendance at our annual meetings of stockholders. All of our directors attended the 2018 annual meeting of stockholders.
Our Board of Directors conducts its business through meetings of the Board and through activities of the standing committees, as further described
below. The Board and each of the standing committees meet throughout the year on a set schedule and also holds special meetings and acts by written consent
from time to time, as appropriate. Board agendas include regularly scheduled executive sessions of the independent directors to meet without the presence of
management. The Board has delegated various responsibilities and authority to different committees of the Board, as described below. Members of the Board
have access to all of our members of management outside of Board meetings.
The following table sets forth information with respect to our Board of Directors.
Name

Age
(2)(3)

Kenneth Archer
David Giangano

(1)(2)

Peter Holst
Patrick J. Lombardi
James S. Lusk (1)(2)(3)

(1)

Position with Company

61
57

Director, Chairman of the Nominating Committee
Director

50
71
63

Director, Chief Executive Officer and President
Director, Chairman of the Board
Director, Chairman of the Audit Committee, Chairman of the Compensation Committee

(1) Member of the Audit Committee
(2) Member of the Compensation Committee
(3) Member of the Nominating Committee
Biographies for Board of Directors
Kenneth Archer, Director. Mr. Archer joined our Board of Directors in June 2010. Mr. Archer joined Nectar Services Corp. in January 2018 as Nectar’s
Chief Revenue Officer. Nectar is a leader in the development of network monitoring and management software for voice, video, data, and advanced applications
for the Unified Communications (UC) industry. Mr. Archer previously served as the Vice President of Global Sales Enablement for Hewlett-Packard, an industryleading global technology company, from April 2014 to November 2017, and served as the Americas Vice President of Channels and Alliances for the
Technology Services Business from November 2011 to March 2014. From June 2009 to October 2011, Mr. Archer was CEO of TriNET Systems, a provider of
global design, implementation and support services for communication and networking solutions from Avaya, Extreme, Juniper, and Nectar Networks. From April
2008 to June 2009, Mr. Archer was President of Prime Communications, an Avaya Gold Business Partner, until it was acquired by TriNET Systems in June
2009. Prior to Prime Communications, Mr. Archer was Vice President of North American Channels for Avaya commencing in July 2005, where he was
responsible for the channel strategy, program, operations, and partner management team, and spent 24 years before that at Hewlett-Packard working in various
roles within the channels program. He previously served on the Board of Directors of Juma Technology Corp. (OTCBB:JUMT), a leading IP convergence firm
specializing in managed services, and previously served on the Board of Directors of PRG Group, Inc. (PRGJ.PK), the former holding company of Prime
Communications. Mr. Archer graduated with a BS in Marketing from West Chester University of Pennsylvania and received an Executive MBA Management
degree from Fairleigh Dickinson University in New Jersey.
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In considering Mr. Archer as a director of the Company, the Board reviewed his specialized experience and extensive knowledge in sales and marketing
(specifically in building and establishing a channel sales program and strategy) in the communications and networking industries, and also his leadership
experience as a chief executive.
David Giangano, Director. Mr. Giangano joined our Board of Directors in February 2015. Mr. Giangano co-founded Nectar Services Corp. in 2007 and
has served as Nectar’s President and CEO since 2007. Mr. Giangano developed Nectar’s world-class channel program where he oversaw Nectar’s complete goto-market strategy, global channel and OEM partner programs. Nectar’s channel partner and OEM presence currently spans over 100 countries and is also
augmented by numerous Alliance partnerships. In 2002, Mr. Giangano founded Juma Technology, an Avaya Platinum Business Partner specializing in IP
convergence. There he established a reputation as an industry leader in Voice & Data IP Convergence. Earlier in his career, Mr. Giangano spent 10 years with
Northrop Grumman Corporation as a Senior Design Engineer in the R&D group and as a Project Leader on various military and commercial programs. Mr.
Giangano holds multiple patents in such disciplines as data encryption, data acquisition and digital signal processing. His technical writings have been published
in NASA and Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers (IEEE) journals and magazines. Mr. Giangano earned a Bachelor of Science in Engineering from
Fairleigh Dickinson University.
In considering Mr. Giangano as a director of the Company, the Board reviewed his specialized experience and knowledge in sales and marketing in the
communications and networking industries, and also his leadership experience as a chief executive.
Peter Holst, Chief Executive Officer and Director . Prior to being named President and CEO in January 2013, Mr. Holst served had served as the
Company’s Senior Vice President for Business Development since October 1, 2012. Mr. Holst has served as a director of the Company since January 2013.
Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Holst served as the Chief Executive Officer of Affinity VideoNet, Inc. (“Affinity”), a leading provider of public videoconferencing
rooms and managed videoconferencing services, from June 1, 2008 until October 1, 2012, when the Company acquired Affinity. Prior to joining Affinity, Mr. Holst
served as the President and Chief Operating Officer of Raindance Communications. Mr. Holst holds a degree in Business Administration from the University of
Ottawa.
In considering Mr. Holst as a director of the Company, the Board reviewed his extensive knowledge and expertise in the communication services
industry, and the leadership he has shown in his positions with prior companies.
Patrick J. Lombardi, Chairman of the Board. Mr. Lombardi joined our Board of Directors in April 2014 and has served as Chairman since joining the
Board. Prior to his retirement in 2013, Mr. Lombardi was a self-employed consultant to the telecommunications industry from 1996 to March 2013. From 1981 to
1996, Mr. Lombardi worked for Jones International, Ltd. and subsidiaries, serving as Group President and holding several senior management positions for
subsidiaries of Jones. Mr. Lombardi formerly served on the Boards of Directors for Jones Intercable, Inc., Bell Cablemedia plc and Raindance Communications,
Inc. Mr. Lombardi holds a B.B.A. degree in Accounting from the University of Notre Dame and is a certified public accountant.
In considering Mr. Lombardi as a director of the Company, the Board reviewed his extensive expertise and knowledge regarding the telecommunications
industry, as well as the prior directorships and executive positions he has held with public companies. Mr. Lombardi qualifies as an “audit committee financial
expert” under the applicable SEC rules and accordingly contributes to the Board of Directors his understanding of corporate finance and his skills in analyzing
and evaluating financial statements.
James S. Lusk, Director. Mr. Lusk joined our Board of Directors in February 2007. Mr. Lusk is currently the Chief Financial Officer of Sutherland Global
Services, a global provider of business process transformation and technology management services. Mr. Lusk joined Sutherland in July 2015. From 2007 until
July 2015, Mr. Lusk was Executive Vice President of ABM Industries Incorporated (NYSE:ABM), a leading provider of facility solutions, and served as ABM’s
Chief Financial Officer from 2007 until April 2015. Prior to joining ABM, he served as Vice President, Business Services and Chief Operating Officer for the
Europe, Middle East and Africa region for Avaya from 2005 to 2007. Mr. Lusk has also served as Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer of BioScrip/MIM,
President of Lucent Technologies’ Business Services division, and interim Chief Financial Officer and Corporate Controller of Lucent Technologies. Mr. Lusk
earned his B.S. (Economics), cum laude, from the Wharton School, University of Pennsylvania, and his M.B.A (Finance) from Seton Hall University. He is a
certified public accountant and was inducted into the AICPA Business and Industry Leadership Hall of Fame in 1999.
In considering Mr. Lusk as a director of the Company, the Board reviewed his extensive expertise and knowledge regarding finance and accounting
matters, as well as compensation, risk assessment and corporate governance. Mr. Lusk qualifies as an “audit committee financial expert” under the applicable
SEC rules and accordingly contributes to the Board of Directors his understanding of generally accepted accounting principles and his skills in auditing, as well
as in analyzing and evaluating financial statements.
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Director Independence
Our Board of Directors has determined that each of our current directors, other than Mr. Holst, qualifies as “independent” in accordance with the rules of
the NYSE American. Because Mr. Holst is our chief executive officer and an employee of the Company, he does not qualify as independent.
The NYSE American independence definition includes a series of objective tests, such as that the director is not an employee of the Company and has
not engaged in various types of business dealings with the Company. In addition, as further required by the NYSE American rules, the Board has made a
subjective determination as to each independent director that no relationship exists which, in the opinion of the Board, would interfere with the exercise of
independent judgment in carrying out the responsibilities of a director. In making these determinations, the directors reviewed and discussed information
provided by the directors and the Company with regard to each director’s business and personal activities as they may relate to the Company and the
Company’s management, including the employment of both Messrs. Giangano and Archer by Nectar Services Corp.
Board Committees
The Board has an audit committee, a compensation committee and a nominating committee, and may form special committees as is required from time
to time. Each of the committees regularly report on their activities and actions to the full Board. The charters for the audit committee, the compensation
committee, and the nominating committee are available on the Company’s website at www.glowpoint.com/investor-relations. The contents of our website are not
incorporated by reference into this document for any purpose.
Audit Committee
The audit committee currently consists of James S. Lusk (chair), David Giangano and Patrick J. Lombardi. Our Board of Directors has determined that all
members of the audit committee are “independent” within the meaning of the listing standards of NYSE American and the SEC rules governing audit committees
and “financially literate” for purposes of applicable NYSE American listing standards. In addition, our Board of Directors has determined that each of Messrs.
Lusk and Lombardi has the accounting and related financial management expertise to satisfy the requirements of an “audit committee financial expert,” as
determined pursuant to the rules and regulations of the SEC. The audit committee consults and meets with our independent registered public accounting firm,
Chief Financial Officer and accounting personnel, reviews potential conflict of interest situations where appropriate, and reports and makes recommendations to
the full Board of Directors regarding such matters. The audit committee met five times during the year ended December 31, 2018.
Compensation Committee
Our compensation committee currently consists of James S. Lusk (chair), Kenneth Archer, and David Giangano. Each member of the compensation
committee meets the applicable independence requirements of the NYSE American. The compensation committee met three times during the year ended
December 31, 2018.
The compensation committee is responsible for establishing and administering our executive compensation policies. The role of the compensation
committee is to (i) formulate, evaluate and approve compensation of the Company’s directors, executive officers and key employees, (ii) oversee all
compensation programs involving the use of the Company’s stock and (iii) produce, if required under applicable securities laws, a report on executive
compensation for inclusion in the Company’s proxy statement for its annual meeting of stockholders. The duties and responsibilities of the compensation
committee under its charter include:
•

annually reviewing and making recommendations to the Board with respect to compensation of directors, executive officers and key employees of
the Company;

•

annually reviewing and approving corporate goals and objectives relevant to Chief Executive Officer compensation, evaluating the Chief Executive
Officer’s performance in light of those goals and objectives, and recommending to the Board the Chief Executive Officer’s compensation levels
based on this evaluation;

•

reviewing competitive practices and trends to determine the adequacy of the executive compensation program;

•

approving and overseeing compensation programs for executive officers involving the use of the Company’s stock;

•

approving and administering cash incentives for executives, including oversight of achievement of performance objectives, and funding for executive
incentive plans;

•

annually performing a self-evaluation on the performance of the compensation committee; and

•

making regular reports to the Board concerning the activities of the compensation committee.
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When appropriate, the compensation committee may, in carrying out its responsibilities, form and delegate authority to subcommittees. The Chief
Executive Officer plays a role in determining the compensation of our other executive officers by evaluating the performance of those executive officers. The
Chief Executive Officer’s evaluations are then reviewed by the compensation committee. This process leads to a recommendation for any changes in salary,
bonus terms and equity awards, if any, based on performance, which recommendations are then reviewed and approved by the compensation committee.
Nominating Committee
Our nominating committee currently consists of Kenneth Archer (chair) and James S. Lusk. Each member of the nominating committee meets the
independence requirements of the NYSE American. The nominating committee is responsible for assessing the performance of our Board of Directors and
making recommendations to our Board regarding nominees for the Board. The nominating committee met two times during the year ended December 31, 2018.
The nominating committee considers qualified candidates to serve as a member of our Board of Directors that are suggested by our stockholders.
Nominees recommended by stockholders will be given appropriate consideration and evaluated in the same manner as other nominees. Stockholders can
suggest qualified candidates for director by writing to our Corporate Secretary at 999 18 th Street, Suite 1350S, Denver, Colorado 80202. Stockholder submissions
that are received in accordance with our by-laws and that meet the criteria outlined in the nominating committee charter are forwarded to the members of the
nominating committee for review. Stockholder submissions must include the following information:
•

a statement that the writer is our stockholder and is proposing a candidate for our Board of Directors for consideration by the nominating committee;

•

the name of and contact information for the candidate;

•

a statement of the candidate’s business and educational experience;

•

information regarding each of the factors set forth in the nominating committee charter sufficient to enable the nominating committee to evaluate the
candidate;

•

a statement detailing any relationship between the candidate and any of our customers, suppliers or competitors;

•

detailed information about any relationship or understanding between the proposing stockholder and the candidate; and

•

a statement that the candidate is willing to be considered and willing to serve as our director if nominated and elected.

In considering potential new directors, the nominating committee will review individuals from various disciplines and backgrounds. Among the
qualifications to be considered in the selection of candidates are broad experience in business, finance or administration; familiarity with national and
international business matters; familiarity with our industry; and prominence and reputation. While there is no formal policy with regard to consideration of
diversity in identifying director nominees, the nominating committee will consider diversity in business experience, professional expertise, gender and ethnic
background, along with various other factors when evaluating director nominees. The nominating committee will also consider whether the individual has the
time available to devote to the work of our Board of Directors and one or more of its committees.
The nominating committee will also review the activities and associations of each candidate to ensure that there is no legal impediment, conflict of
interest or other consideration that might hinder or prevent service on our Board of Directors. In making its selection, the nominating committee will bear in mind
that the foremost responsibility of a director of a corporation is to represent the interests of the stockholders as a whole. The nominating committee will
periodically review and reassess the adequacy of its charter and propose any changes to the Board of Directors for approval.
Contacting the Board of Directors
Any stockholder who desires to contact our Board of Directors, committees of the Board of Directors and individual directors may do so by writing to:
Glowpoint, Inc., 999 18th Street, Suite 1350S, Denver, Colorado 80202, Attention: David Clark, Corporate Secretary. Mr. Clark will direct such communication to
the appropriate persons.
Board Leadership Structure and Role in Risk Oversight
At no time during the year ended December 31, 2018 was the chairman of our Board of Directors also our Chief Executive Officer. Although the Board
does not have a policy regarding the separation of the roles of chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer, the Board believes it is in the best interests of
the Company to make that determination based on the position and direction of the Company, and also the membership of the Board. Our current structure
facilitates a greater role for the Board
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of Directors in the oversight of the Company, and allows the chief executive officer to focus on the management of the Company’s day-to-day operations.
Currently, Patrick J. Lombardi holds the position of chairman of our Board of Directors.
The Board has an active role, directly and through its committees, in the oversight of the Company’s risk management efforts. The Board carries out this
oversight role through several levels of review. The Board regularly reviews and discusses with members of management information regarding the management
of risks inherent in the operation of the Company’s business and the implementation of the Company’s strategic plan, including the Company’s risk mitigation
efforts.
Each of the Board’s committees also oversees the management of the Company’s risks that are under each committee’s areas of responsibility. For
example, the audit committee oversees management of accounting, auditing, external reporting, internal controls and cash investment risks. The nominating
committee oversees and assesses the performance of the Board and makes recommendations to the Board from time to time regarding nominees for the Board.
The compensation committee oversees risks arising from compensation practices and policies. While each committee has specific responsibilities for oversight of
risk, the Board is regularly informed by each committee about such risks. In this manner the Board is able to coordinate its risk oversight.
We have adopted a code of conduct and ethics, as amended effective October 12, 2015, that applies to all of our employees, directors and officers,
including our Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and our finance team. The full text of our code of conduct and ethics (as amended) is posted on our
website at www.glowpoint.com/investor-relations and will be made available to stockholders without charge, upon request, in writing to the Corporate Secretary
at 999 18 th Street, Suite 1350S, Denver, Colorado 80202. Disclosure regarding any amendments to, or waivers from, provisions of the code of conduct and
ethics that apply to our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or controller or person performing similar functions will be
included in a Current Report on Form 8-K within four business days following the date of the amendment or waiver, unless website posting of such amendments
or waivers is then permitted by the rules of the national securities exchange on which the Company trades.
Biographies for Executive Officers
Peter Holst, President and Chief Executive Officer. See “Biographies for Board of Directors” above for Mr. Holst’s biography.
David Clark, Chief Financial Officer. Mr. Clark, 50, joined the Company in March 2013 as Chief Financial Officer and leads our financial operations
and investor relations, including financial planning and reporting, accounting, tax and treasury. Mr. Clark has more than 25 years of experience in finance and
accounting. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Clark spent over eight years with Allos Therapeutics, a publicly traded biopharmaceutical company, serving from
2007 to 2012 as Vice President of Finance, Treasurer and acting CFO. While at Allos, Mr. Clark was responsible for oversight and management of all financial
activities, including equity financings, strategic financial planning, and investor relations. Prior to Allos, Mr. Clark spent nearly four years with Seurat Company
(formerly XOR Inc.), an e-commerce managed services company, serving most recently as CFO. Mr. Clark started his career and spent over seven years in the
audit practice of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP. Mr. Clark is an active Certified Public Accountant and received a Master of Accountancy and a B.S. in
Accounting from the University of Denver.
Family Relationships
There are no family relationships between the officers and directors of the Company.
Legal Proceedings
During the past ten years none of our directors or executive officers was involved in any legal proceedings described in subparagraph (f) of Item 401 of
Regulation S-K.
Section 16(A) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance
Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires executive officers and directors and persons who beneficially own more than 10% of a registered class of our
equity securities to file reports of ownership and changes in ownership with the SEC. Executive officers, directors and greater than 10% stockholders are
required by regulations of the SEC to furnish us with copies of all Section 16(a) reports they file.
Based solely on our review of the copies of reports we received, or written representations that no such reports were required for those persons, we
believe that, for the year ended December 31, 2018, all statements of beneficial ownership required to be filed with the SEC were filed on a timely basis.
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Item 11. Executive Compensation
Glowpoint’s Director Compensation
Glowpoint’s director compensation plan provides that non-employee directors are entitled to receive annually: (i) a grant of 25,000 shares of Glowpoint
Restricted Stock or Glowpoint RSUs (pro-rated as necessary for the period of service from the director’s date of appointment to the Glowpoint board of directors
until the next annual meeting of stockholders); and (ii) a retainer fee of $25,000. The annual fee is payable in equal quarterly installments on the first business
day following the end of the calendar quarter, in cash or shares of Glowpoint Restricted Stock, as chosen by the director, on an annual basis on or before
December 31 of the applicable fiscal year. The annual equity grants to directors are made as of the date of the annual meeting of Glowpoint’s stockholders.
During 2018 and effective beginning with grants made in 2018, Glowpoint’s director compensation plan was changed from a grant of Glowpoint Restricted Stock
or Glowpoint RSUs with a grant date fair value of $40,000 to a fixed grant of 25,000 shares of Glowpoint Restricted Stock or Glowpoint RSUs. Grants of
Glowpoint Restricted Stock or Glowpoint RSUs vest on the first anniversary of the grant date or earlier upon the occurrence of certain termination events or
upon a change in control of Glowpoint. Vested Glowpoint RSUs are settled in shares of Glowpoint RSUs common stock on a 1-for-1 basis upon the earliest of (i)
the tenth anniversary of the grant date of the Glowpoint RSUs, (ii) a change in control (as defined in the award agreement) of Glowpoint and (iii) the date of a
director’s separation from service from Glowpoint.
Glowpoint also pays the chairman of its board of directors an additional cash payment of $20,000 per year, the chairperson of Glowpoint’s audit
committee an additional cash payment of $10,000 per year, each of the chairpersons of Glowpoint’s compensation committee and nominating committee an
additional cash payment of $5,000 per year, and each non-chair member of any standing committee an additional cash payment of $3,000 per year, in each case
payable in equal quarterly installments in arrears. In addition, Glowpoint may establish special committees of the board from time to time and provide for
additional retainers in connection therewith.
The following table represents compensation for Glowpoint’s non-employee directors during the year ended December 31, 2018. No stock awards were
granted to Glowpoint’s non-employee directors in 2017, therefore each director received two separate awards of 25,000 shares of RSUs, for a total of 50,000
each. All compensation for Peter Holst, Glowpoint’s Chief Executive Officer and President, during the year ended December 31, 2018 is included in the
Summary Compensation Table under “Glowpoint’s Executive Compensation” below.
Name

Fees Earned or Paid in Cash

Stock Awards (1)

Total Fees

Kenneth Archer
David Giangano

$33,000
$31,000

$10,000
$10,000

$43,000
$41,000

Patrick J. Lombardi
James S. Lusk

$48,000
$43,000

$10,000
$10,000

$58,000
$53,000

(1) These amounts represent the aggregate grant date fair value for awards of restricted stock units for fiscal year 2018 computed in accordance with
FASB ASC Topic 718.
As of December 31, 2018, the aggregate number of shares subject to outstanding stock options, unvested Glowpoint Restricted Stock awards and
unvested Glowpoint RSUs for each non-employee director identified above is set forth below.
Name

Options

Restricted Stock

RSUs

Kenneth Archer
David Giangano

100,000
0

6,269
0

50,000
50,000

Patrick J. Lombardi
James S. Lusk

0
102,500

7,444
6,269

50,000
50,000

In addition, as of December 31, 2018, 987,616 vested Glowpoint RSUs issued to non-employee directors remain outstanding due to the deferred
payment provisions set forth in the Glowpoint RSU awards, and are allocated among the non-employee directors as follows:
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Name

Vested Deferred RSUs

Kenneth Archer
David Giangano
Patrick J. Lombardi
James S. Lusk

239,036
204,660
304,884
239,036

Glowpoint’s Executive Compensation
Summary Compensation Table
The following table sets forth for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 the compensation awarded to, paid to, or earned by: Peter Holst,
Director, Chief Executive Officer and President; and David Clark, Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Secretary (the “named executive officers”), as follows:
Salary
($)

Bonus
($)

Stock Awards (1)
($)

All Other
Compensation ($)

Total
($)

Name and Principal Position

Year

Peter Holst
Director, Chief Executive Officer and President

2018

199,875

171,602

463,238 (3)

10,770 (2)

845,485

2017

199,875

108,750

—

4,773 (2)

313,398

David Clark
Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Secretary

2018

225,133

63,500

137,968 (5)

10,152 (4)

436,753

2017

225,133

43,500

—

7,868 (4)

276,501

(1) No stock awards were granted to Glowpoint’s named executive officers in 2017. These amounts represent the aggregate grant date fair value for
awards of RSUs for 2018, computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718.
(2) Represents a matching contribution under Glowpoint’s 401(k) Plan of $8,250 and $2,253 for 2018 and 2017, respectively, and $2,520 of parking
reimbursement for both 2018 and 2017.
(3) Represents the sum of the grant date fair values of the following awards: (i) 333,333 performance-vested Glowpoint RSUs granted on April 13, 2018
(the “April 2018 PVRSUs”), the terms of which are described below under “Grants of Performance-Vested Restricted Stock Units,” and (iii) 2,313,165
performance-vested Glowpoint RSUs granted on November 19, 2018 (the “November 2018 PVRSUs”), the terms of which are described below under
“Grants of Performance-Vested Restricted Stock Units.” The grant date fair value of the April 2018 PVRSUs and the November 2018 PVRSUs is based
upon achievement of 100% of the target performance.
(4) Represents a matching contribution under Glowpoint’s 401(k) Plan of $7,632 and $5,348 for 2018 and 2017, respectively, and $2,520 of parking
reimbursement for both 2018 and 2017.
(5) Represents the sum of the grant date fair value of the following awards: (i) 340,000 April 2018 PVRSUs, (ii) 116,667 time-based RSUs granted on
April 13, 2018 with vesting scheduled for April 13, 2020 and (iii) 247,456 November 2018 PVRSUs. The grant date fair value of the April 2018 PVRSUs
and the November 2018 PVRSUs is based upon achievement of 100% of the target performance.
Grants of Performance-Vested Restricted Stock Units (“PVRSUs”)
April 2018 PVRSUs. The compensation committee of the Glowpoint board of directors granted April 2018 PVRSUs under the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan
to Mr. Holst and Mr. Clark on April 13, 2018. Each PVRSU represented the right to receive a share of Glowpoint common stock if certain performance goals
were achieved in a specified time period. Any earned PVRSUs were to vest at the end of the applicable measurement period. The performance measures for the
April 2018 PVRSUs were Adjusted EBITDA and Revenue. Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP financial measure that is reconciled to the most comparable GAAP
financial measure for the relevant fiscal year in Item 7 of Glowpoint’s Annual Report on Form 10-K on the year ended 2017. For the 2015 PVRSUs granted to
Mr. Holst, Adjusted EBITDA was weighted at 37.5% and Revenue was weighted at 62.5% for each of the measuring periods. For the 2015 PVRSUs granted to
Mr. Clark, Adjusted EBITDA was weighted at 62.5% and Revenue was weighted at 37.5% for each of the measuring periods. The April 2018 PVRSUs have a
measurement period of calendar year 2018 for Mr. Holst and a measurement period of calendar year for 66% of Mr. Clark’s PVRSUs with the other 34% having
a measurement period of calendar year 2019.The table below sets forth the threshold, target and maximum payout percentages that could have been earned by
each named executive officer based on the threshold, target and maximum levels of Adjusted EBITDA
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and Revenue performance set forth below. The Adjusted EBITDA (as described above) and Revenue performance goals and payout percentages for the 2018
performance period are as summarized in the table below (and the 2019 performance period is the same as for 2018).

Threshold

Vesting Percentage
of Target PVRSUs

Adjusted EBITDA
Fiscal 2018

Revenue
Fiscal 2018

80%

95% of Target Amount
Projected Fiscal 2018 Adjusted EBITDA as set forth in the
2018 Annual Operating Plan
120% of Target Amount

95% of Target Amount
Projected Fiscal 2018 Revenue as set forth in
the 2018 Annual Operating Plan
120% of Target Amount

Target

100%

Maximum

120%

November 2018 PVRSUs. On November 19, 2018, the compensation committee of the Glowpoint board of directors granted Excluded Glowpoint RSUs,
representing in the aggregate the right to receive up to 3,468,414 shares of Glowpoint common stock, which Excluded RSUs, pursuant to the merger agreement,
will remain outstanding following the effective time, and, with respect to these RSUs granted to Glowpoint’s executive officers, shall vest upon the earlier to occur
of (i) termination of such executive officer by Glowpoint following the effective time of the merger or (ii) six months following the effective time, subject to the
executive officer’s continuous employment through the relevant vesting period and subject to the other terms and conditions set forth in the applicable award
agreement. In addition, following the effective time, the Glowpoint board of directors may not take any action to terminate, cancel or amend the terms of the
Excluded Glowpoint RSUs, except as required by applicable law.
Outstanding Equity Awards at 2018 Fiscal Year-End
The table set forth below presents the number and values of exercisable and unexercisable Glowpoint Options and unvested shares of Glowpoint
Restricted Stock and Glowpoint RSUs held by the named executive officers at December 31, 2018:
Option Awards

Name

Grant Date

Peter Holst 1/13/2013

Number of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Options
(#) Exercisable
875,000

Option
Exercise
Price ($)
$

1.98

Stock Awards

Option
Expiration Date

Number of
Shares or Units
of Stock That
Have Not
Vested
(#)

Market Value of
Shares or Units
of Stock That
Have Not
Vested
($) (1)

Equity Incentive Plan
Awards: Number of
Unearned Shares,
Units or Other Rights
That Have Not
Vested

Equity Incentive
Plan Awards: Market
or Payout Value of
Unearned Shares,
Units or Other
Rights That Have
Not Vested ($) (1)

1/13/2023

2/4/2015

62,500 (2)

$

8,125

4/13/2018

333,333 (3)

$

43,333

2,313,165 (4)

$

300,711

4/13/2018

340,000 (3)

$

44,200

4/13/2018

116,667 (5)

$

15,167

11/19/2018

247,456 (4)

$

32,169

11/19/2018
David Clark 3/25/2013

100,000

$

1.51

3/25/2023

2/4/2015

20,000 (2)

$

2,600

(1) The market value of the stock awards is based on the $0.13 closing market price of Glowpoint common stock on December 31, 2018.
(2) Represents an award of Glowpoint RSUs that vest on a time-based method (vesting occurred on January 1, 2019).
(3) Represents the number of April 2018 PVRSUs that would vest under the terms of these awards based upon achievement of 100% of the target
performance.
(4) Represents the number of November 2018 PVRSUs that would vest under the terms of these awards based upon achievement of 100% of the target
performance.
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(5) Represents an award of time-based RSUs, scheduled to vest on April 13, 2020.
401(k) Plan
Glowpoint maintains a tax-qualified 401(k) plan on behalf of its eligible employees, including its named executive officers. Pursuant to the terms of the
plan, for fiscal years 2017 and 2018 eligible employees may defer up to 80% of their salary each year, and Glowpoint matched 50% of an employee’s
contributions on the first 4% of the employee’s salary for 2017 and through February 28, 2018. Effective March 1, 2018, Glowpoint matched 50% of an
employee’s contributions on the first 6% of the employee’s salary. The Glowpoint matching contribution vests over four years.
Agreements with Named Executive Officers
Peter Holst Employment Agreement.
On January 13, 2013, the Board appointed Peter Holst as the Company’s President and Chief Executive Officer, and as a member of the Board. In
connection with his appointment, the Company entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Holst (the “Holst Employment Agreement”). The initial term of
the Holst Employment Agreement, which is terminable at will by either party, expired on December 31, 2014 and is renewed for successive one-year terms if not
otherwise terminated. Pursuant to the Holst Employment Agreement, Mr. Holst initially received an annual base salary of $195,000 and is eligible to receive a
maximum annual incentive bonus equal to 100% of his base salary, at the discretion of the compensation committee of the Board based on meeting certain
financial and non-financial goals. Effective March 1, 2014, the Board increased Mr. Holst’s annual base salary to $199,875. On January 28, 2016, the Company
entered into an Amended and Restated Employment Agreement (the “Amended and Restated Employment Agreement”) with Mr. Holst that amends certain
termination, non-competition, and other provisions of the Holst Employment Agreement. Pursuant to the Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, upon
the Company’s termination of Mr. Holst without cause, the Company is required to pay severance to Mr. Holst equal to twelve months of his base salary plus
100% of his maximum annual target bonus payable for the calendar year in which such termination occurs. Additionally, pursuant to the Amended and Restated
Employment Agreement, if Mr. Holst is terminated within eighteen months of a “change in control” event (as defined in the Amended and Restated Employment
Agreement), the Company must pay Mr. Holst an amount equal to twenty-four months of his base salary, 100% of his maximum annual target bonus payable for
the calendar year in which such termination occurs and the pro-rated portion of Mr. Holst’s maximum annual target bonus amount for the calendar year in which
the effective date of termination occurs. The Amended and Restated Employment Agreement also increases Mr. Holst’s non-competition agreement from six
months to twelve months.
David Clark Employment Agreement.
On March 25, 2013, the Company entered into an employment agreement with David Clark (the “Clark Employment Agreement”) in connection with his
appointment as Chief Financial Officer of the Company. Pursuant to the Clark Employment Agreement, Mr. Clark initially received an annual base salary of
$220,000 and is eligible to receive a maximum annual incentive bonus equal to 50% of his base salary, at the discretion of the compensation committee of the
Board, based on meeting certain financial and non-financial goals. Effective March 1, 2014, the Board increased Mr. Clark’s annual base salary to $225,133. On
January 28, 2016, the Company entered into a First Amendment to Employment Agreement (the “Amendment”) with Mr. Clark that modifies certain provisions of
the Clark Employment Agreement. Pursuant to the Amendment, as amended to date, upon the Company’s termination of Mr. Clark without cause, the Company
is required to pay severance to Mr. Clark in an amount equal to six months of his base salary. Additionally, the Amendment, as amended to date, provides that if
Mr. Clark is terminated (i) during the 18-month period following a “change in control” event (as defined in the Clark Employment Agreement) by Glowpoint
without “cause” or by Mr. Clark for “good reason” (as such terms are defined in the Clark Employment Agreement) or (ii) for any reason following the date that is
six months subsequent to the effective time of the merger, the Company must pay severance to Mr. Clark in an amount equal to eighteen months of his base
salary, 100% of his maximum annual target bonus amount for the calendar year in which the termination occurs and the pro-rated portion of his maximum annual
target bonus amount for the calendar year in which the effective date of termination occurs.
Potential Payments to Named Executive Officers upon Termination or Change-in-Control
This section summarizes the material terms of our contracts and arrangements that may provide payments or benefits upon a Named Executive Officer’s
termination or upon a change in control of the Company. For the purposes of this discussion, set forth below are the standard definitions for the various types of
termination, although exact definitions may vary by agreement and by person.
In accordance with the terms of the 2007 Stock Incentive Plan and 2014 Equity Incentive Plan, upon a Change in Control or Corporate Transaction, as
each such term is defined in such Plans, all shares of restricted stock, restricted stock units and all
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unvested options immediately vest. No Named Executive Officer is entitled to accelerated vesting in connection with Voluntary Resignation, retirement, disability
or a Termination for Cause.
“Voluntary Resignation” means the resignation initiated by the executive officer.
“Resignation for Good Reason” means if the executive officer resigns because: (i) there has been a diminution in his base salary; (ii) the executive
officer is required to be based in an office that is more than a certain distance (e.g., 50 or 75 miles) from the current location of the office; (iii) the executive
officer is assigned duties that are materially inconsistent with his current position; or (iv) there is a material diminution of his status, office, title, responsibility, or
reporting requirements.
“Termination For Cause” means a termination of executive officer’s employment by the Company because, in the judgment of the Company: (i) the
executive officer willfully engaged in any act or omission which is in bad faith and to the detriment of the Company; (ii) the executive officer exhibited unfitness
for service, dishonesty, habitual neglect, persistent and serious deficiencies in performance, or gross incompetence, which conduct is not cured within fifteen
(15) days after receipt by the executive officer of written notice of the conduct; (iii) the executive officer is convicted of a crime; or (iv) the executive officer
refused or failed to act on any reasonable and lawful directive or order from the executive officer’s superior or the Board.
“Termination Without Cause” means a termination for a reason other than Termination For Cause, as defined above.
Under the terms of Mr. Holst’s Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, upon the Company’s termination of Mr. Holst without cause, the
Company is required to pay severance to Mr. Holst equal to twelve months of his base salary plus 100% of his maximum annual target bonus payable for the
calendar year in which such termination occurs. Additionally, if Mr. Holst is terminated within eighteen months of a “change in control” event (as defined in the
Amended and Restated Employment Agreement), the Company must pay Mr. Holst an amount equal to twenty-four months of his base salary, 100% of his
maximum annual target bonus payable for the calendar year in which such termination occurs and the pro-rated portion of Mr. Holst’s maximum annual target
bonus amount for the calendar year in which the effective date of termination occurs.
Under the terms of the Amendment to Mr. Clark’s Employment Agreement, upon the Company’s termination of Mr. Clark without cause, the Company is
required to pay severance to Mr. Clark in an amount equal to six months of his base salary. Additionally, the Amendment provides that if Mr. Clark is terminated
within eighteen months following a “change in control” event (as defined in the Amendment), the Company must pay severance to Mr. Clark in an amount equal
to eighteen months of his base salary, 100% of his maximum annual target bonus amount for the calendar year in which the termination occurs and the pro-rated
portion of his maximum annual target bonus amount for the calendar year in which the effective date of termination occurs.
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters
Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners of Glowpoint Stock
The following table sets forth information regarding the beneficial ownership of our capital stock as of February 28, 2019 by each of the following:
•

each person (or group within the meaning of Section 13(d)(3) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)) known by us to own
beneficially more than 5% of any class of our voting securities;

•

the named executive officers set forth in the Summary Compensation Table under “Executive Compensation” above;

•

each of our directors and director nominees; and

•

all of our directors and executive officers as a group.

The amounts and percentages in the table below are based on shares issued and outstanding as of February 28, 2019; including 50,405,832 shares of
Common Stock, 32 shares of Series A-2 Convertible Preferred Stock (149,295 shares of Common Stock on an as-converted basis), and 475 shares of Series C
Convertible Preferred Stock (1,583,333 shares of Common Stock on an as-converted basis). As used in this table, “beneficial ownership” means the sole or
shared power to vote or direct the voting or to dispose or direct the disposition of any security. A person is considered the beneficial owner of securities that can
be acquired within 60 days of such date through the exercise or conversion of any option, warrant or other derivative security. Shares of Common Stock subject
to options, restricted stock units (“RSUs”), warrants or other derivative securities which are currently exercisable or convertible or are exercisable or convertible
within such 60 days are considered outstanding for computing the ownership percentage of the person holding such options, RSUs, warrants or other derivative
security, but are not considered outstanding for computing the ownership percentage of any other person.
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Common Stock
Name and Address of Beneficial Owners

Amount and Nature of Beneficial
Ownership (2)

(1)

Percent of
Class

Named Executive Officers and Directors:
Peter Holst
David Clark
Kenneth Archer
David Giangano
Patrick J. Lombardi
James S. Lusk
All directors and executive officers as a group
(6 people)

4,228,501

(3)

8.1 %

512,544
357,805
204,660
312,328
386,305

(4)
(5)
(6)
(7)
(8)

1.0
0.7
0.4
0.6
0.7

6,002,144

%
%
%
%
%

11.5 %

Greater than 5% Owners:
Jason T. Adelman
30 E. 72nd Street, Fifth Floor, New York, NY 10021

4,674,000

Norman H. Pessin 366 Madison Avenue, 14th Floor, New York, NY
10017

4,020,034

7.7 %

Sandra F. Pessin 366 Madison Avenue, 14th Floor, New York, NY
10017

3,013,725

5.8 %

(9)

9.0 %

(1) Unless otherwise noted, the address of each person listed is c/o Glowpoint, Inc., 999 18th Street, Suite 1350S, Denver, CO 80202.
(2) Unless otherwise indicated by footnote, the named persons have sole voting and investment power with respect to the shares of Common Stock beneficially
owned.
(3) Includes 3,020,168 shares of Common Stock, 875,000 shares of Common Stock subject to stock options presently exercisable and 333,333 of performancebased RSUs that are expected to vest within 60 days of February 28, 2019.
(4) Includes 189,211 shares of Common Stock, 100,000 shares of Common Stock subject to stock options presently exercisable and 223,333 of performancebased RSU that are expected to vest within 60 days of February 28, 2019.
(5) Includes 12,500 shares of Common Stock, 6,269 shares of unvested restricted Common Stock, 100,000 shares of Common Stock subject to stock options
presently exercisable and 239,036 shares of Common Stock issuable from vested RSUs (for which the shares of Common Stock have not yet been delivered in
accordance with the terms of these RSUs).
(6) Includes 204,660 shares of Common Stock issuable from vested RSUs (for which the shares of Common Stock have not yet been delivered in accordance
with the terms of these RSUs).
(7) Includes 7,444 shares of unvested restricted Common Stock, and 304,884 shares of Common Stock issuable from vested RSUs (for which the shares of
Common Stock have not yet been delivered in accordance with the terms of these RSUs).
(8) Includes 38,750 shares of Common Stock, 6,269 shares of unvested restricted Common Stock, 102,250 shares of Common Stock subject to stock options
presently exercisable and 239,036 shares of Common Stock issuable from vested RSUs (for which the shares of Common Stock have not yet been delivered in
accordance with the terms of these RSUs).
(9) Based on ownership information from an amendment to Schedule 13D filed on February 13, 2019. . The shares of Common Stock beneficially owned by the
Reporting Person includes 4,674,000 shares of the Issuer's Common Stock, of which (i) 3,462,000 shares are held directly by the Reporting Person, (ii) 753,000
shares are held in JTA Resources LLC Retirement Plans, (iii) 254,000 shares are held jointly with the Reporting Person's spouse, and (iv) 205,000 shares are
held by Cipher 06, LLC, of which the Reporting Person is a managing member.
Equity Compensation Plan Information
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See “Part II. Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities--Securities Authorized
for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans” for information concerning our equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2018.
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence
None.
Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services
The audit committee, composed entirely of independent, non-employee members of the Board of Directors, appointed the firm of EisnerAmper LLP
(“EisnerAmper”) as the independent registered public accounting firm for the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
for the fiscal years ending December 31, 2018 and 2017. As our independent registered public accounting firm, EisnerAmper audited our consolidated financial
statements for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2018, reviewed the related interim quarters, and performed audit-related services and consultation in
connection with various accounting and financial reporting matters. EisnerAmper may also perform certain non-audit services for our Company. The audit
committee has determined that the provision of the services provided by EisnerAmper as set forth herein are compatible with maintaining EisnerAmper’s
independence and the prohibitions on performing non-audit services set forth in the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and relevant SEC rules.
Audit Fees
EisnerAmper, our principal accountant, billed us approximately $191,200 for professional services for the audit of our annual consolidated financial
statements for the 2018 fiscal year and the reviews of the consolidated financial statements included in our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q for the 2018 fiscal
year. EisnerAmper billed us $221,200 for professional services for the audit of our annual consolidated financial statements for the 2017 fiscal year and the
reviews of the consolidated financial statements included in our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q for the 2017 fiscal year.
Audit-Related Fees
EisnerAmper billed us $16,640 in the 2018 fiscal year for due diligence services related to the Merger with SharedLabs. EisnerAmper did not bill us in
2017 for any professional services rendered for audit-related items.
Tax Fees
EisnerAmper did not bill us in the 2018 and 2017 fiscal years for any professional services rendered for tax compliance, tax advice or tax planning.
All Other Fees
above.

EisnerAmper did not bill us in the 2018 and 2017 fiscal years for any other products or services other than the audit and audit-related fees described

Audit Committee Pre-Approval Policy
The audit committee is required to pre-approve the engagement of EisnerAmper to perform audit and other services for the Company. Our procedures for
the pre-approval by the audit committee of all services provided by EisnerAmper comply with SEC regulations regarding pre-approval of services. Services
subject to these SEC requirements include audit services, audit-related services, tax services and other services. The audit engagement is specifically approved,
and the auditors are retained by the audit committee. The audit committee also has adopted policies and procedures for pre-approving all non-audit work
performed by EisnerAmper. In accordance with audit committee policy and the requirements of law, all services provided by EisnerAmper in the 2018 and 2017
fiscal years were pre-approved by the audit committee and all services to be provided by EisnerAmper will be pre-approved. Pre-approval includes audit
services, audit-related services, tax services and other services. To avoid certain potential conflicts of interest, the law prohibits a publicly traded company from
obtaining certain non-audit services from its auditing firm. We obtain these services from other service providers as needed.
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PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
A. The following documents are filed as part of this Report:
1. Consolidated Financial Statements:
Page
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2018 and 2017
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017

F-1
F-2
F-3
F-4

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

F-5
F-6

2. Financial Statement Schedules have been omitted since they are either not required, not applicable, or the information is otherwise included.
3. Exhibits:
A list of exhibits required to be filed as part of this Report is set forth in the Exhibit Index on page 48 of this Form 10-K, which immediately precedes such
exhibits, and is incorporated by reference.
Item 16. Form 10-K Summary
None.
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EXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibit
Number
2.1
2.2†
3.1
3.2

3.3

3.4
3.5
4.1
4.2
4.3
4.4
4.5
4.6
4.7
4.8
10.1#
10.2#
10.3#
10.4#
10.5#

Description
Agreement and Plan of Merger dated August 12, 2012 (filed as Exhibit 2.1 to Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) on August 13, 2012, and incorporated herein by reference).
Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated December 20, 2018, by and amount Glowpoint, Inc., Glowpoint Merger Sub, Inc. and SharedLabs,
Inc. (filed as Exhibit 2.1 to Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 27, 2018, and incorporated herein by
reference).
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (filed as Appendix D to View Tech, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-4 (File
No. 333-95145) filed with the SEC on January 21, 2000, and incorporated herein by reference).
Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Wire One Technologies, Inc. changing its name to
Glowpoint, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.2 to Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 30, 2004, and incorporated
herein by reference).
Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Glowpoint, Inc. increasing its authorized common
stock to 150,000,000 shares from 100,000,000 shares (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC
on September 24, 2007, and incorporated herein by reference).
Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Glowpoint, Inc. effecting a one-for-four reverse stock
split of the common stock of Glowpoint, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
January 13, 2011, and incorporated herein by reference).
Amended and Restated By-laws (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 8, 2011,
and incorporated herein by reference).
Specimen Common Stock Certificate (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on June 6, 2007,
and incorporated herein by reference).
Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Rights of Series D Preferred Stock (filed as Exhibit 4.6 to Registrant’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 24, 2007, and incorporated herein by reference).
Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Rights of Series A-2 Preferred Stock of Glowpoint (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to Registrant’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 11, 2009, and incorporated herein by reference).
Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Rights of Perpetual Series B Preferred Stock of Glowpoint (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to Registrant’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on March 30, 2010, and incorporated herein by reference).
Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Rights of Perpetual Series B-1 Preferred Stock of Glowpoint (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to Registrant’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 9, 2011, and incorporated herein by reference).
Warrant to Purchase Shares of Common Stock, by and between Glowpoint, Inc. and Super G Capital, LLC, dated as of July 31, 2017 (filed
as Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 1, 2017, and incorporated herein by reference).
Certificate of Designations of Rights, Powers, Preferences, Privileges and Restrictions of the 0% Series B Convertible Preferred Stock (filed
as Exhibit 3.1 to Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on November 14, 2017, and incorporated herein by
reference).
Certificate of Designations of Rights, Powers, Preferences, Privileges and Restrictions of the 0% Series C Convertible Preferred Stock (filed
as Exhibit 3.1 to Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on January 25, 2018, and incorporated herein by reference).
Glowpoint, Inc. 2000 Stock Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 4.9 to Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on
November 7, 2000, and incorporated herein by reference).
Glowpoint, Inc. 2007 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended through June 1, 2011 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant’s Current Report on Form
8-K filed with the SEC on June 2, 2011, and incorporated herein by reference).
Form of Stock Option Award Agreement (filed as Exhibit 99.1 to Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on March 15,
2012, and incorporated herein by reference).
Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement (filed as Exhibit 99.2 to Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on March
15, 2012, and incorporated herein by reference).
Glowpoint, Inc. 2014 Equity Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 2,
2014, and incorporated herein by reference).
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10.6#
10.7#
10.8#
10.9#
10.10#
10.11#
10.12#
10.13#
10.14
10.15#
10.16#
10.17#
10.18#
10.19#
10.20#
10.21

10.22

10.23

2015 Form of Performance-Vested Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (Executive Officers) (filed as Exhibit 10.6 to Registrant’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 5, 2015, and incorporated herein by reference).
2015 Form of Performance-Vested Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (Employees) (filed as Exhibit 10.7 to Registrant’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 5, 2015, and incorporated herein by reference).
2016 Form of Performance-Vested Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (Executive Officers) (filed as Exhibit 10.8 to Registrant’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 31, 2017, and incorporated herein by reference).
2016 Form of Performance-Vested Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (Employees) (filed as Exhibit 10.9 to Registrant’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 31, 2017, and incorporated herein by reference).
Form of Time-Vested Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (Executive Officers) (filed as Exhibit 10.8 to Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10K filed with the SEC on March 5, 2015, and incorporated herein by reference).
Form of Time-Vested Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (Employees) (filed as Exhibit 10.9 to Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed
with the SEC on March 5, 2015, and incorporated herein by reference).
Form of Restricted Stock Grant Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.12 to Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March
31, 2017, and incorporated herein by reference).
Form of Director Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.8 to Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on
March 5, 2015, and incorporated herein by reference).
Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of August 9, 2013, by and between Glowpoint, Inc. and GP Investment Holdings, LLC (filed as
Exhibit 10.2 to Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 13, 2013, and incorporated herein by reference).
Amended and Restated Employment Agreement between Glowpoint, Inc. and Peter Holst, dated as of January 28, 2016 (filed as Exhibit
10.1 to Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on January 29, 2016, and incorporated herein by reference).
Employment Agreement between Glowpoint, Inc. and David Clark, dated as of March 25, 2013 (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Registrant’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on March 28, 2013, and incorporated herein by reference).
First Amendment to Employment Agreement between Glowpoint, Inc. and David Clark, dated as of January 28, 2016 (filed as Exhibit 10.2
to Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on January 29, 2016, and incorporated herein by reference).
Severance and Release Agreement between Glowpoint, Inc. and Scott Zumbahlen, dated as of February 9, 2015 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 13, 2015, and incorporated herein by reference).
Severance and Release Agreement by and between Glowpoint, Inc. and Gary Iles dated June 10, 2016 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 16, 2016, and incorporated herein by reference).
Form of Retention Bonus Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on November
4, 2016, and incorporated herein by reference).
Loan Agreement, dated October 17, 2013, by and among Glowpoint, Inc. and its subsidiaries and Main Street Capital Corporation, as
administrative agent and collateral agent for itself and the other lenders from time to time party thereto (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 23, 2013, and incorporated herein by reference).
First Amendment to Loan Agreement, dated February 27, 2015, by and among Glowpoint, Inc. and its subsidiaries and Main Street Capital
Corporation, as administrative agent and collateral agent for itself and the other lenders from time to time party thereto (filed as Exhibit
10.26 to Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 5, 2015, and incorporated herein by reference).
Third Amended and Restated Nonnegotiable Promissory Note in favor of Shareholder Representative Services LLC, on behalf of the prior
stockholders of Affinity VideoNet, Inc., dated as of February 27, 2015 (filed as Exhibit 10.27 to Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
filed with the SEC on March 5, 2015, and incorporated herein by reference).

10.24#

Form of Indemnification Agreement for directors and officers (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 2,
2014, and incorporated herein by reference).

10.25

Payoff Letter, by and among Glowpoint, Inc., each of the company’s subsidiaries, Main Street Capital Corporation, and Main Street Equity
Investments, Inc., dated as of July 21, 2017 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 1, 2017, and
incorporated herein by reference).
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10.26
10.27
10.28
10.29
10.30
10.31
10.32

10.33

Redemption Agreement, by and among Glowpoint, Inc., Main Street Equity Interests, Inc., Main Street Mezzanine Fund, LP, and Main
Street Capital II, LP, dated as of July 27, 2017 (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 1, 2017, and
incorporated herein by reference).
Note Exchange Agreement, by and between Glowpoint, Inc. and Shareholder Representative Services LLC, dated as of July 31, 2017 (filed
as Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 1, 2017, and incorporated herein by reference).
Business Financing Agreement, by and among Glowpoint, Inc., GP Communications, LLC and Western Alliance Bank, dated as of July 31,
2017 (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 1, 2017, and incorporated herein by reference).
Business Loan and Security Agreement, by and among Glowpoint, Inc. and Super G Capital, LLC, dated as of July 31, 2017 (filed as
Exhibit 10.5 to the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 1, 2017, and incorporated herein by reference).
Form of Securities Purchase Agreement, dated October 23, 2017 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
October 23, 2017, and incorporated herein by reference).
Form of Securities Purchase Agreement, dated January 22, 2018 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
January 22, 2017, and incorporated herein by reference).
Business Financing Modification Agreement, by and among Glowpoint, Inc., GP Communications, LLC and Western Alliance Bank, dated
as of January 18, 2018 (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on January 22, 2018, and incorporated herein
by reference).
Business Financing Modification Agreement, by and among Glowpoint, Inc., GP Communications, LLC and Western Alliance Bank, dated
as of March 5, 2018 (filed as Exhibit 10.33 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 7, 2018, and
incorporated herein by reference).

10.34#

First Amendment to Glowpoint, Inc. 2014 Equity Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with
the SEC on June 1, 2018, and incorporated herein by reference).

21.1

Subsidiaries of Glowpoint, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 21.1 to Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 5, 2015, and
incorporated herein by reference).

23.1*
24.1
31.1*
31.2*
32.1**

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm-EisnerAmper LLP.
Power of Attorney (included in the signature page hereto)
Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of the Chief Executive Officer.
Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of the Chief Financial Officer.
Section 1350 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer.

101.INS
101.SCH
101.CAL
101.DEF
101.LAB

XBRL Instance Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase

101.PRE

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase

———————
# Constitutes a management contract, compensatory plan or arrangement.
* Filed herewith.
** Furnished herewith.
† Schedules have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. The registrant hereby undertakes to furnish supplementally copies of any of the
omitted schedules upon request by the SEC.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirement of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
March 8, 2019
GLOWPOINT, INC.
By:

/s/ Peter Holst
Peter Holst
Chief Executive Officer and President

POWER OF ATTORNEY
KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Peter Holst and David Clark jointly
and severally, his attorneys-in-fact, each with power of substitution, for him in any and all capacities, to sign any amendments to this Report on Form 10-K, and
file the same, with exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, hereby ratifying and confirming
all that each of said attorneys-in-fact, or his substitute or substitutes, may do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
registrant as of this 8 th day of March 2019 in the capacities indicated.
/s/ Peter Holst

Chief Executive Officer, President and Director (Principal Executive Officer)

Peter Holst
/s/ David Clark

Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

David Clark
/s/ Patrick Lombardi

Director and Chairman of the Board

Patrick Lombardi
/s/ Kenneth Archer

Director

Kenneth Archer
/s/ David Giangano

Director

David Giangano
/s/ James Lusk

Director

James Lusk
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Glowpoint, Inc.
Opinion on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Glowpoint, Inc. and Subsidiaries (the “Company") as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and
the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the years then ended, and the related notes (collectively
referred to as the “financial statements”). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the
Company as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years then ended, in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
Basis for Opinion
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial
statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) ("PCAOB") and
are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the
Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor
were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of internal
control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting.
Accordingly, we express no such opinion.
Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing
procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ EisnerAmper LLP
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2010.
EISNERAMPER LLP
Iselin, New Jersey
March 8, 2019
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GLOWPOINT, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except par value, stated value and shares)
December 31,
2018

December 31,
2017

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash

$

Accounts receivable, net

2,007

$

1,371

Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Goodwill
Intangibles, net
Other assets

1,220

547

715

3,925

5,881

728

1,159

2,795

7,750

499

626

15
$

Total assets

3,946

8

7,962

$

15,424

—

$

1,194

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Current portion of long-term debt

$

Accounts payable

222

337

Accrued expenses and other liabilities

910

1,262

1,132

2,793

—

369

Total current liabilities
Long-term liabilities:
Long-term debt, net of current portion
Total long-term liabilities

—

369

1,132

3,162

Preferred stock Series A-2, convertible; $.0001 par value; $7,500 stated value; 7,500 shares authorized, 32 shares
issued and outstanding and liquidation preference of $308 at December 31, 2018 and $296 at December 31, 2017

—

—

Preferred stock Series B, convertible; $.0001 par value; $1,000 stated value; 2,800 shares authorized, 75 shares issued
and outstanding and liquidation preference of $75 at December 31, 2018 and 450 shares issued and outstanding
and liquidation preference of $450 at December 31, 2017

—

—

Preferred stock Series C, convertible; $.0001 par value; $1,000 stated value; 1,750 shares authorized, 525 shares issued
and outstanding and liquidation preference of $525 at December 31, 2018 and none at December 31, 2017

—

—

Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (see Note 13)
Stockholders’ equity:

Common stock, $.0001 par value; 150,000,000 shares authorized; 51,137,000 shares issued and 49,812,000
outstanding at December 31, 2018 and 45,161,000 shares issued and 44,510,000 outstanding at December 31,
2017

5

Treasury stock, 1,325,000 and 651,000 shares at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively

5

(496)

(352)

Additional paid-in capital

184,994

183,114

Accumulated deficit

(177,673)

(170,505)

Total stockholders’ equity

6,830
$

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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7,962

12,262
$

15,424

GLOWPOINT, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except per share data)
Year Ended December 31,
2018
Revenues

$

2017

12,557

$

14,799

Operating expenses:
Cost of revenues (exclusive of depreciation and amortization)
Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Impairment charges
Depreciation and amortization
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Interest and other (income) expense:
Interest expense and other, net
Gain on extinguishment of debt
Amortization of debt discount
Interest and other (income) expense, net
Income (loss) before income taxes
Income tax expense (benefit)

7,598
921

8,606
1,148

319
4,611
5,093
755

413
3,665
1,713
1,621

19,297

17,166

(6,740)

(2,367)

311
(165)
269

1,017
(9,045)
106

415

(7,922)

(7,155)
13
$

Net income (loss)
Preferred stock dividends

(7,168)

5,555
(230)
$

5,785

12

70

$

(7,180)

$

5,715

Basic net income (loss) per share

$

(0.15)

$

0.15

Diluted net income (loss) per share

$

(0.15)

$

0.14

Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders per share:

Weighted-average number of common shares:
Basic
Diluted

47,950
47,950

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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37,603
41,440

GLOWPOINT, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(In thousands, except shares of Series A-2, Series B and Series C Preferred Stock)
Series A-2 Preferred Stock

Shares
Balance at December 31,
2016

Series B Preferred Stock

Amount

Shares

Series C Preferred Stock

Amount

Shares

Common Stock

Amount

Shares

Treasury Stock

Amount

Shares

32

—

—

—

—

—

36,659

4

204

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

Stock-based
compensation

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

Issuance of preferred
stock

—

—

2,800

—

—

—

—

Preferred stock
conversion

—

—

(2,350)

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

Other equity issuance
costs

—

—

—

—

Purchase of treasury
stock

—

—

—

Purchase of treasury
stock from Main
Street
Redemption
Agreement

—

—

—

Net income

Forfeited restricted stock
Issuance of stock on
vested restricted
stock units
Preferred stock dividends

(219)

Accumulated Deficit

Total

180,433

(176,290)

3,928

—

—

5,785

5,785

—

—

458

—

458

—

—

—

2,280

—

2,280

8,393

1

—

—

(1)

—

—

(14)

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

123

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(12)

—

(12)

—

—

—

—

—

—

(11)

—

(11)

—

—

—

—

—

42

(12)

—

—

(12)

—

—

—

—

—

7,712

(2,313)

—

—

(2,313)

Issuance of shares from
treasury for SRS
Note Exchange

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(7,307)

Balance at December 31,
2017

32

$

—

450

$

—

—

—

45,161

$

5

651

$

—

$

$

$

$

Net loss

Additional Paid-In
Capital

Amount

2,192
(352)

2,159

$

(170,505)

$

12,262

—

$

(7,168)

$

(7,168)

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

365

—

365

Issuance of preferred
stock

—

—

—

—

1,750

—

—

—

—

—

1,527

—

1,527

Preferred stock
conversion

—

—

—

(1,225)

—

5,423

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(12)

—

(12)

Issuance of stock on
vested restricted
stock units

—

—

—

—

—

—

553

—

—

—

—

—

Purchase of treasury
stock

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

674

(144)

—

Balance at December 31,
2018

32

—

75

—

525

—

51,137

5

1,325

(496)

184,994

(375)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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$

—

183,114

Stock-based
compensation

Preferred stock dividends

—

(33)
$

—
(144)

(177,673)

6,830

GLOWPOINT, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)
Year Ended December 31,
2018

2017

Cash flows from Operating Activities:
Net income (loss)

$

(7,168)

$

5,785

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization

755

Bad debt expense (recovery)

9

Amortization of debt discount

269

Non-cash interest expense

1,621
(2)
106

—

Gain on debt extinguishment

213

(165)

(9,045)

Stock-based compensation

365

Impairment charges on property & equipment

138

238

4,955

1,475

Impairment charges on goodwill
Deferred tax benefit

458

—

(230)

Changes in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Other assets
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and other liabilities
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

(160)

421

168

263

(7)

2

(115)

262

(199)

42

(1,155)

1,609

Cash flows from Investing Activities:
Purchases of property and equipment
Net cash used in investing activities

(335)

(133)

(335)

(133)

Cash flows from Financing Activities:
Principal payments under borrowing arrangements

(1,832)

(605)

Proceeds from new loan agreements

—

Payment of equity issuance costs

—

(45)

Payment of debt issuance costs

—

(175)

Proceeds from Series B preferred stock, net of expenses of $520

—

Proceeds from Series C preferred stock, net of expenses of $223

1,527

Purchase of treasury stock
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

2,200

2,280
—

(144)

(2,325)

(449)

1,330

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

(1,939)

2,806

Cash at beginning of period

3,946

1,140

$

2,007

$

3,946

$

318

$

878

Conversion of preferred stock to common stock

$

—

$

1

Retired debt and accrued interest obligations in exchange for treasury stock

$

—

$

2,192

Accrued preferred stock dividends

$

12

$

12

Cash at end of period
Supplement disclosures of cash flow information:
Cash paid during the period for interest
Non-cash investing and financing activities:

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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GLOWPOINT, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Note 1 - Business Description and Significant Accounting Policies
Business Description
Glowpoint, Inc. (“Glowpoint” or “we” or “us” or the “Company”) is a managed service provider of video collaboration and network applications. Our services
are designed to provide a comprehensive suite of automated and concierge applications to simplify the user experience and expedite the adoption of video as the
primary means of collaboration. Our customers include Fortune 1000 companies, along with small and medium enterprises in a variety of industries. We market
our services globally through a multi-channel sales approach that includes direct sales and channel partners. The Company was formed as a Delaware
corporation in May 2000. The Company operates in one segment and therefore segment information is not presented.
On October 24, 2018, we entered into a non-binding letter of intent with SharedLabs, Inc. (“SharedLabs”), a privately held global software and technology
services company located in Jacksonville, Florida, with respect to the proposed acquisition by us of 100% of the issued and outstanding equity securities of
SharedLabs in exchange for shares of our Common Stock, par value $0.0001 per share (“Common Stock”). On December 20, 2018, we entered into an
Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger Agreement”) with Glowpoint Merger Sub, Inc., a Delaware corporation and a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of
Glowpoint (the “Merger Sub”), and SharedLabs. The Merger Agreement provides that, among other things and subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the
Merger Agreement, (i) Glowpoint will effect a reverse stock split of its shares of Common Stock, at a ratio to be approved by Glowpoint’s stockholders and board
of directors, and which ratio, as set forth in the Merger Agreement, will not be greater than 1-for-30 without SharedLabs’ approval; (ii) the Merger Sub will merge
with and into SharedLabs (the “Merger”), with SharedLabs surviving as a wholly-owned subsidiary of Glowpoint; and (iii) in connection therewith, each share of
capital stock of SharedLabs issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time (as defined in the Merger Agreement) of the Merger (other than
Excluded Shares (as defined in the Merger Agreement)) will be converted into the right to receive shares of Glowpoint’s Common Stock (the “Merger
Consideration”).
The completion of the Merger is subject to satisfaction or waiver of certain closing conditions, including obtaining shareholder approval. As of the date of this
Report, we believe that SharedLabs is working to prepare its 2018 year-end financial statements, and working with is independent auditors to complete the audit
thereof, for inclusion in the Form S-4. When SharedLabs’ 2018 audited financial statements are available, we and SharedLabs will work to prepare the Form S-4
for filing with the SEC. However, there can be no assurances regarding SharedLabs’ ability to prepare such financial statements and finalize an audit. As a
result, there can be no assurance that the parties will be able to file the Form S-4, including SharedLabs’ audited financial statements, on a timely basis. In
addition, there can be no assurance that the business combination will be completed on the terms set forth in the Merger Agreement or at all. In the event that
the business combination is consummated, there can be no assurance that it will ultimately prove to be beneficial to our stockholders. If the Merger transaction
is not completed for any reason, our business and operations, as well as the market price of our stock, may be adversely affected.
Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Glowpoint and our 100%-owned subsidiary, GP Communications, LLC, whose business
function is to provide interstate telecommunications services for regulatory purposes. All material inter-company balances and transactions have been eliminated
in consolidation.
Reclassification
Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform with the current year presentation.
Use of Estimates
Preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“U.S. GAAP”) requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual amounts could differ from the
estimates made. We continually evaluate estimates used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements for reasonableness. Appropriate
adjustments, if any, to the estimates used are made prospectively based upon such periodic evaluation. The significant areas of estimation include
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determining the allowance for doubtful accounts, deferred tax valuation allowance, accrued sales taxes and regulatory fees, stock-based compensation, the
valuation of goodwill, the valuation of intangible assets and their estimated lives, and the estimated lives and recoverability of property and equipment.
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
We perform ongoing credit evaluations of our customers. We record an allowance for doubtful accounts based on specifically identified amounts that are
believed to be uncollectible. We also record additional allowances based on our aged receivables, which are determined based on historical experience and an
assessment of the general financial conditions affecting our customer base. If our actual collections experience changes, revisions to our allowance may be
required. After all attempts to collect a receivable have failed, the receivable is written off against the allowance. We do not obtain collateral from our customers
to secure accounts receivable. The allowance for doubtful accounts was $8,000 and $3,000 at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The Company considers its cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable and former debt obligations to meet the definition of financial instruments. The
carrying amount of cash, accounts receivable and accounts payable approximated their fair value due to the short maturities of these instruments. The carrying
amounts of our former debt obligations (see Note 8) approximate their fair values, which are based on borrowing rates that are available to the Company for
loans with similar terms, collateral, and maturity.
The Company measures fair value as required by Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 820 “Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures” (“ASC
Topic 820”). ASC Topic 820 defines fair value, establishes a framework and gives guidance regarding the methods used for measuring fair value, and expands
disclosures about fair value measurements. ASC Topic 820 clarifies that fair value is an exit price, representing the amount that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants. As such, fair value is a market-based measurement that should be
determined based on assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability. As a basis for considering such assumptions, there exists a
three-tier fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair value as follows:
•

Level 1 - unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Company has the ability to access as of the measurement
date.

•

Level 2 - inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are directly observable for the asset or liability or indirectly observable through
corroboration with observable market data.

•

Level 3 - unobservable inputs for the asset or liability only used when there is little, if any, market activity for the asset or liability at the measurement
date.

This hierarchy requires the Company to use observable market data, when available, and to minimize the use of unobservable inputs when determining fair
value. The fair value of the Super G warrant liability as of December 31, 2017 (see Note 7 and Note 8) was considered to be Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy
and was estimated using an option pricing model.
Revenue Recognition
In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standard Update (ASU) 2014-09 (Topic 606) “ Revenue from Contracts
with Customers.” Topic 606 supersedes the revenue recognition requirements in Accounting Standards Codification Topic 605 “ Revenue Recognition” (Topic
605), and requires entities to recognize revenue when control of promised goods or services is transferred to customers at an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled to in exchange for those goods or services. On January 1, 2018, we adopted Topic 606 using the modified
retrospective method applied to those contracts which were not completed as of January 1, 2018. The Company recognizes revenue using the five-step model
as prescribed by Topic 606:
•

Identification of the contract, or contracts, with a customer;

•

Identification of the performance obligations in the contract;

•

Determination of the transaction price;

•

Allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and

•

Recognition of revenue when or as the Company satisfies a performance obligation.

-F-7-

Our managed videoconferencing services are offered to our customers on either a usage basis or on a monthly subscription. Our network services are
offered to our customers on a monthly subscription basis. Revenue for these services is generally recognized on a monthly basis as services are performed.
Revenue related to professional services is recognized at the time the services are performed. Results for reporting periods beginning after January 1, 2018 are
presented under Topic 606, while prior period amounts are not adjusted and continue to be reported in accordance with our historic accounting under Accounting
Standards Codification Topic 605. We did not record an adjustment to opening accumulated deficit as of January 1, 2018 as the cumulative impact of adopting
Topic 606 was not material. The costs associated with obtaining a customer contract were previously expensed in the period they were incurred. Under Topic
606, these payments are deferred on our consolidated balance sheet and amortized over the expected life of the customer contract. The impact to sales and
marketing expense for the year ended December 31, 2018 was not material as a result of applying Topic 606. Deferred revenue as of December 31, 2018
totaled $43,000 as certain performance obligations were not satisfied as of this date. During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company recorded
$350,000 of revenue that was included in deferred revenue as of December 31, 2017. The Company disaggregates its revenue by geographic region. See Note
15 for more information.
Taxes Billed to Customers and Remitted to Taxing Authorities
We recognize taxes billed to customers in revenue and taxes remitted to taxing authorities in our cost of revenue. For the years ended December 31, 2018
and 2017, we included taxes of $440,000 and $546,000, respectively, in revenue and we included taxes of $447,000 and $542,000, respectively, in cost of
revenue.
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and Intangible Assets
The Company assesses the impairment of long-lived assets used in operations, primarily fixed assets and purchased intangible assets subject to
amortization when events and circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the assets might not be recoverable. For purposes of evaluating the
recoverability of fixed assets, the undiscounted cash flows estimated to be generated by those assets are compared to the carrying amounts of those assets. If
and when the carrying values of the assets exceed their fair values, then the related assets will be written down to fair value. Fair value of our intangible assets
is determined using the relief from royalty methodology. This approach involves two steps: (a) estimating reasonable royalty rates for each intangible asset and
(b) applying these royalty rates to a net revenue stream and discounting the resulting cash flows to determine fair value. This fair value is then compared with the
carrying value of each intangible asset. If the carrying amount of the intangible asset is greater than its implied fair value, an impairment in the amount of the
excess is recognized and charged to operations. It was determined at both December 31, 2018 and 2017 that the fair value of the Company’s fixed assets
exceeded their carrying amounts, and, therefore, no related impairments were required.
The determination of related estimated useful lives and whether or not these assets are impaired involves significant judgments, related primarily to the
future profitability and/or future value of the assets. Changes in the Company’s strategic plan and/or other-than-temporary changes in market conditions could
significantly impact these judgments and could require adjustments to recorded asset balances. Long-lived assets are evaluated for impairment at least annually,
as well as whenever an event or change in circumstances has occurred that could have a significant adverse effect on the fair value of long-lived assets (see
Notes 5 and 6).
Capitalized Software Costs
The Company capitalizes certain costs incurred in connection with developing or obtaining internal-use software. All software development costs have been
appropriately accounted for as required by ASC Topic 350-40 “Intangible – Goodwill and Other – Internal-Use Software”. Capitalized software costs are included
in “Property and equipment” on our consolidated balance sheets and are amortized over three to four years. Software costs that do not meet capitalization
criteria are expensed as incurred. For the year ended December 31, 2018, we capitalized internal-use software costs of $265,000 and we amortized $372,000
of these costs. For the year ended December 31, 2017, we capitalized internal-use software costs of $126,000 and we amortized $625,000 of these costs.
During the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, we recorded impairment losses of $138,000 and $232,000, respectively, for certain discrete projects that
were abandoned. These charges are recognized as “Impairment Charges” on our Consolidated Statements of Operations.
Deferred Financing Costs
Deferred financing costs relate to fees and expenses incurred in connection with entering into our debt agreements (see Note 8) and are amortized as
interest expense over the contractual lives of the related credit facilities. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, unamortized deferred financing costs of $0 and
$138,000, respectively, are included as a direct reduction of the carrying amount of our debt.
Concentration of Credit Risk
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Financial instruments that potentially subject us to significant concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash, and trade accounts receivable. We
place our cash primarily in commercial checking accounts. Commercial bank balances may from time to time exceed federal insurance limits.
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are stated at cost and are depreciated over the estimated useful lives of the related assets, which range from three to five years.
Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of either the asset’s useful life or the related lease term. Depreciation is computed on the straight-line
method for financial reporting purposes.
Income Taxes
We use the asset and liability method to determine our income tax expense or benefit. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are computed based on temporary
differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities and are measured using the enacted tax rates that are expected to be in effect
when the differences are expected to be recovered or settled. Any resulting net deferred tax assets are evaluated for recoverability and, accordingly, a valuation
allowance is provided when it is more likely than not that all or some portion of the deferred tax asset will not be realized.
Stock-based Compensation
Stock-based awards have been accounted for as required by ASC Topic 718 “Compensation – Stock Compensation” (“ASC Topic 718”). Under ASC Topic
718 stock-based awards are valued at fair value on the date of grant, and that fair value is recognized over the requisite service period.
Research and Development
Research and development expenses include internal and external costs related to developing new service offerings and features and enhancements to our
existing services.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In February 2016 the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, “Leases (Topic 842),” as amended. The guidance introduces a lessee model that results in most leases
impacting the balance sheet. The ASU addresses other concerns related to the current leases model. Under Topic 842, lessees will be required to recognize for
all leases with terms longer than 12 months, at the commencement date of the lease, a lease liability, which is a lessee’s obligation to make lease payments
arising from a lease measured on a discounted basis, and a right-to-use asset, which is an asset that represents the lessee’s right to use or control the use of a
specified asset for the lease term. Leases will be classified as either finance or operating, with classification affecting the pattern of expense recognition. The
update is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, including interim periods within those fiscal years. Our operating lease for our office space
in California, as disclosed in Note 13, will be recognized as a right-of-use asset and operating lease liability on our balance sheet upon adoption on January 1,
2019, which will increase our total assets and liabilities by approximately $100,000, respectively.
In June 2016 the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, “Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326).” The amendments introduce an impairment model that is
based on expected credit losses, rather than incurred losses, to estimate credit losses on certain types of financial instruments (e.g., loans and held-to-maturity
securities), including certain off-balance sheet financial instruments (e.g., loan commitments). The expected credit losses should consider historical information,
current information, and reasonable and supportable forecasts, including estimates of prepayments, over the contractual term. Financial instruments with similar
risk characteristics may be grouped together when estimating expected credit losses. In addition, the amendments provide for a simplified accounting model for
purchased financial assets with a more-than-insignificant amount of credit deterioration since their origination. The update is effective for fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2019, including interim periods within those fiscal years. We believe the effect of adopting this guidance on our consolidated financial
statements and related disclosures will not be material.
In June 2018 the FASB issued ASU 2018-07, “ Compensation - Stock Compensation (Topic 718).” The guidance simplifies the accounting for share-based
payments to nonemployees by aligning it with the accounting for share-based payments to employees, with certain exceptions. The new guidance expands the
scope to include share-based payments granted to nonemployees in exchange for goods or services used or consumed in an entity’s own operations and
supersedes the guidance in ASC 505-50. The update is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, including interim periods within those
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fiscal years, and should apply to all new awards granted after the date of adoption. We believe the effect of adopting this guidance on our consolidated financial
statements and related disclosures will not be material.
Note 2 - Liquidity
As of December 31, 2018, we had $2,007,000 of cash and working capital of $2,793,000. For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, we generated
a net loss of $7,168,000 and net income of $5,785,000, respectively, and net cash used in operating activities of $1,155,000 and net cash provided by operating
activities of $1,609,000, respectively. A significant portion of our cash flow from operations during 2018 and 2017 was dedicated to the payment of interest on
our then-existing indebtedness, thereby reducing our ability to use our cash flow to fund our operations, capital expenditures and investments in sales and
marketing. During the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, our cash flow from operations was reduced by $318,000 and $878,000, respectively, for
interest payments on our then-existing indebtedness.
During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company completed a series of transactions (each of which is described further in Notes 9 and 11 below, as
applicable) that improved our financial position and reduced the outstanding principal on our debt obligations from $1,832,000 as of December 31, 2017 to $0 as
of December 31, 2018. The following is a summary of these transactions:
•
On January 25, 2018, the Company closed a registered direct offering of 1,750 shares of our 0% Series C Convertible Preferred Stock (the
“Series C Preferred Stock”) for net proceeds of $1,527,000 (the “Series C Offering”).
•
On January 26, 2018, the Company terminated the Business Loan and Security Agreement, dated July 31, 2017, by and between the
Company and Super G Capital LLC (“Super G”), along with the accompanying Warrant to Purchase Shares of Common Stock, dated July 31, 2017, and
paid off all remaining debt obligations with Super G (“the Super G Payoff”).
•
During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company made total principal payments of $800,000 on the Western Alliance Bank Loan
Agreement, resulting in no outstanding debt as of December 31, 2018.
Our capital requirements continue to depend on numerous factors, including the timing and amount of revenue, the expense to deliver our services, expense
for sales and marketing, expense for research and development, capital improvements, the number of shares repurchased under the Company’s Stock
Repurchase Program, the cost involved in protecting our intellectual property rights, and expenses related to the proposed Merger with SharedLabs. The
Company believes that, based on our current projection of revenue, expenses, capital expenditures and cash flows, it has sufficient resources to fund its
operations on a stand-alone basis for at least the next twelve months following the filing of this Report. However, there is no assurance the Company will be
able to accomplish this during this period or in the future following such period. In addition, we cannot predict the liquidity position of the combined organization
at any point following the Merger, which is subject to, among other things, business decisions of the combined organization’s management and board of
directors. We anticipate negative cash flow from operations in 2019 and we believe additional capital may be required to fund investments in product
development and sales and marketing as a means to reverse our negative revenue trends. While we expect to continue to adjust our cost of revenue and other
operating expenses to partially offset the impact of revenue declines associated with our legacy services, we believe additional capital may be necessary to fund
our obligations over the longer term. In the event we need access to capital to fund operations or provide growth capital, we would likely need to raise capital in
one or more equity offerings. There can be no assurance that we will be successful in raising necessary capital or that any such offering will be on terms
acceptable to the Company. If we are unable to raise additional capital that may be needed on terms acceptable to us, it could have a material adverse effect on
the Company. In addition, the Merger Agreement includes provisions applicable prior to the earlier of the (i) closing of the Merger or (ii) termination of the Merger
Agreement that restrict Glowpoint’s ability to raise capital through equity or debt financings without SharedLabs’ consent.

Note 3 - Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets
Prepaid expenses and other current assets consisted of the following (in thousands):
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December 31,
2018
Prepaid insurance

$

Prepaid maintenance contracts
Other prepaid expenses
Prepaid software licenses

2017
255

$

172
66
54
$

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

547

311
164
120
120

$

715

Note 4 - Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consisted of the following (in thousands):
December 31,
2018
Network equipment and software

$

Computer equipment and software
Office furniture and equipment
Leasehold improvements
Accumulated depreciation and amortization

2017
6,858

Estimated Useful Life
7,787

3 to 5 Years

2,354
164
63

3,165
268
87

3 to 4 Years
5 to 10 Years
(*)

9,439
(8,711)

11,307
(10,148)

$
728
Property and equipment, net
(*) – Amortized over the shorter period of the estimated useful life ( five years) or the lease term.

$

$

1,159

Related depreciation and amortization expense was $628,000 and $938,000 for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company recorded asset impairment charges on property and equipment of $138,000 and
$238,000, which pertained primarily to capitalized software no longer used in the business. These charges are recognized as “Impairment Charges” on our
Consolidated Statements of Operations.
Note 5 - Goodwill
Goodwill is not amortized but is subject to periodic testing for impairment in accordance with ASC Topic 350 “ Intangibles - Goodwill and Other - Testing
Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets for Impairment” (“ASC Topic 350”). We test goodwill for impairment on an annual basis on September 30 of each year or more
frequently if events occur or circumstances change indicating that the fair value of the goodwill may be below its carrying amount. In addition, as of each
March 31, 2018, June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2018, the Company considered the declines in our revenue and stock price to be triggering events for interim
goodwill impairment tests. The Company operates as a single reporting unit and used its market capitalization to determine the fair value of the reporting unit as
of each test date. In order to determine the market capitalization, the Company used the trailing 20-day volume weighted average price (“VWAP”) of its stock as
of each period end.
As of each December 31, 2018 and 2017, the carrying amount of our reporting unit exceeded its fair value; therefore, the Company recorded goodwill
impairment charges of $4,955,000 and $1,475,000 in the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017. These charges are recognized as “Impairment Charges”
on our Consolidated Statements of Operations. The remaining goodwill balance as of December 31, 2018 was $2,795,000. The continued future decline of our
revenue, cash flows and/or stock price may give rise to a triggering event that may require the Company to record additional impairment charges on goodwill in
the future.
Note 6 - Intangible Assets
Intangible assets consisted of the following (in thousands):
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December 31,
2018
Customer relationships
Affiliate network
Trademarks

$

$

5,877
(5,378)

Accumulated amortization
Intangible assets, net

2017
4,335
994
548

$

499

Estimated Useful Life

4,335
994
548

5 Years
12 Years
8 Years

5,877
(5,251)
$

626

The Company assesses the impairment of purchased intangible assets subject to amortization when events and circumstances indicate that the carrying
value of the assets might not be recoverable. Fair value of our intangible assets is determined using the relief from royalty methodology. This approach involves
two steps: (a) estimating reasonable royalty rates for each intangible asset and (b) applying these royalty rates to a net revenue stream and discounting the
resulting cash flows to determine fair value. This fair value is then compared with the carrying value of each intangible asset. If the carrying value of the
intangible asset is greater than its implied fair value, an impairment in the amount of the excess is recognized and charged to operations. The determination of
related estimated useful lives and whether or not these assets are impaired involves significant judgments, related primarily to the future profitability and/or future
value of the assets. Changes in the Company’s strategic plan and/or other-than-temporary changes in market conditions could significantly impact these
judgments and could require adjustments to recorded asset balances. Long-lived assets are evaluated for impairment at least annually, as well as whenever an
event or change in circumstances has occurred that could have a significant adverse effect on the fair value of long-lived assets. The Company performed
evaluations of intangible assets as of each quarter end during 2018 and determined that the fair value of the long-lived assets exceeded the carrying value,
therefore no impairment charges were required for the year ended December 31, 2018.
Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized using the straight-line method over the estimated economic lives of the assets, which range from five years to
twelve years in accordance with ASC Topic 350. Accumulated amortization as of December 31, 2018 consisted of $4,335,000 for customer relationships,
$597,000 for affiliate network and $444,000 for trademarks. Related amortization expense was $127,000 and $683,000 for the years ended December 31, 2018
and 2017, respectively. Amortization expense for each of the next five succeeding years will be as follows (in thousands):
2019
2020
2021
2022

$

2023
Thereafter

127
113
69
69
69
52

$

Total
Note 7 - Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities
Accrued expenses and other liabilities consisted of the following (in thousands):
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499

December 31,
2018
Accrued professional fees
Accrued compensation costs
Accrued sales taxes and regulatory fees

$

Other accrued expenses
Accrued dividends on Series A-2 Preferred Stock
Accrued communication costs
Deferred revenue
Deferred rent expense
Super G Warrant liability
Accrued interest expense
$

Accrued expenses and other liabilities

2017
246
189
168

$

35
129
259

131
71
49
43
13

80
59
78
393
46

—
—

165
18

910

$

1,262

Included in accrued sales taxes and regulatory fees are certain estimated sales and use taxes and regulatory fees and sales taxes and regulatory fees
collected from customers that are to be remitted to taxing authorities. Actual payments may vary from our estimates.
Note 8 - Debt
Debt consisted of the following (in thousands):
December 31,
2018

2017

Western Alliance Bank A/R Revolver
Super G Loan
Unamortized debt discounts

—
—
—

800
1,032
(269)

Net carrying value
Less: current maturities, net of debt discount

—
—

1,563
(1,194)

$

Long-term obligations, net of debt discount

—

$

369

On July 31, 2017, the Company completed a recapitalization of its debt obligations as described further below (the “Debt Recapitalization”). In summary, the
Debt Recapitalization resulted in: (i) the aggregate elimination of $11,562,000 of total debt and accrued interest obligations owed by the Company to Main Street
Capital Corporation (“Main Street”) and Shareholder Representative Services LLC (“SRS”) and outstanding as of July 31, 2017, (ii) aggregate gross proceeds of
$2,200,000 from new debt obligations of the Company with Western Alliance Bank and Super G Capital LLC (“Super G”) as of July 31, 2017, which proceeds
were used to fund the Main Street Payoff (defined below), (iii) use of $350,000 of the Company’s cash and (iv) the reduction of outstanding shares of the
Company’s common stock by a net amount of 404,587 shares. Therefore, as of July 31, 2017, there were no remaining obligations related to the Main Street
Term Loan or SRS Note (each as defined below). The Company recorded a gain on debt extinguishment of $9,045,000 (which was net of the write off of
$89,000 of unamortized debt discounts) during the year ended December 31, 2017 in connection with the Debt Recapitalization. The Company recorded the net
404,587 shares of common stock purchased to treasury stock in the net amount of $121,376 (equal to the stock price of $0.30 per share as of July 31, 2017).
Main Street Payoff Letter and Redemption Agreement
As of July 31, 2017, the Company had outstanding borrowings of $9,000,000 under a senior secured term loan facility (the “Main Street Term Loan”) with
Main Street. Borrowings under the Main Street Term Loan were to mature on October 17, 2018 unless sooner terminated as provided in the loan agreement
governing the Main Street Term Loan (the “Main Street Loan Agreement”). As of June 30, 2017, the Company was in default of certain covenants in the Main
Street Loan Agreement. The interest rate on borrowings under the Main Street Term Loan was 12% per annum and interest payments were due monthly. As of
July 31, 2017, Main Street owned 7,711,517 shares, or 21%, of the Company’s outstanding common stock. On July 31, 2017, the Company and Main Street
entered into (i) a payoff letter (the “Main Street Payoff Letter”) that terminated the $9,000,000 Main Street Term Loan and (ii) a Redemption Agreement (“the
Main Street Redemption Agreement”) whereby the Company purchased
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the 7,711,517 shares of the Company’s common stock held by Main Street, in exchange for total cash payments from the Company of $2,550,000 (together the
“Main Street Payoff”). On July 31, 2017, the Company funded the Main Street Payoff using $350,000 of the Company’s existing cash plus cash proceeds of
$2,200,000 borrowed under loan agreements with Western Alliance Bank and Super G. The Company recorded the purchase of 7,711,517 shares of the
Company’s common stock to treasury stock in the amount of $2,313,000 (equal to the stock price of $0.30 per share as of July 31, 2017) and recorded the
$237,000 remaining amount of the Main Street Payoff as a principal repayment.
SRS Note Exchange Agreement
As of July 31, 2017, the Company had outstanding total obligations of $2,562,000 (consisting of $1,785,000 of principal and $777,000 of accrued interest)
under a promissory note (the “SRS Note”) that the Company issued to SRS in connection with the 2012 acquisition of Affinity VideoNet, Inc. (“Affinity”), which
was amended in February 2015. The maturity date of the SRS Note was July 6, 2017 and the interest rate on the SRS Note was 15% per annum. Payment of all
interest earned after March 1, 2015 was also due on July 6, 2017. In June 2017, SRS granted the Company a waiver of the final installment for 60 days. The
SRS Note was subordinate to borrowings under the Main Street Loan Agreement and was only permitted to be repaid if permitted by the terms of the Main
Street Loan Agreement. On July 31, 2017, the Company and SRS entered into a Note Exchange Agreement (the “SRS Note Exchange Agreement’) to
extinguish the $2,562,000 of obligations on the SRS Note in exchange for 7,306,930 shares of the Company’s common stock (the “SRS Note Exchange”). The
Company recorded the issuance of 7,306,930 shares of the Company’s common stock from treasury stock in the amount of $2,192,000 (equal to the stock price
of $0.30 per share as of July 31, 2017).
Western Alliance Bank Business Financing Agreement
On July 31, 2017, the Company and its subsidiary entered into a Business Financing Agreement with Western Alliance Bank, as lender (the “Western
Alliance Bank Loan Agreement”). The Western Alliance Bank Loan Agreement provided the Company with up to a total of $1,500,000 of revolving loans (the
“A/R Revolver”). The maximum amount available under the A/R Revolver is limited to the lesser of (x) $1,500,000 and (y) an amount equal to the borrowing
base. The borrowing base includes 85% of the Company’s eligible accounts receivable plus a non-formula amount (which was $400,000 at December 31, 2017,
and which stepped down to $200,000 on January 1, 2018, and to $0 on April 1, 2018) (“the Non-Formula Amount”). The Western Alliance Bank Loan Agreement
provides that all borrowings bear interest at the prime rate (4.75% as of March 31, 2018) plus 2.25% (or a total of 7.00% as of March 31, 2018) per year. The
prime rate is subject to a floor of 4.00%. Interest payments on the outstanding borrowings were due monthly. On July 31, 2017 the Company received a loan in
an amount equal to $1,100,000 under the Western Alliance Bank Loan Agreement, consisting of $500,000 based on 85% of eligible accounts receivable and
$600,000 of Non-Formula Amount. During the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company made total principal payments of $800,000 and
$300,000, respectively, on the A/R Revolver. On May 8, 2018, the Company terminated the Western Alliance Bank Loan Agreement. The remaining principal
balance as of December 31, 2018 was $0.
Super G Loan Agreement and Warrant
On July 31, 2017, the Company and its subsidiary entered into a Business Loan and Security Agreement with Super G Capital, LLC (“Super G”), as lender
(the “Super G Loan Agreement”) and received a term loan from Super G in an amount equal to $1,100,000 (the “Super G Loan”). Borrowings under the Super G
Loan Agreement were to be repaid in installments (including interest) of $33,000 per month in the first 3 months following closing and approximately $68,600 per
month in months four through twenty-four following closing, for total payments of $1,540,000. The effective interest rate of the Super G Loan was approximately
33%.
On July 31, 2017, the Company also issued a warrant that entitled Super G to purchase 550,000 shares of the Company’s Common Stock, at an exercise
price of $0.30 per share (the “Super G Warrant”). The Super G Warrant had a three-year term and if the profit on such warrants was not equal to at least
$165,000 over the term of the warrants, at the end of the three-year term, the Company was required to pay an exit fee equal to the difference between
$165,000 and the amount of profit recognized. During the year ended December 31, 2018, no warrants were exercised. The $165,000 fair value of this warrant
was recorded as a derivative liability in “Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities” on our Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2017 and as a discount
to the carrying amount of the debt on issuance.
During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company made total principal and interest payments of $68,000 and $134,000, respectively, on the Super G
Loan. On January 26, 2018, the Company and Super G entered into a payoff letter that terminated the Super G Loan Agreement and the Super G Warrant in
exchange for total cash payments from the Company of $1,269,000 (the “Super G Payoff”). The total obligations to Super G at the time of the Super G Payoff
was $1,434,000, including principal, accrued and remaining interest due over the term of the Super G Loan, and the Super G Warrant Liability. Therefore, the
Company recorded
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a gain on extinguishment of the debt of $165,000, which is recorded in “Interest and Other Expense, Net” on our Condensed Consolidated Statements of
Operations. In connection with the Super G Payoff, the related warrant liability and corresponding debt discount were eliminated during the year ended
December 31, 2018. As of December 31, 2018, there are no outstanding obligations related to the Super G Loan.
The total debt discount on the Western Alliance Bank A/R Revolver and Super G Loan was $339,000, comprised of $174,000 of debt issuance costs and
$165,000 related to the Super G Warrant. This debt discount was being amortized to interest expense using the effective interest method over the term of the
debt. During the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company amortized $70,000 and $269,000 of the debt discount, respectively, which is
recorded in “Interest and Other Expense, Net” on our Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations. As of December 31, 2018, there is no remaining
unamortized debt discount.
Note 9 - Stock Repurchase Program
On July 21, 2018, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized a stock repurchase program (the “ Stock Repurchase Program”) granting the Company
authority to repurchase up to $750,000 of the Company’s Common Stock. Under the Company’s Stock Repurchase Program, repurchases of Common Stock
may be funded using the Company’s existing cash balance and/or future cash flows through repurchases made in the open market, in privately negotiated
transactions, or pursuant to other means determined by the Company, in each case as permitted by securities laws and other legal requirements. The number of
shares purchased under the Stock Repurchase Program and the timing of any purchases may be based on many factors, including the level of the Company’s
available cash, general business conditions, and the pricing of the Common Stock. The Stock Repurchase Program does not obligate the Company to acquire a
specific number of shares and may be suspended, modified, or terminated at any time. During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company repurchased
422,402 shares of Common Stock at an aggregate cost of $77,000, including commissions and fees. All shares of Common Stock repurchased under the Stock
Repurchase Program are recorded as treasury stock. The Stock Repurchase Program does not have an expiration date. As of December 31, 2018, the
Company had $673,000 remaining under the Stock Repurchase Program.
Note 10 - Preferred Stock
Our Certificate of Incorporation authorizes the issuance of up to 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock. As of December 31, 2018, there were: (i) 100 shares
of Perpetual Series B-1 Preferred Stock authorized and no shares issued or outstanding; (ii) 7,500 shares of Series A-2 Convertible Preferred Stock authorized
and 32 shares issued and outstanding (the “Series A-2 Preferred Stock”); (iii) 2,800 shares of Series B Preferred Stock authorized and 75 shares issued and
outstanding; (iv) 1,750 shares of Series C Preferred Stock authorized and 525 shares issued and outstanding; (v) 4,000 shares of Series D Convertible Preferred
Stock authorized and no shares issued or outstanding; and (vi) 100 shares of Perpetual Series B Preferred Stock authorized and no shares issued or
outstanding.
Each share of Series A-2 Preferred Stock has a stated value of $7,500 per share (the “A-2 Stated Value”), a liquidation preference equal to the Series A-2
Stated Value, and is convertible at the holder’s election into common stock at a conversion price per share of $2.16 as of December 31, 2018. Therefore, each
share of Series A-2 Preferred Stock is convertible into 3,477 shares of common stock as of December 31, 2018. The conversion price is subject to adjustment
upon the occurrence of certain events set forth in our Certificate of Incorporation. During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Series C Offering resulted in
an adjustment to the Series A-2 Preferred Stock conversion price from $2.40 to $2.16, resulting in a beneficial conversion amount of $24,000 which has been
recorded in additional paid-in capital.
The Series A-2 Preferred Stock is subordinate to the Series B-1 Preferred Stock and Series C-1 Preferred Stock but senior to all other classes of equity, has
weighted average anti-dilution protection and, effective January 1, 2013, entitled to cumulative dividends at a rate of 5% per annum, payable quarterly, based on
the Series A-2 Stated Value and payable at the option of the holder in cash or through the issuance of a number of additional shares of Series A-2 Preferred
Stock with an aggregate liquidation preference equal to the dividend amount payable on the applicable dividend payment date. As of December 31, 2018 and
2017, the Company has recorded $71,000 and $59,000, respectively, in accrued dividends on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets related to the
Series A-2 Preferred Stock outstanding. The Company, at its option, may redeem all or a portion of the Series A-2 Preferred Stock in cash at a price per share of
$8,250 (equal to $7,500 per share multiplied by 110%) plus all accrued and unpaid dividends.
Series B Offering
In October 2017 pursuant to the Series B Offering, the Company closed a registered direct offering of 2,800 shares of its Series B Preferred Stock for total
gross proceeds to the Company of $2,800,000. The shares of Series B Preferred Stock were sold at a price equal to their stated value of $1,000 per share and
are convertible into shares of the Company’s common stock at
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a conversion price of $0.28 per share. The net proceeds to us from the sale of our securities in this offering were $2,280,000 after deducting offering expenses
paid by us. During the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, 375 and 2,350 shares of Series B Preferred Stock were converted to 1,339,286 and
8,392,857 shares of the Company’s common stock, respectively. As of December 31, 2018, 75 shares of Series B Preferred Stock remain issued and
outstanding.
Subject to certain exceptions, the Company has agreed to provide the holders of Series B Preferred Stock a right of participation for up to 100% of any
future offering of its common stock or other securities or equity linked debt obligations until October 2019. In addition, the Company agreed to expand the size of
the Company’s board of directors to six members and to appoint a new independent director agreeable to the lead investor in the offering (the “Lead Investor”).
In addition, the Company has agreed that it will not enter into certain “fundamental transactions,” including transactions constituting a change of control of the
Company, certain reorganization transactions or a sale of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets, except as pursuant to written agreements in form and
substance satisfactory to the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of Series B Preferred Stock including the Lead Investor and on terms with respect to
the Series B Preferred Stock as set forth in the Certificate of Designation of Rights, Powers, Preferences, Privileges and Restrictions of the Series B Preferred
Stock.
As of the filing of this Report, there are no shares of Series B Preferred Stock outstanding. See “ Note 19 Subsequent Events” below.
Series C Offering
On January 25, 2018, the Company closed a registered direct offering of 1,750 shares of its Series C Preferred Stock for total gross proceeds to the
Company of $1,750,000. The shares of Series C Preferred Stock were sold at a price equal to their stated value of $1,000 per share and are convertible into
shares of the Company’s common stock at a conversion price of $0.30 per share. The net proceeds to us from the sale of our securities in this offering were
$1,527,000 after deducting offering expenses paid by us (the “Series C Offering”). The Company funded the Super G Payoff with the net proceeds of its Series
C Offering (described further above in Note 8). During the year ended December 31, 2018, 1,225 shares of Series C Preferred Stock were converted to
4,083,333 shares of the Company’s common stock. As of December 31, 2018, 525 shares of Series C Preferred Stock remain issued and outstanding. As of the
filing of this Report, there are 475 shares, or $475,000 of stated value, of Series C Preferred Stock outstanding. See Note 19 for more information.
Subject to certain exceptions, the Company has agreed to provide the purchasers, during the period that the purchasers continue to hold Series C Preferred
Stock, a right of participation for up to 100% of any future offering of its common stock or other securities or equity linked debt obligations until January 2020. In
addition, the Company has agreed that it will not enter into certain “fundamental transactions,” including transactions constituting a change of control of the
Company, certain reorganization transactions or a sale of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets, except as pursuant to written agreements in form and
substance satisfactory to the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of Series C Preferred Stock including the Lead Investor and on terms with respect to
the Series C Preferred Stock as set forth in the Certificate of Designation of Rights, Powers, Preferences, Privileges and Restrictions of the Series C Preferred
Stock.
In accordance with ASC Topic 815, we evaluated whether our convertible preferred stock contains provisions that protect holders from declines in our stock
price or otherwise could result in modification of the exercise price and/or shares to be issued under the respective preferred stock agreements based on a
variable that is not an input to the fair value of a “fixed-for-fixed” option and require a derivative liability. The Company determined no derivative liability is
required under ASC Topic 815 with respect to our convertible preferred stock. A contingent beneficial conversion amount is required to be calculated and
recognized when and if the adjusted $2.16 conversion price of the Series A-2 Preferred Stock is adjusted to reflect a down round stock issuance that reduces the
conversion price below the $1.16 fair value of the common stock on the issuance date of the Series A-2 Preferred Stock.
Note 11 - Stock Based Compensation
Glowpoint 2014 Stock Incentive Plan
On May 28, 2014, the Glowpoint, Inc. 2014 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2014 Plan”) was approved by the Company’s stockholders at the Company’s 2014
Annual Meeting of Stockholders. The purpose of the 2014 Plan is to promote the success of the Company and to increase stockholder value by providing an
additional means to attract, motivate, retain and reward selected employees and other eligible persons through the grant of equity awards. Awards may be
granted under the 2014 Plan to officers, employees, directors and consultants of the Company or its subsidiaries. The 2014 Plan permits the grant of stock
options, stock appreciation rights, restricted shares, restricted stock units, cash awards and other awards, including stock bonuses, performance stock,
performance units, dividend equivalents, or similar rights to purchase or acquire shares, whether at a fixed or variable price or ratio related to the Company’s
common stock, upon the passage of time, the occurrence of one or more
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events, or the satisfaction of performance criteria or other conditions, or any combination thereof, or any similar securities with a value derived from the value of
or related to the Company’s common stock and/or returns thereon. A total of 4,400,000 shares of the Company’s common stock were initially available for
issuance under the 2014 Plan. At the 2018 Annual Meeting of Stockholders held on May 31, 2018, the Company’s stockholders approved an amendment to the
2014 Plan to, among other things, increase the number of shares of common stock available for issuance under the 2014 Plan by 3,000,000 shares (the
"Amendment"). During the year ended December 31, 2018, 4,878,000 awards were granted under the 2014 Plan. As of December 31, 2018, 531,000 shares
were available for issuance under the 2014 Plan. In January 2019, the Company issued 530,000 restricted stock units to employees.
Glowpoint 2007 Stock Incentive Plan
In May 2014, the Board terminated the Company’s 2007 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2007 Plan”). Notwithstanding the termination of the 2007 Plan,
outstanding awards under the 2007 Plan will remain in effect accordance with their terms. As of December 31, 2018, options to purchase a total of 1,180,000
shares of common stock and 113,000 shares of restricted stock were outstanding under the 2007 Plan.
Stock Options
For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, no stock options were granted; therefore, no fair value assumptions are presented herein for the years
ended December 31, 2018 and 2017. A summary of stock options expired and forfeited under our plans and options outstanding as of, and changes made
during, the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 is presented below (options in thousands):
Outstanding
Number of
Options
Options outstanding, December 31, 2016
Expired

1,222
(11)

Forfeited

Exercisable

Weighted Average
Exercise Price
$

Number of
Options

1.99
2.42

1,222

(9)

1.87

Options outstanding, December 31, 2017
Expired
Forfeited

1,202
(10)
(12)

1.99
2.21
1.68

1,202

Options outstanding and exercisable, December 31, 2018

1,180

1.99

1,180

$

Weighted Average
Exercise Price
$

1.99

1.99

$

1.99

Additional information as of December 31, 2018 is as follows (options in thousands):
Outstanding and Exercisable
Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Life (In Years)

Number
of Options

Range of price

$0.90 – $1.44

51

$1.45 – $1.96
$1.97 – $2.04
$2.05 – $2.60
$2.61 – $3.02

103
876
50
100
1,180

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price
4.35 $

0.91

4.12
4.04
3.42
3.20

1.52
1.98
2.18
3.02

3.96 $

1.99

Stock-based compensation expense relating to stock option awards was $0 and $18,000 for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively and
was recorded in general and administrative expenses.
The intrinsic value of vested options, unvested options and exercised options were not significant for all periods presented. There was no remaining
unrecognized stock-based compensation expense for options at December 31, 2018 as all options were vested.
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Restricted Stock Awards
A summary of restricted stock granted, vested and unvested outstanding as of, and changes made during, the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, is
presented below (shares in thousands):
Weighted Average
Grant Price

Restricted Shares
Unvested restricted stock outstanding, December 31, 2016
Vested
Forfeited

363
(9)
(13)

Unvested restricted stock outstanding, December 31, 2017
Vested

341
(228)

Unvested restricted stock outstanding, December 31, 2018

113

$

1.58
1.47
1.47
1.06
0.84

$

1.49

The number of restricted stock awards vested during the year ended December 31, 2018 includes 78,000 shares withheld and repurchased by the Company
on behalf of employees to satisfy $20,000 of tax obligations relating to the vesting of such shares. Such shares are held in the Company’s treasury stock as of
December 31, 2018.
Stock-based compensation expense relating to restricted stock awards is allocated as follows (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2018
Cost of revenue

2017

$

—
15
—

$

6
5
47

$

15

$

58

Research and development
General and administrative

Certain restricted stock awards have performance-based vesting provisions and are subject to forfeiture, in whole or in part, if these performance conditions
are not achieved. Management assesses, on an ongoing basis, the probability of whether the performance criteria will be achieved and, once it is deemed
probable, stock-based compensation expense is recognized over the relevant performance period. For those awards not subject to performance criteria, the cost
of the restricted stock awards is expensed, which is determined to be the fair market value of the shares at the date of grant, on a straight-line basis over the
vesting period.
The remaining unrecognized stock-based compensation expense for restricted stock awards at December 31, 2018 was $140,000. Of this amount, $3,000
relates to time-based awards with a remaining weighted average period of 6 months. The remaining $137,000 of unrecognized stock-based compensation
expense relates to performance-based awards for which expense will be recognized when it becomes probable that the Company will achieve such defined
financial targets.
Restricted Stock Units
A summary of restricted stock units (“RSUs”) granted, vested, forfeited and unvested outstanding as of, and changes made during, the years ended
December 31, 2018 and 2017, is presented below (shares in thousands):
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Restricted Stock
Units
Unvested restricted stock units outstanding, December 31, 2016
Vested

Weighted Average
Grant Price

3,196
(725)

Forfeited

$

0.62
0.42

(719)

Unvested restricted stock units outstanding, December 31, 2017
Granted
Vested
Forfeited

0.94

1,752

0.57

4,878
(554)
(1,041)

0.17
0.75
0.43

5,035

Unvested restricted stock units outstanding, December 31, 2018

$

0.19

As of December 31, 2018, 988,000 vested RSUs remain outstanding as shares of common stock have not yet been delivered for these units in accordance
with the terms of the RSUs. As of December 31, 2018, there were 4,443,000 unvested RSUs that have performance-based vesting provisions and are subject to
forfeiture, in whole or in part, if these performance conditions are not achieved. Management assesses, on an ongoing basis, the probability of whether the
performance criteria will be achieved and, once it is deemed probable, stock-based compensation expense is recognized over the relevant performance period.
As of December 31, 2018, there were 592,000 unvested RSUs that have timed-based vesting provisions, and the cost of the RSUs is expensed, which is
determined to be the fair market value of the shares at the date of grant, on a straight-line basis over the vesting period.
The number of restricted stock awards vested during the year ended December 31, 2018 includes 174,000 shares withheld and repurchased by the
Company on behalf of employees to satisfy $47,000 of tax obligations relating to the vesting of such shares. Such shares are held in the Company’s treasury
stock as of December 31, 2018.
Stock-based compensation expense relating to restricted stock units is allocated as follows (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2018
Cost of revenue

2017

$

43
50
7
250

$

38
54
9
281

$

350

$

382

Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative

The remaining unrecognized stock-based compensation expense for restricted stock units at December 31, 2018 was $624,000. Of this amount, $44,000
relates to time-based awards with a remaining weighted average period of 8 months. The remaining $580,000 of unrecognized stock-based compensation
expense relates to performance-based awards for which expense will only be recognized when it becomes probable that the Company will achieve such defined
financial targets or a change of control occurs.
There was no tax benefit recognized for stock-based compensation expense for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017. No compensation costs
were capitalized as part of the cost of an asset during the periods presented.
Note 12 - Net Income (Loss) Per Share
Basic net income (loss) per share is computed by dividing net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders by the weighted-average number of shares
of common stock outstanding during the period. The weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding does not include any potentially dilutive
securities or any unvested restricted shares of common stock. These unvested restricted shares, although classified as issued and outstanding at December 31,
2018 and 2017, are considered contingently returnable until the restrictions lapse and will not be included in the basic net income (loss) per share calculation
until the shares are vested. Unvested shares of our restricted stock do not contain non-forfeitable rights to dividends and dividend equivalents. Vested RSUs (for
which shares of common stock have not yet been delivered) are included in the calculations of basic net income (loss) per share. Unvested RSUs are not
included in calculations of basic net income (loss) per share, as they are not considered issued and outstanding at time of grant.
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Diluted net income (loss) per share is computed by giving effect to all potential shares of common stock, including stock options, preferred stock, RSUs, and
unvested restricted stock awards, to the extent they are dilutive. For the year ended December 31, 2018, all such common stock equivalents have been
excluded from diluted net loss per share as the effect to net loss per share would be anti-dilutive (due to the net loss per share).
The following table sets forth the computation of the Company’s basic and diluted net income (loss) per share (in thousands, except per share data):
Year Ended
December 31,
Numerator:

2018

2017

Net income (loss)
Less: preferred stock dividends

$

(7,168)
12

$

5,785
70

Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders

$

(7,180)

$

5,715

Denominator:
Weighted-average number of shares of common stock for basic net income (loss) per share
Add effect of dilutive securities:

47,950

37,603

—
—
—
—

1,752
341
1,706
38

Unvested RSUs
Unvested restricted stock
Shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of preferred stock
Warrants
Weighted-average number of shares of common stock for diluted net income (loss) per share

47,950

41,440

Basic net income (loss) per share

$

(0.15)

$

0.15

Diluted net income (loss) per share

$

(0.15)

$

0.14

The weighted-average number of shares for the periods presented includes 988,000 shares of vested RSUs, respectively, as discussed in Note 11.
The following table represents the potential shares that were excluded from the computation of weighted-average number of shares of common stock in
computing the diluted net income (loss) per share for the periods presented because including them would have had an anti-dilutive effect (in thousands):
Year Ended
December 31,
2018

2017

Unvested restricted stock units

5,035

—

Outstanding stock options
Unvested restricted stock awards
Shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of Series A-2 preferred stock
Shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of Series B preferred stock
Shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of Series C preferred stock

1,180
113
110
268
1,750

1,202
—
—
—
—

—

512

Warrants
Note 13 - Commitments and Contingencies
Operating Leases

We lease two facilities in Denver, CO and Oxnard, CA that are under operating leases through December 31, 2019 and April 30, 2020, respectively. The
lease for office space in Oxnard, CA requires us to pay increases in real estate taxes, operating costs and repairs over certain base year amounts. Lease
payments for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 were $297,000 and $279,000, respectively.
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Future minimum rental commitments under all non-cancelable operating leases are as follows (in thousands):
Year Ending December 31,
2019
2020

$

169
30

$

199

Note 14 - Major Customers
Major customers are defined as direct customers or channel partners that account for more than 10% of the Company’s revenues. For the year ended
December 31, 2018, two major customers accounted for 25% and 21%, respectively, of our total revenue, and accounted for 54% and 1%, respectively, of our
outstanding accounts receivable as of December 31, 2018. For the year ended December 31, 2017, two major customers accounted for 23% and 16%,
respectively, of our total revenue. The loss of or a reduction in sales or anticipated sales to our most significant or several of our smaller customers could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Note 15 - Revenue
For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, there was no material revenue attributable to any individual foreign country. Approximately 1% of foreign
revenue is billed in foreign currency and foreign currency gains and losses are not material. Revenue by geographic area is allocated as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2018
Domestic
Foreign

2017

$

8,423
4,134

$

10,393
4,406

$

12,557

$

14,799

Disaggregated information for the Company’s revenue has been recognized in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and is presented
below according to contract type (dollars in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2018

2017

% of Revenue

% of Revenue

Revenue
Video collaboration services
Network services
Professional and other services
Total revenue

$

7,589
4,351
617

60%
35%
5%

$

8,958
5,562
279

60%
38%
2%

$

12,557

100%

$

14,799

100%

Long-lived assets were 100% located in domestic markets during both years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017.
Note 16 - Income Taxes
The following table sets forth income before taxes and the income tax (benefit) expense (in thousands):

-F-21-

Year Ended December 31,
2018
Current:
Federal
State

$

2017
—
13

$

—
—

13

—

Deferred:
Federal

—

(212)

State

—

(18)

—
$

Income tax expense (benefit)

(230)

13

$

(230)

Our effective tax rate differs from the statutory federal tax rate as shown in the following table (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2018
U.S. federal income taxes at the statutory rate
State taxes, net of federal effects
Other permanent differences
Equity-based compensation
Transaction costs

$

2017
(1,503)
(69)
38
84
93

Goodwill impairment
Rate change
Change in valuation allowance

$

1,945
146
(244)
—
—

840
550
(20)
$

Income tax expense (benefit)

—
1,725
(3,802)

13

$

(230)

The tax effect of the temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferred tax assets and liabilities is presented below (in thousands):
December 31,
2018
Deferred tax assets:
Tax benefit of operating loss carry forward

$

2017
8,088

$

7,942

Reserves and allowances
Accrued expenses
Charitable contributions
Stock-based compensation
Fixed assets

2
57
8
701
(37)

1
73
134
802
—

Goodwill

292
50

144
61

Intangible amortization
Texas margin tax temporary credit
Total deferred tax assets
Valuation allowance

209

233

9,370

9,390

(9,370)
$

Net deferred tax assets

—

(9,390)
$

—

The ending balances of the deferred tax asset have been fully reserved, reflecting the uncertainties as to realizability evidenced by the Company’s historical
results. The change in valuation allowance for the year ended December 31, 2018 is a decrease of $20,000.
We and our subsidiary file federal and state tax returns on a consolidated basis. During 2013, we determined that an “ownership change” had occurred in
2013 (as defined under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended) which places an annual limitation on the utilization of the net operating
loss (“NOL”) carryforwards accumulated before the ownership change.
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As a result of this annual limitation and the limited carryforward life of the accumulated NOLs, we determined that the ownership change resulted in the
permanent loss of $1,900,000 of tax benefit associated with the NOL carryforwards. If additional ownership changes occur in the future, the use of the NOL
carryforwards could be subject to further limitation. At December 31, 2018, we had federal NOL carryforwards of $34,788,000 available to offset future federal
taxable income which expire in various amounts beginning in 2019. Federal NOLs generated beginning in 2018 do not expire. The Company also has various
state NOL carryforwards. The determination of the state NOL carryforwards is dependent upon apportionment percentages and state laws that can change from
year to year and impact the amount of such carryforwards.
A formal Section 382 study is expected to be completed following the closing of the proposed Merger, however, the Merger of Glowpoint and SharedLabs is
likely to result in another ownership change which is expected to result in a significant annual limitation of Glowpoint’s NOL carryforwards, thereby reducing the
ability to utilize such NOL carryforwards.
There were no significant matters determined to be unrecognized tax benefits taken or expected to be taken in a tax return, in accordance with ASC Topic
740 “Income Taxes” (“ASC 740”), which clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in the financial statements, that have been recorded
on the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017. The Company does not anticipate a material change to
unrecognized tax benefits in the next twelve months.
Additionally, ASC 740 provides guidance on the recognition of interest and penalties related to income taxes. There were no interest or penalties related to
income taxes that have been accrued or recognized as of and for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017.
The federal and state tax returns for the years ending December 31, 2015 and thereafter are currently open and subject to examination.
Note 17 - 401(k) Plan
We have adopted a retirement plan under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. The 401(k) plan covers substantially all employees who meet
minimum age and service requirements. Company contributions to the 401(k) plan for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 were $81,000 and
$69,000, respectively.
Note 18 - Related Party Transactions
Our President, Chief Executive Officer, and Director, Peter Holst, held a 27.3% interest in the SRS Note (or $699,528 as of July 31, 2017 including accrued
interest) and received 1,806,087 shares of the Company’s common stock in connection with the SRS Note Exchange (representing an effective exchange price
into common stock of $0.387 per share). See Note 8 for further discussion on the SRS Note Exchange. The SRS Note Exchange was negotiated and approved
on behalf of the Company by a special committee of the board of directors consisting exclusively of independent, disinterested directors. As of July 31, 2017,
there were no remaining obligations related to the SRS Note.
As of July 31, 2017, Main Street owned 7,711,517 shares, or 21%, of the Company’s outstanding common stock. Main Street was the Company’s senior
debt lender. On July 31, 2017, the Company purchased the 7,711,517 shares of common stock from Main Street and Main Street is no longer considered to be a
related party. See Note 8 for a discussion of the Debt Recapitalization.
Note 19 - Subsequent Events
Conversions of Series B Preferred Stock and Series C Preferred Stock
During February 2019, 75 shares of Series B Preferred Stock were converted to 267,857 shares of the Company’s common stock and 50 shares of Series C
Preferred Stock were converted to 166,667 shares of the Company’s common stock. As of the filing of this Report, no shares of Series B Preferred Stock remain
issued and outstanding and 475 shares, or $475,000 of stated value, of Series C Preferred Stock remain issued and outstanding.
Reverse Stock Split
As of the filing of this Report, the Company’s board of directors has approved, and the holders of a majority of the Company’s issued and outstanding shares
of common stock have approved by written consent (the “Written Consent”), an amendment to the Company’s Amended & Restated Certificate of Incorporation
to implement a reverse stock split of the Company’s issued and outstanding shares of common stock at a ratio of one-for-ten (the “Stock Split”) as soon as
practicable following the delivery of an Information Statement pursuant to Rule 14c-2 of the Exchange Act to the Company’s stockholders. The intended purpose
of the Stock Split is to increase the per share trading value of the Company’s common stock, and, by doing so, regain compliance with the continued listing
standards of the NYSE American.
The Written Consent is the only stockholder approval required to effect the Stock Split, and no consent or proxies will be requested from the Company’s
stockholders in connection therewith. The Stock Split will only become effective if and when the Company's board of directors determines to effect it, but, in any
event, not sooner than 20 calendar days after an Information Statement is first mailed or otherwise delivered to the Company's stockholders. The Company is
currently preparing an Information Statement for delivery to its stockholders and expects to do so in the near future. The Company's board of directors reserves
its right to elect to abandon the Stock Split if it determines, in its sole discretion, that the Stock Split is no longer in the best interest of the Company and its
stockholders. There can be no assurance that the Company will implement the Stock Split, that the Stock Split will be successful in increasing the trading value
of the Company's common stock or that the NYSE American will deem the Company to be in compliance with its continued listing standards following the
completion of the Stock Split. The Information Statement to be delivered to the Company's stockholders in connection with the Written Consent and the Stock
Split will contain important information regarding the Stock Split, and you are urged to read it carefully and in its entirety.
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Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements of Glowpoint, Inc. and Subsidiaries on Form S-3 (No. 333-192129) and Form S-8
(Nos. 333-226719, 333-150436 and 333-196474) of our report dated March 8, 2019, on our audits of the consolidated financial statements as of December 31,
2018 and 2017 and for each of the years then ended, which report is included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K to be filed on or about March 8, 2019.
/s/ EisnerAmper LLP
Iselin, New Jersey
March 8, 2019

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
I, Peter Holst, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Glowpoint, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for
the registrant and have:

5.

(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control
over financial reporting.

Date: March 8, 2019
/s/ Peter Holst
Peter Holst
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
I, David Clark, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Glowpoint, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for
the registrant and have:

5.

(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control
over financial reporting.

Date: March 8, 2019
/s/ David Clark
David Clark
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
The undersigned officers of Glowpoint, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "Company"), do hereby certify, in accordance with 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
1)
The accompanying Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2018 (the "Report") fully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
2)
The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.
Date: March 8, 2019
/s/ Peter Holst
Peter Holst
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ David Clark
David Clark
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

